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PROCEEDI NGS

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Good nor ni ng,
We're glad you're all here safely today.
the matter
| ncrease Distribution Rates and Changes [ sics]
Tariff Modifications. Just note for
here on what we would characterize as Phase |

rate case.

everyone.
We're here in

of the Application of Enbridge Gas Utah to

and Make

the record we're

of the --

of this general

The parties reached a

stipulation on revenue requirenent sone tinme ago,

whi ch

we'll -- which we've indicated that we were going to

accept and will be a part of our order, which, as |

understand by cal cul ating the 240 days, needs to be

i ssued by Decenber 27th, 2025. Does that seemin accord

wi th everybody's recollection? OCkay. Good.

So we -- we appreciate the thorough

preparation. W've had a chance to go through the

testinmony and the positions of the parties, and we'l

t ake appearances for -- of counsel for the record, and

if you could, if you wouldn't mnd, tell us the order in

whi ch your witnesses are going to be presented, if
t hat' s okay.
So, first of all, let's turn to the petitioner

here, to Enbridge Gas, and ask you to state your

appear ances.
MS. M TCHELL

Good norni ng, Comm ssioners.
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Anne Mtchell with the law firm Witt Sturtevant LLP on
behal f of Enbridge Gas Ut ah along with co-counsel Ronit
Barrett fromWhitt Sturtevant and Jenniffer Clark Nel son
fromthe Conpany. And -- and our wtnesses that we'l
call in this order today are Austin Sumers, Kelly
Mendenhal | , Jordan Stephenson, David Landward, and
Jordan Parks.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. All right. 1 have
that. Ms. Barrett, spell your first name for me, would
you, please.

MS. BARRETT: R-o-n-i-t.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  All right. And pronounce
it one nore tine.

MS. BARRETT: Ronit.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ronit. Okay. That wll
hel p. Thank you. Thank you very nuch. [It's nice to
see all of you.

Al right. W'IIl turn to the Division of
Public Utilities.

M5. SCHM D: Good norning. Patricia E. Schm d
with the Utah Attorney General's Ofice and Patrick

Grecu for the Division of Public Uilities. W have

five witnesses today. Patrick will be presenting two of

them and | will be presenting three. Patrick will be

presenting Eric Orton and Annette Orton, and | will be
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presenting Ryan Daigle, David Fields, and Matthew
Pernichele. Qur witness --

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  And so that will be in
that order, | assunme. You'll do your two first and then
your three; is that correct?

MS. SCHM D:.  Yes.

PRESI DI NG OFFICER: M. Grecu's witnesses is
first?

MS. SCHM D:  Yes.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  And then Ms. Schm d?

MS. SCHM D:  Yes.

PRESI DI NG OFFICER: | think | interrupted you.
You were going to say one nore thing?

MS. SCHM D. That was what | was going to say.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Well, | apol ogize
for interrupting. |'Il try to wait for you to finish
your sentence before | speak next tinme.

Ckay. Good norning. Let's go to the Ofice
of Consuner Services.

MR. SNARR: Yes, good norning. M nane is
Steven Snarr representing the O fice of Consuner
Services. Robert More will be here and assisting nme as
well. We have one wi tness, Janes Daniel.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Janes Dani el .

Ckay.
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Let's go to UAE next.

MR. RUSSELL: Yes. Good nmorning. Phillip
Russel | representing the U ah Associ ation of Energy
Users. We have one witness in this phase of
proceedi ngs, and that is Courtney Higgins.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. And are you okay if
we go to you for your witness after the OCS? |'m going
to -- that's the order I'mplanning on. 1Is that --

MR. RUSSELL: Yes. That's what | would
expect. Yes.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Yes. That's great. Yes.

MR. RUSSELL: Yes.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Past practice kind of
seens to be that way. Okay. All right.

And then let's go to Nucor Steel.

MR. COOK: Jereny Cook on behalf of Nucor
Steel-Utah. | also have co-counsel Laura Baker and
Danon Xenopoul os online, and we have one w tness today,

Lance Kauf man.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Thank you,
M . Cook.

And we previously issued an order that

think for both your wi tness, M. Kaufman, and then for

t he Federal Executive Agencies that they could --

t hey should be online.

and

Page 10

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N oo o A~ W N P

N NN N NN P P P PR PP PR
ag A W N P O © 00O N OO O~ W N B+, O

Phase Il Hearing - November 18, 2025

MR. COOK: Yeah.

PRESI DI NG OFFICER:  So we'll come to themin
j ust a second.

Al right. Let's go to next for the Anmerican
Nati onal -- Natural Gas Council.

MR. DAVI DSON: Morning, M. Chairnman,
Comm ssioners. Mark Davidson of the law firm Fairfield
and Wbods appearing on behalf of the American Natural
Gas Council. We have one witness, M. Bruce Oiver.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Thank you, M. Davi dson.

Okay. And then the Federal Executive
Agenci es.

MAJOR NEWION: Good norning, sir. Mjor
Leslie Newton representi ng Federal Executive Agencies
comng to you out of Tyndall Air Force Base, Panama
City, Florida, and we have one wi tness, Matthew Smth,
who i s appearing online.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Thank you.

MAJOR NEWION: Thank you, sir.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Okay. So our plan is --
is we wll proceed in the order that we just went

through with parties presenting their wtnesses. W

expect you'll present all of the issues and then tender

your wi tness for cross-exam nation, and we'll work

ourselves through this. [I'mnot optimstic this is a
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one-day hearing. | -- 1 think -- | could be pleasantly
surprised if it is, but just seens with the nunber of
w t nesses and the nunber of issues, it's likely to go
two days. But we'll just -- we'll just see how it goes.

Ckay. Let's turn, first of all, to
Ms. Mtchell and let you call your first wtness.

M5. M TCHELL: Thank you, Chairman. The
Company cal ls Austin Sunmers.

PRESI DI NG OFFICER: M. Summers, it's good to
see you. Welcone. Come on up. WII you raise your
right armto the square.

AUSTI N SUMVERS
was called as a witness, and having been first duly
sworn to tell the truth, testified as foll ows:

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Go ahead, Ms. M tchell.

MS. M TCHELL: Thank you.

DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY Ms. M TCHELL:

Q. M. Sumrers, will you please state your ful
name and busi ness address for the record.

A Yes. M nane is Austin Sumrers, and ny
busi ness address is 333 South State Street, Salt Lake
City, Utabh.

Q. And what position do you hold with the

Conpany?

Page 12

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N NN N NN R R R R R R R R R
O »h W N P O © O N O O M~ W N Rk O

Phase Il Hearing - November 18, 2025

A. I'"'mthe director of regulatory and pr

Q. Did you file testinony in this matter

i ci ng.

mar ked

as EGU Exhibit 5.0 with acconpanyi ng Exhibits 5.01

t hrough 5. 14U, rebuttal testinony marked as EGU

Exhibit 5.0R with acconpanying Exhibit 5.15R, and

surrebuttal testinmony marked as EGU Exhibit 5. 0SR with

acconpanyi ng Exhibit 5. 16SR?

A Yes.

Q. Do you have any corrections to nmake today to
any of that testinmony?

A. | do have one m nor correction on nmy direct
testinony, and it is on line 263. |1'll give people just
a nonent if they want to get there and | ook at that.

| " m changi ng one word.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Just a second. We're not

ready yet. We want to give the court reporter

Okay. Go ahead.

a noment.

A. On line 263, it reads, "Yes, the Conpany has

issued an RFP to sell a portion of its Utah NGV

stations.” | want to change the word "issued"

to

"considered." So that sentence should read, "The

Conmpany has considered an RFP to sell a portion of its

Utah NGV stations."
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: And you made t hat

subsequent -- in your rebuttal and surrebuttal

clear in
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testinony. | think that's in there, either yours or
M . Mendenhal | 's testinony.

THE WTNESS: | believe it's -- it's probably
nore clear in M. Stephenson's testinony.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Oh, that's probably right.
Ckay.

THE W TNESS: But yes, it is -- it is in
t here.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. All right. Okay.
Wth that correction.

Q (BY M. MTCHELL) M. Summers, did you have
any further corrections?

A No.

Q And including that correction, do you adopt
the contents of the docunments that you referenced as
your testinony today?

A Yes.

MS. M TCHELL: The Conpany noves for adm ssion
of the direct, rebuttal, and surrebuttal testinony of
M. Sumrers al ong with acconpanyi ng exhibits.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. |Is there any -- are
t here any objections?

Okay. The testinony direct, rebuttal,
surrebuttal and acconpanying exhibits are admtted into

evi dence. Thank you.
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(Austin Summers' prefiled testinony and
exhibits were admtted into evidence.)

MS. M TCHELL: Thank you.

Q. (BY MS. MTCHELL) M. Sumrers, will you
pl ease provide us with a road map of what the Conpany's
witnesses will testify to today?

A Yes. | -- first of all, I wll be sunmmari zing
the cost of service and rate design issues that were
addressed in nmy direct testinony and that | defended in
my rebuttal testinmony and surrebuttal testinony.

Kelly Mendenhall w Il be summari zing
conservation enabling tariff and the transportation
i mbal ance charge. All the other issues from
M. Mendenhall's testinony were Phase | issues and were
included in the Phase | settlenent.

Jordan Stephenson will be summari zing the
proposed subsidy in the NGV class. The initial proposal
for that subsidy was included in my direct testinony,
but M. Stephenson filed rebuttal testinmony on this
matter. M. Stephenson also filed direct testinony that
| argely addressed Phase | issues and were included in
t he Phase | settlenent.

David Landward will then sunmarize the purpose
of heating degree days, weather normalization, and the

Conpany's proposal to change the | ength of the nornal
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heati ng degree day base period.

Jordan Parks will then sunmarize the tariff
changes that he proposed in his direct testinony.

Q. Thank you, M. Sumrers. WII you please
summari ze your testinony at this tine.

A. Yes. And I'mgoing to begin first with cost
of service issues, and then | will follow that with rate
design and then tal k about sone task force matters.

Cost of service is the foundation for
all ocating costs and determ ni ng whet her custoner
cl asses are recovering their full cost of services.
Whil e the Comm ssion has discretion to adopt all ocation
backers if deened appropriate, | note that sone factors
proposed by other parties represent a significant
departure from historical practice and would result in
substantial shifts in allocated costs.

There are mul ti ple nmethodol ogi es for
conducting cost of service studies, and perspectives on
fairness vary. Inportantly, the Conpany's overal
revenue does not change based on which allocation nethod
is adopted. Wth the exception of the proposed NGV
cl ass subsidy, all allocation factors recomended by the
Conmpany are consistent with those used in the nost
recent general rate cases. The Conpany has -- is not

i ntroduci ng new all ocation nethodologies in this
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proceedi ng.

The first allocation factor I want to address
is the 60/40 bl ended all ocation factor that's sonetines
referred to as Allocation Factor 230. The 60/40 bl ended
al l ocation factor has been consistently applied by the
Company to allocate costs for feeder |ines, conpressors,
and | arge neasurenent and regul ati on equi pnent. This
approach is supported by Commi ssion orders in the 2019
and 2022 general rate cases which found the Conpany's
position reasonable and aligned with precedent.

Argunments rai sed agai nst the Conpany's
approach remai n unchanged from prior rate cases.

Parties continue to rely on simlar -- simlar |anguage
fromthe NARUC manual to justify alternative positions.
In addition, M. Pernichele revisits a design day
argunent that was previously rejected and transportation
custonmers continue to advocate for reduced waiting on

t hroughput. The Conpany maintains that its |ong

st andi ng use of the 60/40 weighting is appropriate.

Moving on to |arge diameter mains. Those
| arge di aneter mains are anot her asset that had proposed
changes to the allocation. And as explained in ny
direct testinony, large dianmeter main facilities are
generally sized for nore than | ocal delivery

requi renents and are therefore excluded fromthe
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di stribution plant factor study. They are also smaller
than feeder lines. The Conpany's allocation method
identifies custonmers not connected to the internedi ate
hi gh pressure system and subtracts their delivered

dekat hernms from commodity throughput figures. This
approach is also consistent with historical practice and
was used to develop the current rates.

Beyond these nmmjor factors, parties proposed
changes or at |east raised concerns regarding allocation
of nunmerous other costs. Where alternative proposals
were offered, | addressed themin ny rebuttal testinony.
Many statenents, however, |acked actionable
recomrendati ons for the Conm ssion to consider.

I want to talk about |arge custonmers briefly.
The -- the OCS raised concerns about the inpact of |arge
customers on existing custoners, and the Conpany
recogni zes that these new high volunme custoners
materially inpact transportation class rates.
Accordingly, in rebuttal testinony, | supported the OCS
proposal to tenporarily close the TBF class to new
custonmers pending further analysis. Additionally, I
proposed that the revenue allocation for the TBF cl ass
be set at one and a half times the overall revenue
requirenent increase to mtigate cost inpacts in this

case.
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I want to nove on and tal k about gradualism a
little bit. The concept of gradualismin rate setting
was raised by several parties, and as | nentioned
earlier, the Conpany proposes to maintain historical
al l ocation factors that have produced rates found to be
just, reasonable, and in the public interest. These
all ocators were used in the 2019 and 2022 rate cases to
bring all the custoner classes, except the TBF class, to
full cost rates.

The Conpany is open to a gradual approach in
this case but does not support any outconme where a cl ass
ot her than the TBF and NGV cl asses pays less than its
full cost of service. |If the end result in this case is
that a certain class of custonmers is paying |ess than
its full cost of service, it would be a step in the
wrong direction. |If the Comm ssion determ nes that
i nposed i ncreases are excessive for a particul ar cl ass,

t he Conpany recommends adj usting allocation factors
rat her than all owi ng under-recovery.

That's everything | have for cost of service,
but I'mgoing to nove on to rate design issues. Simlar
to cost of service, the Conpany has mai ntai ned
consistency in its rate design proposals. The rate
design in this case mrrors the approach adopted in the

| ast general rate case when the transportation class was
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split.

One thenme about rate design proposals that we
see in this case is that rate design nodifications are
easy to propose but difficult to inplenment. For
exanple, M. Pernichele discussed in his direct
testinony sone of the practical limtations associated
with splitting the GS class. Dr. Kaufman di scussed in
his surrebuttal how splitting the transportati on cl ass
was proposed in one case, discussed in a working group,
then effectuated in the next case. |In this case, we
also will have imted tinme between the timng of the
Comm ssion order and the effective date of the rates.

Not all intervenors proposed changes to rate
design. However, those who did generally advanced
proposal s that would benefit their respective
constituencies. Wiile | wll not address every proposed
change, | will summarize five key itens. Those are the
basic service fee, the admnistrative charge, the
billing determ nants in the TBF cl ass, bl ock breaks in
the TSL class, and the | ow pressure surcharge.

So first is the basic service fee. The basic
service fees proposed by the Conpany were originally
established in the 2013 general rate case and have been
consistently applied in every subsequent case. Wile

t he Conpany recal cul ates the basic service fees during

Page 20

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N NN N NN R R R R R R R R R
O »h W N P O © O N O O M~ W N Rk O

Phase Il Hearing - November 18, 2025

each filing, it generally does not propose adjustnents.
Thi s approach has historically been acceptable to other
parties, and the Conpany believes it remains appropriate
in this proceeding.

Moving on to the adm nistrative charge. That
charge applies only to custoners in the transportation
cl asses. Unlike the basic service fee, the
adm ni strative charge had been updated in every recent
rate case due to volatility in transportation class
growt h and associ ated costs. Each case has refl ected
current conditions, and this proceeding is no exception.
Costs have increased because Enbri dge had reasonabl e
i ncreases, including taking on a full share of costs
that had fornmerly been shared wi th Mountai n\est
Pi peline. These changes necessitated a nodest increase
in the adm ni strative charge.

Moving on to the billing determ nants and the
TBF class. On behalf of UAE, Ms. Higgins proposed
changes to billing determ nants for the TBF class. Her
proposal would significantly inpact revenue collection
during the test period. The Conpany designed its rates
based on known information in the test period to achieve
a specific revenue target. Any deviation fromthose
determ nants woul d alter cost allocation anong cl asses

and reduce revenue recovery from TBF custoners during
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the test period.

Moving on to the block breaks in the TSL
class. Dr. Kaufman, on behalf of Nucor, proposed
nmodi fying the TSL bl ock breaks and increasing discounts
for later blocks. These blocks were set in the 2022
general rate case when transportation classes were
split, aligning with TBF bl ock breaks that have been
used for simlarly sized customers. This structure also
reflects the design used prior to 2013. M rebuttal
testi nony supports rejecting Dr. Kaufman's proposal and
retaining the current structure.

Finally, Dr. Kaufman al so proposed a | ow
pressure surcharge that would apply to custoners in the
TSL class that are connected to the internedi ate high
pressure systeminstead of the high pressure system In
rebuttal testinony, | explained why this proposal
conflicts with the principal of average ratemaking and
recommended continuing the Conpany's existing rate
desi gn.

So noving on now to a working group. There
were several parties that suggested that certain topics
be studi ed before the next rate case. The Conpany is
open to eval uating some issues in a collaborative
setting, but believes others have been sufficiently

addr essed and woul d not warrant additional resources.
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The Conpany is willing to study nethods to assure the GS
class costs are accurately recovered w thout interclass
subsi di es and the inpact of |arge custoners and
strategies to prevent adverse effects on existing
custoners.

However, issues such as weather normalization,
the transportation inbal ance charge, and the
conservation enabling tariff have been thoroughly
exam ned in prior cases and during this proceeding. The
Company does not think it would be an efficient use of
resources to open these topics -- or to reopen these
topics. The Conpany's proposals for cost of service and
rate design are consistent with historical practices and
wll result in rates that are just, reasonable, and in
the public interest.

Accordi ngly, the Conpany respectfully requests
that the conm ssion approve its cost of service and rate
design proposals as filed and as adjusted in the
rebuttal and surrebuttal testinmony. And that concl udes
nmy sumary.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Thank you, M. Sumrers.

Ms. Mtchell.

MS5. M TCHELL: M. Sumrers is available for
cross-exam nation and the Comm ssion's questions.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Thank you.
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Al right, Ms. Schm d, are you going to do the
Cross-exam nati on?

M5. SCHMD: | am M. Gecu is passing out
what's been premarked as DPU Cross Exhibit 1. This
packet contains the cover or title sheet of
M. Pernichele's surrebuttal testinony and DPU
Exhi bit 6.01SR that was attached to that surrebuttal
t esti nony.

"Il represent that they are true and correct
copies of what was filed in his surrebuttal testinony
with the addition of the DPU cross exhibit sticker in
t he upper right-hand corner.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Well, the
testinony's on file, but I think we'll -- we'll go ahead
and admt all of the exhibits that conme in on
Cross-exam nation just to -- as part of the record.

So you want to nove for adm ssion of DPU
Cross 17

M5. SCHMD: Yes. W request adm ssion of DPU
Cross 1.

PRESI DI NG OFFICER:  All right. Any objection?

No objection. We'Ill admt DPU Cross 1.

(DPU s Cross Exhibit 1 was admitted into
evi dence.)

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
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BY Ms. SCHM D

Q. M. Austin -- or M. Summers, have you had a
chance to take a | ook at DPU Exhibit Cross 1?

A Yes.

Q | have just a few questions. Did the Conpany
provi de the peak day data the DPU requested in DPU Dat a
Request Nunmber 29.01, which was attached as DPU 6. 01 SR?
DPU 6. 01 SR contained not only the request but the
Conpany's response.

A Yes. Sorry. | believe the -- were -- was the
guestion that you asked if 1've reviewed that?

Q That was the first one. Now |l'masking if the
Company provi ded the peak day data that the DPU

requested in that data request.

A. So this data request is asking for an
allocation matrix in -- fromthe nodel. That allocation
matri x is not just peak day. | believe there's a | ot of

other information in that allocation matrix that is
basically the results of all of the cost of service
studies that would be in the Conpany's nodel. So the --
the question here is to provide the sane infornmation
that is in the allocation matri x.

So we -- the Conpany does not update its cost
of service studies on an annual basis. W only do

t hose -- those cost of service studies for a general
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rate case. There's a considerable amunt of work that
goes into those, and so they're only updated in rate
case years.

Q. Thank you. Those are all ny questions.

A Thanks.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Thank you,
Ms. Schmd. Let's turn to the Ofice.

MR. SNARR: We have no cross-exani nation.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Maybe this is going
to go faster than | thought. All right. Let's --
what's that? Oh, M. Harvey said he'll -- he'll take
care of it. That's what | expected. But before we cone
to you, M. Harvey, we'll -- M. Russell

MR. RUSSELL: And | also have a |ist of
guesti ons.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Great. Thank you.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MR, RUSSELL:

Q M. Sumrers, let's start with one of the itens
you nentioned inside your summary, which is Allocation
Factor 230. You nentioned that the -- that this is a
bl ended all ocation factor. What -- what do you nmean by
t hat ?

A. Yeah. What | mean by that is that there are

two conponents of that allocation factor. One is the
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average throughput, and the other is the design day
conponent. So you've got -- when |['m-- when |I'm saying
a bl endi ng, you're blending or weighting both of those
factors to make one allocation factor.

Q And in your prefiled testinony, you' ve
advocated for the continued use of a blended allocation
factor; is that right?

A That is right.

Q And tell me why you think it's inportant for
a -- that -- that allocation factor of those facilities
subject to Allocation Factor 230 to be a bl ended one.

A Yeah. The -- the reason | think that that's
inportant is that those assets, things |like |arge feeder

lines, kind of the backbone of the system are used for

two di fferent purposes. They are -- they are used to
meet the design day requirenents on a -- on a really
cold day. So they -- those assets have to be built

| arge enough to neet those needs on a design day, and
they are also used to neet the average throughput during
the rest of the year, just the day-to-day natural gas
t hat needs to nmove through those facilities.

Q Thank you. And you've -- you' ve al so
referenced in your testinony and have responded in your
testinony to sonme proposals to -- to nodify that

allocation factor; is that right?
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A. That is right.

Q. Okay. And | think you pointed out that all of
the proposals to nodify that allocation factor use sone
measure of a bl ended factor; is that right?

A. In this case, yes, | think all of those
proposals used a -- used a -- used a blend with
di fferent weightings.

Q. That's right. So the -- the debate in this
rate case i s whether the weighting between demand and
t hroughput is appropriate; right?

A That's correct.

Q Ckay. And on behal f of UAE, Ms. Higgins
proposed using the systemload factor; is that right?

A. That is right.

Q. To set the throughput?

A. That's right.

Q And is that the -- is that the -- the nethod
that is described in the NARUC manual ?

A | didn't take a position on -- on that in
rebuttal or surrebuttal. | think that all of the
parties have used simlar portions of -- of that NARUC
manual to -- to justify their positions, and | never
took a position on that. |It's -- | think that there are
different ways to read that |anguage to decide what it

nmeans.
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Q Ckay. In your rebuttal testinony, you
i ndicated that of all of the proposals that parties
ot her than the Conpany had made, that Ms. Higgins had
carried the nost analytical weight; is that right?

A That is correct.

Q Okay. And tell me why you think that is.

A | think that Ms. Higgins' approach is -- is
| ooking at how the systemis -- is being used by
cal culating, like, the systemload factor and the

consi stency at which people are using the system for
desi gn day versus average throughput. There's a
quantifiable reason to get to that nunber, and so |

think that it carries sonme weight w thout being --

w t hout using kind of an arbitrary -- an arbitrary
nunmber .
Q Ckay. Thank you. 1'mgoing to nove now to

anot her topic that you nentioned in your summary, which
is the allocation of |large diameter IHP mains. W just
di scussed why you think it's inportant to use a bl ended
all ocation factor for Allocation Factor 230, but you've
resisted the use of a blended allocation factor for

these facilities. Wy is that?

A. Yeah. There's -- | think there's two reasons.
Oneis -- isthat it's -- those assets are used for
di fferent purposes. Whereas the -- those -- the
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all ocation factor -- the assets that Allocation 230

applies to -- those large feeder |line mains and those
| arge nmeasurenent regul ation assets -- are -- they're
just -- they have different purposes. The -- they're

t he kind of the backbone of the system whereas these
| arge dianeter mains are -- they're used nore for | ocal
di stribution or getting gas to that l[ocal distribution
system So | think that they're used kind of for
different purposes. That's one reason that | think it
shoul d stay as the Conpany has proposed it.
The other reason is that it's consistent with

t he Conpany's nmethod in all of the recent rate cases
t hat we've continued to use that -- the sane allocation
factor, and so | think that that consistency is another
i nportant reason.

Q And the way that you currently allocate those

costs is based on the distribution throughput allocator;

right?
A That's correct.
Q And that's just a neasure of throughput?
Li ke, there's no -- there's no demand conponent; right?

A That's right.
Q. And the large dianmeter IHP mains are used to
hel p neet the system demands on a design day, though;

right?
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A. I think that any asset on the system could be
argued to be used during those design days, those --
those really cold days, but | don't think that they are
as significant. They're -- they're really designed nore
for -- | think they're used nore for that average
t hr oughput .

Q I"'mgoing to nove to a different topic also
di scussed in your summary, and that's the rate design
with respect to the transportati on bypass for the TBF
cl ass.

To help illustrate a point, I want to -- want
to have you turn to Ms. Higgins' direct testinony. |It's
actually an exhibit in her direct testinony.

Do you have that?

A | don't.

Q Okay. | -- 1 saw a really big binder there.
A I know. It's massive.

Q | thought nmaybe you had it.

A It's a comcally | arge binder

Q "' mwondering if your counsel has Exhibit 2.3

that was attached to Ms. Higgins' direct testinony.
M5. M TCHELL: | believe we have it. Just
give us a nonment. Thank you.
MR. RUSSELL: Yeah. Sure thing.
MS. NELSON CLARK: May | approach?
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PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Yes. Sorry. | didn't --
MS. NELSON CLARK: Thank you.
MR. RUSSELL: And | appreciate the -- the
hel p.
Q (BY MR RUSSELL) M. Summers, |I'mgoing to

have you turn to Page 8 of 9 of that exhibit.

A Okay.

Q. It should be a table. |Is that what you' ve
got ?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And that is a table. ['IIl just

represent to you that table was produced in response to

a data request from UAE to Enbridge. That data request

is -- is there on page 7 of 9, the page before this
t abl e.
Do -- do you recognize that table?
A Yes.

Q Ckay. And just generally speaking, can you
confirmthat what that table represents is the nmonthly
projections for send out to the TBF class in the test
period?

A Yes.

Q. Okay. And that shows a pretty significant
increase fromthe nonths at the beginning of the year to

the nmonths at the -- in the second part of the year; is
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that right?
A. Yes. These are the volunes that the Conpany
has projected to be in effect in the test period.

Q. For the whole TBF class; right?

A. That's correct.

Q Okay. And can you confirmfor nme that
what's -- what's happening here is that a single
exi sting TBF customer is -- is increasing its -- its
demand in -- starting in June of the test period by a --

by a pretty large margin; right?

A That's correct.

Q Ckay. So the -- the difference between the
front half of the year and the second half of the year
is -- is based alnost entirely off of this increase for
one custoner?

A That's correct.

Q. Okay. And as we discussed in our -- in our
conversation about the allocation factors earlier,
the -- the allocation factor for quite a few of the
facilities on the systemare just blended factors with
demand and t hroughput; right?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And so for purposes of cost allocation,
t he demand conponent that you're using is the one

that's -- the high one towards the end of that -- that
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year; right? For purposes of allocating demand to the
TBF cl ass?

A Yes. We used a -- we used the demand that
woul d be in place at the end of the year.

Q Ri ght. For throughput purposes, though, it's

a mx of -- of all of themonce a year; right?

A Are -- are you still talking about cost of
service? | want to nake sure that |I'm answering the --
the question -- if we're tal king about cost of service

all ocation or if we're tal king about rate design.

Q W'l get to the rate design --

A. Ckay.

Q. -- shortly. But, yeah, for purposes of cost
of service, is that -- is that how the throughput
allocator is -- is used for -- you know, when you're
| ooking at -- at this, you know, nonthly send out, is

t hat how you would do it?
A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And then for rate design purposes, how

are the billing determ nates determ ned?
A So the billing determ nants would be the --
it's the total dekatherns that we're planning to -- that

we're planning to have go through the system So it's

that -- that total dekathernms -- it's the sumof all the
dekat herns t hroughout the year -- are the -- that's the
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vol ume of gas that we would use to collect the revenue
requi rement for the year

Q Okay. And so the billing determ nates
generally follow the expected throughput?

A Yes. It's that way for the TBF class and al
of the other classes.

Q Sure. But given the unique circunstances of
this class and this rate case, the result of that is
t hat the peak demand al |l ocator, which is spread across
t he whol e year, and the throughput are -- there's
sonething of a m smatch there; right?

A "'mnot sure if | would call it a m smatch.
think that we're -- we're doing two different things.
We're trying to determ ne how nuch costs shoul d be
allocated to the -- to that class, and that's -- that's
one thing. But then making sure that we collect the
ri ght anmount of revenue in the test period is another --

i s anot her i ssue.

Q. Sure. But the peak demand allocator is -- is
not the peak demand for each nonth of the year. |It's --
it's a one-tinme thing that then -- that then is used to

determ ne the peak demand allocator for all of the year;
ri ght?
A That's right.

Q Ckay. And Ms. Higgins, in her testinmony on
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behal f of UAE, has proposed a nechanismto address this
issue; is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And the nmechani smthat she has proposed
is to have the TBF volunes in the firmdemand billing
determ nants to be adjusted to apply the higher
projected TBF | oad to each nonth of the year rather than
just the |l ast seven nonths; is that right?

A. That is her proposal, yes.

Q. Okay. And you have disagreed with that
proposal ; right?

A. That is right.

Q. Okay. And tell me why you -- why you

di sagr ee.

A. Yeah. | disagree with that proposal because
it's -- |1 think that it strays from what the Conpany
has -- has always done, and | think that it's inportant,

again, to keep consistency, but the Conpany's proposal
was an -- a conservative estimate based on known

informati on at the tine.

The -- the volunes that we put in there -- the
reason | say it's conservative is because we -- we did
put it in. W -- we have an estimte of when that
customer will be comi ng onto the system So we coul d

have cal cul ated the rates without putting that custoner
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in, but putting that custonmer in seened |like the nobst
accurate thing to do.

Now, we -- the way that we set those rates for
the rate designs, we have to | ook at the -- the volunme
of gas that's available to collect the total revenue
requirenment. So kind of that -- that beconmes our
denom nator, if you will, and then we're -- we're
| ooking at the cost that needs to be collected as the --
the nunerator. Wen you divide those two, that gives
you your -- your rate.

The problemthat | have with the UAE s
proposal is that it adds nore volunme to that
denom nator, which effectively reduces the overall rate,
and -- and, therefore, reduces the amobunt of revenue
that the Conpany will collect in that -- over the course
of the year. So it's just a -- it's -- | feel like the
informati on that we have for the test period is -- is
what's shown in this exhibit that you're |ooking at, and
that is the nost accurate anmount of volunme that we --

t hat we know about in the test period.

Q Coupl e of -- couple of follow up questions on
that. By -- the -- the mechanism through which you' ve
done this, put this into rates -- won't that lead to the
ot her TBF custoners -- won't that lead to their rates

goi ng up, even though they're not contributing to
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this -- this nmuch higher peak demand towards the end of
t he year?

A. When -- when a -- when we're doing the whole

cost of service and the -- the rate design -- | nean,
you -- you're looking at it froma perspective of how
much -- how nmuch is allocated to that class and then to

make sure that it's all allocated correctly or that it's
collected in full.

Assumi ng that the -- if you had a big custoner
in the cost of service process, they're going to be
bringing their costs -- sonme costs with them And so
everything should follow that custoner so that we're
collecting -- on an average basis, we're collecting the
correct anmount of revenue in that test period.

If -- whether or not it effects other
custonmers in the TBF class, | don't think there's
anything on the record that really shows what that is.

Q Have you consi dered any nmechanisns -- we
t al ked about the nmechani smthat Ms. Higgins proposed.
Have you consi dered any ot her nmechanisns to maybe
mtigate the effects of this one-time increase in -- in
demand from a single TBF custoner?

A There -- one of the -- one of the proposals,
actually, in M. Higgins' testinony that would be a

good -- a good option -- maybe it's not explored enough
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on the record, but she proposed a phased approach to --
to this whol e problemwhere there would be five nonths
of rates at one |level and then seven nonths of revenue
at the newlevel. And if you were to do that right, it
would -- it would charge custoners for -- correctly for
those first five nonths and correctly for the |ast seven
nmont hs too and maybe be accurate on the assignnent of
costs.

Like | say, that -- that didn't get a | ot of
attention in rebuttal or surrebuttal, but I -- as | |ook
at the options the Comm ssion has available to it, that
woul d be a possibility that would work.

Q. In your rebuttal testinony, you also offer a
proposal to cap the revenue allocation to the TBF cl ass
so that it's equal to one and a half tinmes the overal
increase in revenue requirenent; right?

A. Yes. | did propose that.

(Reporter clarification.)

Q. (BY MR, RUSSELL) | think you said --

A | did propose that.

Q | think you said, "And that would work as
wel | ."

A And that would work as well. Thank you,
M . Russell.

Q Al ways happy to put words in a witness's
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nout h.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Wel |, there was no

objection to it. So proceed.

Q. (BY MR, RUSSELL) And tell ne why you think
t hat woul d wor k.

A. The reason | proposed that is that that one
| arge customer does have a significant -- as that
exhibit we're | ooking at shows, they have a significant
change in volunme to the class. And |ooking at -- at
Ms. Higgins' proposals and then conbi ned with proposal s
fromthe OCS that maybe we need to | ook at ways to nake
sure that custoners are protected, other custonmers are
protected. It seened like it mght be a good option to
ki nd of push the pause button, if you will, on the TBF
class and let the parties have sone tine to devel op.
You know, | ook at those -- that class and see what needs
to be done to protect those custoners.

So what | proposed would be that we would

still use the Conpany's proposal to nmake sure that
the -- the Conpany isn't harmed by our change in the
rate design but also to limt the -- the effect on the
existing TBF class, and that's why | felt |ike that was
a reasonabl e conproni se.

Q. And you nentioned previously that the TBF

class is a subsidized class; right?
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A. It is a subsidized class. That's right.

Q. And so the result of -- of capping the
increase to that class neans that sonme other costs are
going to be leaking out to other classes to provide that

subsi dy; right?

A That's correct.
Q Okay.
MR. RUSSELL: Thank you. That's all | have.

THE W TNESS: Thank you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Thank you,
M. Russell. | appreciate that. We'Ill turn to
M . Cook.
MR. COOK: We have no questions.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. M. Davidson, do
you have any questions?
MR. DAVIDSON: Yes, | do, M. Chairman. Thank
you.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. DAVI DSON:
Q Good norning, M. Sumrers.

A Good norni ng.

Q | hope | don't steal Comm ssioner Harvey's
t hunder today. | have a little bit for you today.
So, M. Summers, |I'd like to start with the

consi deration of the basic service fee portion of your
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testinony in your direct at pages 15 and 16, if you have
that in front of you

In there, you suggest that "The Basic Service
Fee should be set at a |level sufficient to collect the
m ni mum requi red anount to service an average custoner

in that Basic Service Fee category regardless of their

usage. "
Do you see that reference?
A. Yes.
Q. And am | correct that in that portion of your

direct testinony, in EGU Exhibit 5.08, explains how the
Conpany ensures that such a mninumrequired anmount is
recovered fromthe average custoner in each neter
category; correct?

A. Correct.

Q And as you explained at lines 399 through 401
of your direct testinony, the Conpany's averaged gross
i nvestment was reduced in the analysis presented in EGU
Exhibit 5.08 to show only relevant investnment ampunts to
be included in the basic service fee; correct?

A That's correct.

Q Okay. Now, lines 422 through 425 on page 16
of your direct include the discussion of your basic
service fees, at least in this part of your testinony,

noting that although your analysis in EGU Exhibit 5.08
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shows the basic service fee costs for all neter

cat egori es higher than the Conpany's current basic
service fees, you state that "The Conpany has determ ned
that the existing fees are sufficient.”

Do you see that reference?

A Yes.
Q Now, am | correct -- and | think you nentioned
this earlier in your summary -- that there's been no

change in the basic service fee in 12 years; is that

correct?

A. Yes.

Q Okay. Have your costs to serve custoners
changed at all in those 12 years?

A Yes. In -- in all of the recent rate cases

t hat we've done since 2013, there have been changes in
costs, and those costs, though not collected in the
basic service fees, have been collected in volunetric
rates or other charges.

Q. Ot her conponents of your -- your -- your
standard rates other than the BSF; correct?

A That's correct.

Q Okay. Now, would you agree that the basic
service fee analysis presented in EGU Exhibit 5.08
indicates that all the Conpany's current BSF fees

collect noticeably less than the Conpany's identified
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basi c service fee costs?

A. Yes.

Q And why is it that the basic service fee
hasn't been adjusted in 12 years to catch up, at |east,
in recovering those costs?

A. That's a -- that's a good question. | feel
like -- that | explained in -- to sone extent in ny
testinony, but in the 2013 case, it was sonething that
was highly contested that was a settled case, and the
parties kind of -- there was kind of an agreenent that
there was a reason to keep those basic service fees
| ower than what they were calculated at. And so since
then, the Conpany has just not viewed it as an inportant
change -- that hasn't been, you know, hasn't gotten a
| ot of attention. And so those -- those basic service
fees have just stayed. The Conpany proposed for those
basic service fee to just remain flat.

Q And why isn't that inportant to adjust those
basic service fees on a -- at least a periodic basis

over a 12-year period?

A The -- | guess the -- the -- the reason we
| eave those -- have proposed to | eave those alone is
that that is sonething that -- | don't know -- | guess
it garners a lot of attention fromregular -- fromthe

GS custoners. There are a |lot of people who are on
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fixed incone that they -- they try to save npbney on

their bill by using less gas, and if the basic service
fees go up, they are able -- their -- their ability to
save noney by trying to use less gas -- that ability is

di m ni shed.

Q Is that the main reason why it hasn't been

adjusted in 12 years?

A. |'d say that's one of the reasons.

Agai n, |

think that probably the nost inportant thing is it just

hasn't been a key issue that -- that the int
t he case have -- have been concerned about.
Q Ckay. I'd like to nove on to a br

di scussi on about the adm nistrative charge.

ervenors in

i ef

If you

would like to turn to your rebuttal testinmony to

page 18.

A. Apparently nmy comcally large binder is -- is
just a weck. | do have ny rebuttal on ny desk.
don't know if that's -- I"'mpermtted to get that.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  You're permtted. Sur e,
Ms. Clark, and bring it. You can go get it.

A. Okay. You said ny rebuttal ?

Q (BY MR- DAVIDSON) Correct. At -- let's
see -- page 18. The adm nistrative charge testinony
begins at |ine 385.

A. Okay.
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Q So woul d you accept that, for the | arge users
of transportation service such as Nucor, FEA, UAE, the
| evel of the Conpany's adm nistrative charge has,
generally, a lesser inpact on a custoner's total
di stribution service charges than it would for ANGC,
whi ch represents greater nunmbers of smaller
transportation service custoners, the TSS custoners?

A | want to make sure that | am answering the
question or that |'munderstanding the question. |If
you're saying that the -- that the adnmi nistrative charge
has a -- is a nore prevalent portion of the bill, the
overall bill, for a small TS custoner than for a TSL
customer ?

Q Correct.

A. That is -- that is true.

Q And at |ines 390 through 420 at -- in your
rebuttal testinony, you begin a |list of 16 separate
assertions regarding the Conpany's cal cul ati on of the
adm ni strative charge that you attribute to ANGC wi t ness
Oiver. Do you see that portion of your testinony
t here?

A. Yes.

Q And when | reviewed those -- that list of 16,
| didn't see any page references or nunmber citations to

M. Oiver's direct testinony. |Is this just sort of
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your general thoughts about what he's proposed in his
direct testinmony without any citation to specific
portions of that testinony?

A No. Though -- though I did not put in
citations, those are all issues that were rai sed by
M. diver

Q Al right. Well, at page 19, line 407 of your
rebuttal, you suggest that M. O iver asserts "The
Conmpany cannot provi de backup regardi ng netering and
billing issues."”

Is that an accurate representation of that

portion of your rebuttal ?

A. Yes.
Q Now, you nentioned your extra |arge binder
there. | assunme you do not have a copy of M. Oiver's

direct testinony in it?
A | do not.
MR. DAVIDSON: M. Chairman, may | provide
M. Sumrers with a copy, or perhaps his counsel can, so
| can ask hima few questions about that?
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Sure. You can provide him
a copy of the testinony.
MR. DAVI DSON: Thank you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Approach. And, again,

this is the prefiled direct testinony.
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MR. DAVIDSON: Direct testinmony of M. diver,
yes. Thanks, M. Chairman.

Q (BY MR. DAVIDSON) All right, M. Sunmers.

Let ne have you turn to page 56 of M. Oiver's direct
testinony and take a mnute to look at lines 1186
t hrough 1200.

A Okay.

Q So when | | ooked at the list of 16 itens that
you had that we spoke about a nonent ago in your
rebuttal, would you accept that M. Oiver's testinmony
is that the Conpany has not provided support for its
position regarding nmetering of billing issues and
nowhere does he state that the Conpany cannot provide
such supporting information?

A. In -- in the paragraphs that 1've read here
t hat you' ve referenced, he does not say that the Conpany
cannot. | would agree that it says in those -- in -- in
t hat reference.

Q. Okay. And am | correct that in your rebuttal
testinony, other than page 19, line 407, we don't find
any further discussion to support the Conpany's clains
regardi ng costs for enployee tinme incurred to nonitor
t roubl eshoot metering and billing issues; is that
correct?

A. Let nme ook at -- and you said that was ny
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rebuttal ?

Q. Your rebuttal, yes, page 19.

A. So those -- the list that we're | ooking at of
t hose i ssues?

Q Yes.

A. Now that |I'm | ooking at that, can | have you
restate your question.

Q. Sure. The -- the -- the point here, | guess,
is that we don't find any discussion or support of -- by
t he Conpany regarding claims that cost for enployee tine
incurred to nmonitor and troubl eshoot netering issues as
reflected in your direct testinony are difficult or --

(Reporter clarification.)

Q (BY MR. DAVIDSON) -- problemtic.
A. Yeah. So to answer your question, | would
be -- innm -- in ny rebuttal testinony, and | believe |

addressed that in a question on |ine 508 of my rebuttal
testi nony where it tal ked about such an exercise of --
of keeping track of all of those visits. And -- and the
wor k that was done for specific custonmers in different
cl asses would -- would take an enornous anount of tine
by EGQU enpl oyees, which would likely increase the
adm ni strative charge.

Q. Okay. And one of the things that | noted from

your discussion of the adm nistrative charge and the
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response to M. Oiver is it appears that there's not
a-- 1"l call it tinmekeeping systemthat the Conpany
uses for enployee tinme dedicated to certain functions;
is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q And why is that? Isn't that an inportant
aspect of determ ning |abor costs and aspect -- in the
aspect of ratenaking?

A. | don't think it's a -- | don't think it's
sonet hing that needs to be done. There's -- there's --

nor do | think that would be a good use of tine.

When -- when we have mai ntenance that needs to be done,
for exanple, on these -- on these neters, if a
technici an needs to go out and change a battery in -- in

equi pment, or if a technician needs to go out and -- |

don't know -- check for why equipnment isn't responding,
they are -- they are recording their tinme in -- in ways
that are -- that are | ogical.

But if you were asking that enployee to then
track their time for which class of custonmers were they
serving -- and, you know, | think there's no end to
how -- how deep you could go, how -- how detailed you
could look. A lot of these, as |I've nention in ny
rebuttal, it would -- it would take nore time for that

enpl oyee to be recording their tinme in all of these
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detail ed ways. And for purposes of -- of cost

all ocation, the way that we're doing it -- using studies
and -- and asking for -- for -- asking for maybe a
survey of -- of the people who are doing that work for

how much tinme they spend on those. Those are accurate

ways to get those -- those costs all ocated.

Q And | think in your answer you are concerned
about the level of detail, but as | understood your
prior response, there are -- there is no tinmekeeping

system at all regardless of a |level at which the detai
is reported?

A That's correct.

Q Okay. At page 50 of M. diver's direct
testinony, the copy | provided to you, at lines 1062
t hrough 1069, he observes that the adm nistrative charge
anal ysis nore than doubl es the percentage of gas supply
costs assigned to transportation service custoners
conpared the analysis the Conpany presented in the |ast
rate case; is that correct?

A You're on page 50? What was the |ine
reference?

Q 1062 to 1069.

A In that -- in the answer that M. Qiver
provides there, | don't think he says that it doubles --

oh, you're saying that it doubles just that --
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Q Yeah.

A. -- that one conponent ?

Q Correct.

A Yes. And -- and | believe we addressed that
in rebuttal, that there were personnel changes in -- in
certain departnents. There was a cell of -- as we've
separated our -- ourselves from Muntai nWest Pi peline,

there are certain costs that used to be shared that are
now just Conpany. They're -- they're not shared with
anybody else. They're just directly fromthe Conpany.
So | think we explained why those costs have increased.

Q And the cost that you just nentioned -- are
t hose | abor costs that are now -- that were shared but
are now just the responsibility of EGU?

A Yes.

Q Now, other than the separation that you j ust
mentioned of EGU fromits prior relationship, in your
rebuttal, there's no explanation that caused the
increases in | abor and | abor overhead from sone
departnents to be flagged as abnormal, is it?

A | think we did a -- | feel Iike we did an
adequate job of explaining increases.

Q. So back to your rebuttal testinony at page 22.

A Okay.

Q At lines 486 to 492.
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A. Ckay.

Q And that question and answer and those |ines
you ask yourself a conpound question, and the answer was
then no. Do you see that reference?

A. Yes.

Q Is that no to the question is EGJ s nom nation
process highly automated, or a no to the notion that
mar keters do nost of the nom nation work for customners,
or both?

A It is an answer to both.

Q Both. Do you agree with M. O iver when he
cites from EGU s response to ANGC Data Request 2.05,
which I'lIl reference -- It may be in your big binder --
but I'll reference that it states currently there is
only one customer who is not set up to be nom nated for
by a gas supplier, and indicates there's 12 nom nating
agents submtting daily nom nations for nore than 1,250
custoners.

Do you renenber that?

A. Yes.

Q That's correct?

A That's correct.

Q. How are the daily nom nations for the

Conmpany's 1, 250 transportati on custoners we just spoke

about submtted? |Is that done through paper subm ssion,
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ver bal communi cati ons, electronic format, just a

st andardi zed format? How do you do that?

A. It is -- it is through electronic neans -- is
how t hose nom nations are made to -- to the Conpany, and
t hen those nom nations need to be -- they're revi ewed.

It's not just an automatic when they cone in. That's
what happens. But the -- we have Conpany personnel that
will review those nom nations, make sure that everything
| ooks good for the next gas day and that everything' s

i ned up.

Q And do they review each nom nation
i ndividually, or do they batch then? How do they do
t hat ?

A. l'"mnot sure. | -- |'ve never gotten that
i nvol ved in that process.

Q Ckay. | want to turn a little bit now to your
rebuttal at page -- or excuse nme -- |lines 501 through
507, the hold burn to schedul ed quantities topic.

A Okay.

Q And is it correct that EGU has not had to
curtail service to transportation service customers in
recent years but does issue these hold burn to schedul ed
guantities requirenments nultiple tinmes a year?

A. Yes. That's what my testinony says.

Q I's there any docunentation in your testinony

Page 54

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N NN N NN R R R R R R R R R
O »h W N P O © O N O O M~ W N Rk O

Phase Il Hearing - November 18, 2025

or attachnents that docunents the frequency of the hold
burn to schedul ed quantity events?

A. No.

Q. Do you have an estimte or a sort of back of
t he envel ope nunber as to what nultiple tinmes every year

refers to? Is it nobre than two?

A. Il would think it's nore than two. And | woul d
be -- | feel like |I would be speculating, but I -- in
the nmeetings -- the neetings | attend that -- where |'m

with themand things that | hear themtal king about, it
is a tool that they can use frequently so -- so that
they are not -- it protects our system by not having

t hem over-nom nate or under-nom nate on days when it

m ght be cold or a holiday when -- when those

nom nati ons need to be accurate.

Q But you don't have a nunber in mnd --
A | do not.
Q -- as an average nunber of tinmes per year that

this has occurred?

A | don't.

Q Does anybody el se -- any other w tnesses today
have that information?

A | don't think any of the w tnesses here today
woul d -- woul d have that.

Q Ckay. So the Conpany's tariff at page 5-21
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all ows custonmers or nom nating parties to exchange or
aggregate i nbal ances at a given receipt point in order
to avoid or mtigate penalties during hold burn to
schedul e quantities.

Do you recogni ze that reference?

A. Yeah. | don't have -- well, | mght have the
tariff in this -- that is probably what is innmy -- in
my bi nder.

Q. That's ny paraphrase of it but --

A Yeah. That -- but that sounds --
Q Fam liar?

A. Fam |iar, yes.

Q Okay.

MS. NELSON CLARK: | believe -- for the
record, | believe it is attached to M. Parks'
testi nony.

A. WIIl you give nme your tariff page again?

Q (BY MR. DAVIDSON) 5-21. It deals with
aggregation.

A Okay. |'mat 5-21.

Q And in the paragraph that starts on the prior
page, about seven lines up fromthe bottom there's a
sentence that begins "Penalties incurred,” if that's
hel pful .

A. Ckay. Maybe for the record, do you want ne to
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read that?

Q Sur e.

A. That sentence says, "Penalties incurred during
Hold Burn to Schedul ed Quantity restrictions that are
not totally avoided by aggregation shall be borne by the
custonmer or prorated anong the custoners causing the
penalty as directed by the nom nating party. If no
direction is received, the Conpany will assign the
i mhal ance to each of the nom nating party's accounts on
a pro-rata basis for all such accounts that are
contributing to the inbal ance that adversely affected
the system"”

Q. Thank you. So as | read that |anguage, it
provides that if penalties are not totally avoi ded by
aggregation, a nomnating party, in other words a
mar ket er, can prorate the penalty anong the custoners in
an aggregation causing the penalty; is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. Al right. Let's go back to M. diver's
direct testinony at page 52 and the issue regarding
mai nt enance material that's included in the
adm ni strative charge, and |I'm | ooking at |ines 1102
t hrough 1109.

A Okay.

Q Al right. And that indicates that the
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mai nt enance materials represent essentially the second
| ar gest conponent of EGU s cl ai ned adm ni strative costs.
Woul d you agree with that?
A That is what M. Oiver's testinony says, yes.
Q And do you agree with himin that regard?
A. | think I would need to | ook at my own
exhibit, the calculation of the adm nistrative charge,
to see if it's the second |argest, but that -- that cost

for mai ntenance material of $609. 10 does | ook correct.

If you give ne just a nmonent, | can verify.
Q Sure.
A. Yes. | would agree with that.

Q. Okay. And | didn't see anywhere in the
testinony or attachnents that there's support for that
$609. 10 per customer value. |Is there any backup for
t hat that you can provide with respect to the
cal cul ation of the maintenance material cost?

A. | believe the -- the only data that will be on
the record is what -- is what | proposed in ny direct
testinony and backed up with rebuttal and surrebuttal.

Q Okay. Al right. So let's stay continuing
with the equipnent. Let's talk a little bit about
tel emetry portion of your testinony at rebuttal -- your
rebuttal at page 20, lines 430 through 432.

A. Ckay.
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Q In there, you represent that "Those
responsi bl e for mai ntenance of telenetry equi pnent
report needing an extra hour for maintenance every year,
and these costs have been included."

Do you see that reference?

A Yes.

Q Is there any further justification for the
additional -- 1'll say |abor expense -- for this

tel emetry mai ntenance function?

A | think the -- the answer to that would be
just what's in -- the evidence that's in ny direct
testi nony and rebuttal and surrebuttal. Again, the --

the way that that was determned is that we talked with
t he actual technicians. W surveyed them we talked
with them and said, "How | ong are you spendi ng on
these?" And they said it's -- | think it was four hours
i nstead of three that had been used in the prior case.
So | have no reason to inflate that nunmber. It was just
a question asked of them

Q And do you have any know edge as to what added
a third of the time to one -- make -- would go from
three to four hours for that function?

A. No.

Q. Okay. Page 26, lines 592 through 596 of your

rebuttal, your answer to the question of whether
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telemetry equi pnent is a disincentive for custoners to
join the transportation classes is no, and you suggest
that telenetry is an absol ute necessity for the Conpany.

Do you see your portion of your testinmony

t here?
A Yes.
Q Isn't the question of whether the cost of

telemetry to serve transportation custoners as a
di sincentive is a different question than whether
telemetry is necessary to serve transportation
customers?

A. | guess it depends on what you're | ooking at
as a -- as a disincentive. If -- if you're |ooking at
it as the Conpany is intentionally causing a
di sincentive for custonmers to join the transportation
class, the answer to that would be no and that equi pnent
IS necessary.

And if your question is do expenses act as a
di sincentive, | think that that's -- that's sonething
t hat individual customers need to |look at to see if --
if it's sonething they can save noney by going to the
transportation class, or if they can stay where they're
at, or whatever. But | don't think that there's an
i ntentional disincentive in mnd when the Conpany is

charging for those -- for that equi pnent.
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Q And as far as the cost goes, would you
agree -- | think you stated that page -- oh, no. Excuse
me. M. Oiver's direct testinony page 68 references a
$7, 600 per custoner telemetry cost.

Does that sound famliar to you?

A Yes.

Q At page 24 of your rebuttal testinony, |ines
553 through 557, is it your position that the Conpany's
transportation service rates and tariff provisions are
designed to ensure custoners who el ect transportation
pay their fair share of the costs incurred to serve them
So as not to cause operational burdens or gas supply
pl anni ng chal |l enges to the Conpany?

A. Yes. That's what it says in ny testinony.

Q Okay. And shoul d the Comm ssion conclude from
that statement that large firmsales service custoners
serve under the Conpany's GS and FS rate schedul es who
do not establish contract demands and who are not
subject to daily nom nation requirenments cause no
operational burdens or supply planning chall enges?

A | would not say that. They are -- | would
just say that they are handled in a different -- in a
di fferent way.

Q And in what way is that different fromthe

transportation service function?
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A. Yeah. So rather than having a marketer that
nom nates the -- the customer's planned gas usage |ike
in the transportation class, in the sales classes, the

Company' s gas supply group is the one that's out

purchasing gas for those -- for those custoners. So
t hose costs are not charged in a -- you know, for an
adm ni strative charge. They are just charged as -- as

part of general rates to those custoners.

Q. Does the telenetry that we tal ked about a
nmoment ago that's used for the transportation service
function reduce the operational burdens and pl anni ng
chal | enges for the Conpany?

A. The telenmetry equipnent is used to read the
meters. Soit's a-- and it -- and it mght be used in
pur poses of, you know, to track penalties, and that
m ght be happeni ng due to inbalances or in the case of a
hol d burn schedul ed quantity. That's why the Conpany
needs that telenetry data on -- on a daily basis.
Whereas the sales custoners, those processes are mnaged
by the Conpany's gas supply group on an aggregate basis.

Q Okay. Would you agree or accept for a
customer using 3,000 dekatherns a year, an upfront cost
of $7,600 for telenetry equi pnent equates to nore than
the total annual charges EGU would bill to the custoner

for distribution service under the sales or TSS rate
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schedul es?

A. | don't think I've seen the math running those
vol unes through -- through the blocks. So I'm-- |
don't think I can answer that.

Q Ckay. Now, if a custoner switches from
transportation to sales -- transportation service to
sal es service, the telenmetry that we've been speaking
about that the custoners pay for upfront -- as |
understand your rebuttal testinmony -- is not reused by
t he Conpany?

A That's correct.

Q And why is that? Isn't there another function

that that equi pnment can be applied to be used for?

A. And |'ve asked that question before as well.
The answer that -- that | was told is that -- and this
makes sense -- that there's a |lot of different needs for

a lot of different custoners. So if one customer no
| onger needs their telenmetry equi pnment, it's not
sonet hing that we want to just have sitting in a
war ehouse, taking up space, waiting for another custoner
to come along that has that exact requirenent. The
war ehouse woul d just be -- we would need nore space to
keep all of that equipnent.
So once the equi pnment -- if a custonmer says

they no | onger want to be a transportation custoner,
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t hat equi pnment is no |onger used.

Q. I s that because the particular telenetry
equi pment for an individual custonmer is custoner
specific with respect to their defined needs?

A. Yes.

Q And if our -- in ny exanple, our
transportati on custoner switches to sales service for
sone period of time and then decides to cone back,
assune that their piece of telenmetry equipnment is no
| onger avail able. They have to start all over with a
new purchase and a new installation of telenetry
equi pnent; is that correct?

A That's correct, and that's howit's |aid out
in the Conpany's tariff.

Q. Right. Can the custonmers keep that telenetry

equi pnent since they've paid for it?

A. | don't believe so. | think that -- that that
equi pnent belongs to the Conpany -- is what the -- the
tariff says. And so that equipnment is -- is also taken

by the Conpany.

Q So you don't pay for it, but it's yours?

A Yes.

Q. And why -- how does that work? Does it go
into your rate base when it's paid for by a custoner?

A. It's not included in rate base, but for
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pur poses of maintaining the equipnent, the Conpany is
responsi bl e for maintaining that equipnment. And so that
equi pnent bel ongs to the Conpany.

Q. Okay. Covered a few of these things already.
So |l et me skip ahead here.

One question that has cone up, at |least from
my client's perspective, is whether the settlenment of
Phase | in this case and the revenue requirenent agreed
to by the parties in that settlenment agreenent has
fl owed through the rate design in Phase I1.

A. It has flowed through the -- the nost recent
model that the Conpany has filed is in nmy surrebutta
testinony, and that nodel does flow all the way through.
So it would include all the cost of service and rate
desi gn changes applied to that Phase | settlenent
anmount .

Q. And just for the record, aml correct that

that's EGQU Exhibit 5.15R?

A It's actually 5.16SR
Q Okay. | was cl ose.
A Yeah.

Q All right. And in that correct exhibit, am!|l
under st andi ng that the Conpany's full 7.61 overall rate
of return was used for conputing class revenue

requi renment s?
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A. The way that we nodeled it, we left -- because
we did not want to put in a return on equity or any
speci fic accounti ng adjustnents because the Phase |
settlenent did not have any of those included. So we

left the return on equity and all the cost of capital

the sanme as it is -- as it was proposed by the Conpany
in the general rate in Phase |I. But we added just an --
an adjustnment to the overall revenue to -- to get the

overall revenue down to the correct anount.

Q And does the -- the 7.61 rate of return --
percent rate of return factor into what you just told ne
at all?

A. So remi nd ne where you're getting the 7.61
before | --

Q. So let me back up here.

A If that's the Conpany's current --

Q Yes. The --
A

-- proposed capital structure, that is not

in -- in the nodel. The Conpany used what it proposed
originally in Phase | in the nodel, but, again, that --
that -- that return does not have an inpact on the

overall revenue that is being collected because there's
just a one-tine adjustnent to the nodel.
Q So in the final version, EGU Exhibit 5.16SR

did you say?
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A Yes.

Q. SR. Does that reflect the proposed nonthly
demand charge per dekatherm of contract demand at
five-point -- excuse me -- $5.64? Do you know?

A. That sounds like the right rate. |I'm--
woul d have to verify. It's the Conpany's proposed. It
doesn't reflect any changes for any of the other
parties' proposals in surrebuttal or anything. 1It's
just the Conpany's cal cul ati on.

Q. Let's say, subject to check, $5.64 sounds
right.

A. Ri ght .

Q. Okay. Now, the Conpany's initial proposed
demand charge for the TS custonmers was $4. 69 per
dekat herm per nonth; is that correct? Subject to check
agai n.

A. Yes. The inportant thing to note is that
in -- in that 5.16 SR, there was an adjustnent made. So
in -- I"mgoing to do my best to explain the history on
this. Wen we did 5.15 for my rebuttal testinony, there
was -- we tried to include a lot of the different
parties' proposals in that nodel, and then as we were
doi ng that, we broke a fornmula that was referring to the
60/ 40 split.

And | -- | talk about this in ny surrebuttal
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testinony. So in the surrebuttal testinmony, we fixed
that -- that fornula in the spreadsheet so that it's
referring to the 60/40 correctly. So | would -- | would
really have to check to see what the rate is for that
demand charge because there was a correction nade to it,

and that was sonething that Ms. Higgins pointed out to

us that we -- we corrected.
Q. And in the Conpany's previous el ectronic nodel
that was filed as EGU Exhibit 5.14U -- | think that's

where you're referring to?

A MM hmm

Q Ckay. That indicated that the Conpany's TS
demand charge current rate is $3.37 per dekat herm per
nmonth. Does that sound famliar fromthat exhibit?

A Let nme look at one thing. | think I can get
you that. In the Conpany's original proposal -- |I'm
| ooking at ny direct Exhibit 5.10, and I'm | ooking at
currently page 4 of 5 on that. This is a sunmary of the
proposed rate design, and I'mlooking in columm D,
line 14, on page 4, and that shows that the current
effective rate was $3.37. And then if | ook on that
sanme line in colum H, the Conpany's proposed rate was
$4. 69.

Q Exactly. Thank you for checking that. Now,

what |'minterested in, M. Sumers, is how you explain
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that, despite the reduction in the Conpany's revenue
requi renment request that's now been settled in Phase |

of this proceeding, you' re now proposing a significantly
hi gher demand charge for transportati on service
custoners.

A. Again, | think I would have to verify in
the -- in the nost recent nodel what that rate is
because in -- in the rebuttal nodel, there was a --
there was a math error, and so | would need to verify
what it is in the surrebuttal nmodel to make sure that
that was corrected. It did make the rate too high in
the rebuttal nmodel. So |I would need to verify what it
is in the surrebuttal nodel

Q So it was too high in the rebuttal, but

per haps noderated sonme in surrebuttal ?

A That's correct.
Q. But is it still higher than the proposed
4.6 -- excuse nme -- $4.69 per dekatherm per nmonth val ue?
A | would -- | would have to check
Q Have you presented any assessnent of the bil

i npacts that would result for TSS custonmers with respect
to the increased nonthly demand charge?

A No. There are no -- there was no anal ysis
showi ng a typical bill.

Q Is that sonething that you think would be
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i nportant information for the Conm ssion to be aware of
in this proceedi ng?

A It would be inportant. And let nme back up a
little bit on saying that because there weren't exhibits
showing a typical bill, but that exhibit |I was just
| ooking at, that 5.10, does show the effect of increase
on -- on rates overall. It shows the effect of the --
the increases that are -- that they would see. It just
does not show custoners of different sizes.

And that's where you get into kind of a hard
exhibit to -- to show -- is what is a typical TSS
custoner? Because you've got custoners that are using
varyi ng anmounts of gas. You've got customers with
di fferent ampunts of firmdemand. So saying who -- what
does a typical custoner |ook like, it depends on the
customer and what you would call typical. So it's --
that's why we included that.

Q. Al right. Well, | guess, regardl ess, subject
to check, you and | agree that the rates have gone up --
the proposed rates, | should say -- have gone up in the

i nformati on you' ve provided in your surrebuttal in

Phase Il here as a result of the settled revenue
requi rement in Phase |; correct?
A. Yes. Because there was an increase in the

revenue requirenent, all classes have seen an increase
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in rates.

Q. Okay. Let nme have you turn to page 26 of your
rebuttal testinony.

A Okay.

Q And there you have a discussion of parallel
service provisions.

Do you see that reference?

A Yes.

Q. Have you presented any evidence in this
proceedi ng regardi ng the manner in which other gas
distribution utilities price sales service and

transportation service in other jurisdictions?

A. No. All of my testinmony is just relative to
our Conpany.
Q. Have you ever | ooked at other jurisdictions

and how they set forth sales and transportation service
rates for their custoners?

A. | haven't explored it very deeply. | think
that when there's a -- there's a |ot of things that go
into how one state m ght do things versus another state.
And in -- in our case, | know that we rely a |lot on
precedent and what we've done in the past. That's what
| -- I'"ve said now rmultiple tines.

So it's hard for me to | ook at another state

and to -- to get sone value out of that because | just
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don't know the whole history and, you know, what parties
are concerned about, what -- what has been a hot topic,
or what's been settled in the past. Those ki nds of
things |I just don't know.

Q So you haven't | ooked at any other states that
maybe | ean heavily on precedent |ike you' ve indicated is
done here to see how you conpare to that?

A No.

Q Wul d you agree with me that if a custoner
shifts fromfirmsales service to firmtransportation
service, the Conpany gets greater certainty in terns of
t he demand expected on the system through the nom nation
process?

A. No. | don't think there's nore certainty.

Qur -- our gas supply group has -- has a pretty good
process in place to make sure that they're buying just
enough gas and not too much gas on -- on any given day
based on weat her forecasts and -- and how nuch gas we
typically need to buy for certain situations.

Q So there's no real benefit for the nom nation
process and the transportation service function of the
Conpany?

A There -- there certainly is because our -- our
gas supply group does not purchase gas for those

custoners. They -- they need to -- so their -- their
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nom nati on process is -- is critical -- that they |let us
know how nuch gas they intend to use on a day and how
much we are expecting to bring onto our system

Q. Wth respect to restrictions on the timng for
new transportation custoners, as | viewed it, the shift
to transportation service is only permtted on one date
each year, July 1st; is that correct?

A That's correct.

Q And why is that?

A The -- well, the tariff spells it out that

way. The -- the reason the tariff spells that out that
way i s because the -- of the Conpany's |IRP process.
There are -- we want to make sure that as we are | ooking

at how much gas we need to buy for our custoners, how
much gas, you know, we need to neke sure we have all --
enough supply sources. W need to know how many firm
sal es custonmers we will have.

So if they are following the guidelines in the
tariff and those deadlines that are laid out, that gives
us the informati on we need to properly nodel our -- our
forecasts for the integrated resource plan.

Q And how often do you file your integrated
resource plan?
A W file it early June every year

Q Ckay. So that requires the know edge fromthe
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prior July 1 determ nation of whether you're going to be

a transportation custonmer to be included in your June

IRP filing?

A It's -- it's nmore current than that. So we
need to know -- in the tariff, it tal ks about how they
need to notify the Conpany by -- I'Il say it's February.

There's a date in February that they need to notify us,
and then we have to have certain agreenents in place.
There are -- there are other deadlines that happen
before they become that TS custoner or that
transportation custonmer in July.

So as we are getting their -- their
information during -- between February and March, April,
that gives us the information that we need to plan for
the IRP, which runs from June of one year to May to the
next .

Q. Are there any adjustnents to the IRP during

its 12-nmonths life until the next filing?

A No.
Q It's fixed?
A. It is.

Q Al right. At page 25 of your rebuttal
testinmony -- and we're alnost getting to the end here --
lines 570 through 577, you respond to M. Oiver's

proposal regarding purchase of receivable program
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Correct.

Do you see that reference?

> o >

| do.

Q. Okay. And you state that the Conpany has had
experience with other prograns that involved billing of
service for other entities, and it, quote, "has no
appetite for doing it again," close quote.

Do you see that?
| do.

Q. Can you give nme sone background or reference
as to what those experiences are that you're referring
to here involve?

A. Yes. There was a hone warranty programt hat
t he Conpany has billed for in the past and is getting
ready to step away fromthat, and I don't know if | --
don't want to, again, put words into everybody here's
mout h, but | know it was sonething that everybody agreed
on. I'll just say that.

Q. Okay. Any other exanpl es?

A No. That's the only conpany that the Conpany
has -- that Enbridge, prior Dom nion, has billed for.

Q And are you aware that utilities in other
parts of the country do offer such purchase of
recei vabl es prograns for transportation service

custoners and do so without mjor problens?
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A. | wouldn't be surprised if -- if they did,
but, again, it depends on what -- what is happening in
t hose other states. |If they have -- | nean, we have an
affiliate in Chio that doesn't have -- they don't have a

gas supply teamin the way that we do. They have
custonmer choice where custonmers have to find a supplier,
even residential and firm sales custoners have to find

anot her supplier.

So in -- in a case |like that, a purchase of
recei vabl es program m ght be a different -- night have
different nmerit. 1In -- in ours, |I think that it's a
Conpany -- it's that marketer's responsibility to deal

with problens that they have with their custoners.

Q Ckay. But would you agree with ne that the
home warranty programthat you nentioned a nonent ago is
significantly different than a purchase of receivables
programthat m ght involve transportati on gas service or
sonme ot her type of function that you could use that
program for?

A | think it's a different program But wth
that said, | would still stick with what | said before,
that | think it's the marketers -- part of the marketers
operating their business to -- to manage that -- their
custoners in that process.

Q So, M. Summers, you may need to check on
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this, but am1l correct that in your initial rate design
proposal for the TSS rate schedule -- that increased the
volunetric charges for TSS custoners by a uniform
0.47516 cents per dekat herm

Does that sound famliar?

A. I would have to check. Again, | could go to
Exhibit 5.10 in my direct testinony maybe to verify that
that's what the original proposal was. | don't know if
that's sonmething you want ne to --

Q. Wel |, does that sound vaguely famliar at
| east, subject to check?

A I -- I would have to check.

Q. Okay. So let ne just ask another couple
questions here, and then if you need to go | ook, we can
do that.

Whul d you agree that the current block three
charge for rate schedule TSS is 0.19707 cents per
dekat her nf

A Agai n, subject to check

Q And your initial proposed block three charge
for rate schedule TSS was 0.67223 cents per dekathernf

A. Yes. | -- and | -- | will also say that a | ot

has changed since the Conpany's original proposal, and

in -- in the Conpany's surrebuttal, in nmy surrebuttal,
we agreed with M. Oiver's -- because that woul d have
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been his rebuttal testinony -- where we agreed that
those -- the changes in those block breaks should --
should follow a different percentage increase.

Q. And prior to changing the percentages in the
bl ock rates that you nmentioned you agree with M. O iver
on, would you accept that the Conpany's initial proposed
bl ock three charge for rate schedule TSS represented a
241 percent increase in that charge?

A. Yes, and that's why we changed that in the
surrebuttal .

Q Okay. Thank you. M. Summrers, has the
Conpany provided any quantitative analysis to support
the assessnment of the full costs of the product you
believe EGU s transportation service custoners are
pur chasi ng?

A. Can | get you to restate or just to reask that
guesti on.

Q Sur e.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  We can have it read back
if you' d |like, or he can restate it.
MR. DAVIDSON: |'m happy to restate it,
M . Chai r man.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Thank you.
Q. (BY MR. DAVIDSON) Has the Conpany provided

any quantitative analysis supporting the assessnment of
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what |I'I|l refer to as, quote, "full costs," close quote,
of the product you believe the Conpany's transportation
service custonmers are purchasi ng?

A Yes. The -- the entire cost of service
study -- all of those studies that we've done, whether
it's the 60/40 allocator or the throughput all ocator,
custonmer assistance expense allocator -- all of those
conbi ned provide a very quantitative anal ysis show ng
that the rates charged to all of the custoner cl asses
are -- are reasonable and justified.

Q And woul d you agree with ne that the primry
service transportation service custoners purchase from
the Conpany is the delivery of third-party gas to their
facilities within the Conpany's service territory?

A. Yes. Yes. And that's why in the tariff those
customers are -- the primary rate that is on their
tariff sheets is the distribution non-gas cost.

Q And woul d you al so agree with ne that the
Comm ssion doesn't regulate the cost of acquiring gas by
third-party transportati on custonmers, but they regul ate
the distribution service that you provide?

A. Yes.

Q. I f the Comm ssion doesn't regulate the prices
for the gas that the transportati on service custoners

pay, do you believe that the full cost of the product
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pur chased, including commodity cost, is relevant to the
Commi ssion's determ nation of rates for transportation
cust oners?

A | think it's inmportant for themto consider
what their gas costs are, and the reason | would say
that is because when you're | ooking at a typical sales
customer, you're looking at -- typically, when we show a
typical bill calculation |ike we've shown in the
Conmpany's exhibits, that includes their compdity so the
Commi ssion can see what the total cost to that custoner
for total gas usage woul d be.

So | think it would be -- in tinmes when you're
conpari ng maybe a transportation custonmer to a sales
custoner, you m ght be good to include the -- the cost
of the commodity -- an estimate for that cost.

Q So is it the Conpany's position that
transportation service custoners that purchase gas
supplies at a | ower cost per dekathermthan firm sales
custoners -- this would nean that that's the case --
justifies charging transportation service custonmers nore
for the delivery services they receive fromthe Conpany?

A. No. That's -- that's absolutely not how it
should be. The -- the Conpany doesn't consider where --
where a custonmer gets its commodity supplies. W're

just doing cost of service studies that | ook at the
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total cost of the distribution system and it allocates
t hose costs to the various classes without -- w thout
regard to where the gas is comng from

Q. Okay. Thank you, M. Sunmers.

MR. DAVIDSON: M. Chairman, those are all ny
guesti ons.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Thank you,
M. Davidson. We'Ill turn to Maj or Newt on.

Do you have any cross?

MAJOR NEWION: Briefly, Conm ssioner.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay.

MAJOR NEWION:  And that's not just for the
sake of your neck, M. Sumrers.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MAJOR NEWION:

Q Wuld it be accurate to say that the Conpany
uses design day demand of its custonmers to design the
capacity of the distribution main systenf

A. Yes.

Q And does that design day capacity include the
capacity or commodity volunmes contained in the

t hr oughput factor?

A I think you're looking at two different
things, and 'm-- I'"mgoing to use just a little
scenari o since we're so close to Thanksgiving. |t m ght
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hel p maybe explain this a little bit. But ny famly --
we -- we eat turkey sandw ches all through the year.

And so on our grocery list, there's always deli neat for
buyi ng turkey all throughout the year, and that's kind
of our average turkey throughput. But when | was --
it's a good -- | know. It's a good one.

But -- but preparing for next week, we are --
we are buying a ot nore turkey for -- for Thanksgi ving,
and so that -- that is our -- our peak day turkey that
we have to -- that we have to get. Now, ny kids are
still going to eat turkey sandw ches next week, and so
it's -- it's hard to say that it's -- that the two are
separate. But -- but we still need to be buying average
turkey, but we need to buy peak day turkey as well. So
| think that they are two different -- two different
things that we're | ooking at.

Q. And, M. Summers, | went to public school. So
| really appreciate that.

So if I'"munderstanding you correctly, your
systemis being billed for the anount of processed bird
as well as full bird that you' re going to use throughout
t he year?

A That's correct.
Q. Thank you. That's all my questions.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. |'m going to have
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t hat

printed out -- have that part of the transcript so

we can refer to it in the future.

THE W TNESS: You can franme that on your -- on
your wall.

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: We're going to send it
to you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  And your conment, Maj or
Newt on.

Okay. Let's turn to Ms. Mtchell, see if she

has any redirect.

MS. M TCHELL: Just one set of questions,

Chai rman. Thank you.

REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MS. M TCHELL:

Q. M. Sumrers, do you recall that M. Davidson

was asking you about the adm nistrative charge to

transportati on custoners?

about

A. Yes.
Q. And one of the topics of conversation was

I ncreases in the costs experienced that led to an

increase -- increases in cost experienced by the Conpany

t hat

led to an increase in costs in that adninistrative

charge, rather?

A. Yes.

Q And you nentioned as an exanpl e | abor costs
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had i ncreased because of the EGU separation of -- for
Mount ai nWest Pi peline, as far as having shared a
particul ar group of enployees, and that -- and that
feature was no | onger a shared elenent, and so EQU is
bearing the full costs?

A That's correct.

Q And did the Conpany al so experience an

i ncrease due to no | onger sharing any software costs?

A. Yes.
Q. And -- and what was that software platform
and -- and the change that led to an increase in costs?
A Well, if | remenber the nanme of the
software -- I'"'mgoing to |ook at exhibit -- there's a

| ot of things going on on this desk right now  Software
is for -- is used for the nom nation process. |If | can
get there.

That is called Quorum Software. And |'m

| ooking at Exhibit -- EGU Exhibit 5.09, and that is
row 17.
Q And the costs of that Quorum Software were

originally a shared cost; is that correct?

A That's correct.

Q And they are now -- the costs of that Quorum
Software are now fully borne by EGJ?

A. That's correct.
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Q Ckay. | have nothing further. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay. Does t hose
questions generate any recross?

MR. SNARR: | have a very narrow area of
recross I'd like to explore.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  You may do so, M. Snarr.
Thank you.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MR SNARR:

Q. M. Sumrers, in your rebuttal testinony at
page 5 and foll owi ng over to page 6, you have sone
charts that you have presented that denonstrate the
Phase | settl enent anount, and you've worked through
your nodeling to denonstrate the inpact of -- as | see
it -- enbracing your historic allocation of 60/40 versus
sonme of the other parties' proposals; is that right?

A. That is right.

Q Now, you've answered sonme questions
M . Davi dson propounded to you suggesting that, from
your rebuttal testinmony to your surrebuttal testinony,
t here had been sone tweaking or refining of your nodel
in certain results?

A That's correct.

Q My question is do those refinenments affect the

accuracy or validity of these charts identified on
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page 5 and 67

A The answer to that would be no. There's no
effect to these tables. These are cost of service
results, and the mathematical error was in the rate
design side of the -- of all of the cal cul ati ons.

Q Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Thank you, M. Snarr.

Al right. Let's turn to the Commi ssion.
Conmi ssi oner Clark?

COW SSI ONER CLARK1: | don't have any
questions. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Dare | ask?
Commi ssi oner Harvey, do you have any questions?

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: | do.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Renenber we're
comng up on a lunch break. W're -- we have -- we'l
finish M. Sumrers. Go ahead. Just teasing you.

EXAM NATI ON
BY COW SSI ONER HARVEY:

Q Al'l right. You nentioned that you, | think in
your direct testinony, had tal ked about the natural gas
vehicle programthat you then nmentioned a different
witness -- | believe you said Stephenson?

A Yes.

Q Had tal ked about it later in the case. \Which
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w tness should | address NGV questions to?

A. Oh, that's a fun question. | -- 1 could
pitch, | suppose, but | think if it's sonething that is
a cost allocation question on how -- or maybe how t he
subsidy is allocated, | can address those. |If it's

related to the NGV program and the NGV stations, that

m ght be better for M. Stephenson. But if you want ne
to take a crack at them |'d be happy to try. And if |
can't answer them we --

Q. Well, it's -- one -- one |ine of questioning
is about the stations, and | can certainly defer that.
The other -- yeah. Well, I'll give you a crack at this
one.

Ot her parties' testinony tal ked about that if
the -- what they ternmed the full cost -- | believe this
was DPU s testinony -- was allocated to that class, that
the gall on gas equivalent price, whatever that saying
is, would be about $3.10.

Do you renenber that testinony?

A | do.

Q Do you think it's reasonable for an NGV
customer to pay sonmething that's close to the current

gasoline price?

A | think ultimtely we want the -- the class to
be successful. W want that -- we want to encourage
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people to use that. In the past, we have had that

just -- historically that rate has been | ower than the
price of gasoline. Just -- | think that that is
sonet hi ng that has encouraged people to use that -- that
class or that -- that -- use that product.

Whet her or not it's appropriate for -- for
that price to be equal, | don't know that | have -- |
think it would -- | do think that it would threaten
the -- the success of the class if it was -- if it was
close to -- to gasoline.

Q Okay. Stay with me here. Your answer has

pronpted nore questions.

A Okay.
Q You intimated you' d like that class to be
successful. M line of questioning about is whether

that's possible. The same testinony that supplied that
$3.10 figure also tal ked about the total registrations
of autonobil es capabl e of using natural gas.
Do you recall that?

A. Yes.

Q And that is on a pretty significant downward
trend fromwhat it had been?

A It is, and that was in ny direct testinony.
It shows that downward trend too.

Q Are you aware of any major autonobile
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manuf acturers that are producing a natural gas node
currently in North Anmerica?

A. Not for consuner cars for -- for just consuner
vehicles, but in the transportation sector, | believe
t here are sonme advancenents toward using natural gas
nore and nore. In fact, if you look at -- | don't
know -- the garbage truck that cones around to nmy house
is a natural gas truck, and a lot of UPS trucks are al so
natural gas as well. So the engines that they are using
woul d use natural gas. But the -- the consuner
vehicles -- I'mnot aware of any OEM natural gas
opti ons.

Q. And in the past in the Conpany, under whatever
nane it was at the tine, has tried to pursue -- has
tried to pursue fleet contracts with those | arger
vehicl e users?

A. On -- on that, | mght defer to

M. Stephenson.

Q. Okay.

A | think he m ght know nore on that.

Q Okay. | think the rest of nmy questions are
NGV. I'Ill direct to him

A Okay.

Q. Al right. A couple of questions about the --

that are sonewhat related to the idea of peak versus
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t hroughput and all ocation, those type of things. 1'd
like you to think for a m nute about the many and
various types of equipnent that make up the Enbridge
systemin Uah. And can you identify in just very
general terns what types of equi pnent wear out because
of some type of stress or strain that woul d happen

during a peak day?

A | would say that our -- that our equipnent is
designed to handle a -- what I'"'mgoing to refer to as a
desi gn day.

Q Sure.

A. And -- and the only reason |I'm maki ng that

distinction is that we've had peak day recomendati ons
in prior cases. So our -- our systemis designed to
handl e those -- those design days. | don't know if

there's anything that would wear out as a result of

havi ng that design day. | nean, there -- there -- the
head of the equipment is made to -- to handle those
extremes.

Q So woul d you say for the -- the vast mgjority,

maybe 95 percent of the equi pment on the system that it
wears out because of actual use or just sinply tinme
rat her than a peak day?

A. | would say it's --

Q Or a design day?
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A. When we're looking at it, it mght be a good
guestion to ask an engi neer sonetinme on how -- what does
cause a systemto -- to wear out. | know that there
are -- there are circunstances where tine is an issue,
where, you know, the |onger sonething is in the ground,
the sooner it's going need to be replaced. So tinme is
certainly an issue, but you've also got gas flow ng
through it, and it's being used during that amount of
tinme.

So it's -- | think -- | guess | don't really
have a great answer for you on that. |It's a conbination
of time and of use.

Q. Just to clarify, when you say "use," are you
tal ki ng throughput use?

A. The -- | would say for average throughput use
and -- and design day use. |It's going to be used for
bot h of those.

Q Well, | guess I"'masking is -- is atherm-- a
unit of gas going through a given part of the system --
does it matter if it's going through in the m ddle of
the summer, or does it matter if it's going through on a
desi gn day?

A | don't think it matters.

Q Okay. Thanks.

Al right. One of the itens that was talked
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about in the cross was the possibility of closing the

transportation class to new custoners?

A. That's correct. |It's the TBF cl ass.
Q I'"m sorry. Yes.
A. Just to -- just to bypass firm

Q Just to bypass firm Any thoughts on how an

action like that relates to the utility's obligation to

serve?

A. Yeah. I think that those custoners -- if

there was a bypass -- a custoner that was a bypass risk

that cane to us in between now and whenever that

mor at ori um ended, we would have to tell them that the

rates that are available to them are the other

transportation classes. They could join the TSL cl ass,

or if it was sonething that warranted it, we could

expl ore the option of doing a special contract

with that

custoner, simlar to what we've done with the Lake Side

Power Pl ant.

Q. So your testimony is you would still

view it

that the utility thenselves could still serve that

custonmer, just possibly not in the exact way they want

it?
A. Yeah. I think we could -- we could
probably -- we could absolutely serve that custonmer, and
the rates that are available to themare still tariff
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rates. And -- and assuming that the -- that the TBF
class -- if we do | ook at that over the -- between now
and the next rate case and find a way to make sure that
that class is still protecting other custoners, then
that -- if that custoner qualifies for the TBF cl ass,
then they would be able to join that after the

mor at ori um ended.

Q. Okay. Thank you. |I'd like to talk for just a
m nute about the GS class and the -- the basic service
fee.
Do you renenber that |ine of questioning from
Cross?
A | do.
Q I'd like to talk about the interactions

bet ween the basic service fee, the CET, and the 191
pass-through. So when |I'm | ooking at the GS cl ass,
think there's a revenue requirenent anmount that's
assigned to that class, and whether the revenue
requirement is assigned to that class as part of a basic
service fee or sonething that's going to be guaranteed
recovery through the CET or guaranteed recovery through
the 191, Enbridge is still going to recover that

revenue; is that correct?

A. Yeah. Let ne -- let me speak to it alittle
bit, because the -- when we're in a general rate case --
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| don't know if you have a copy of the tariff in front
of you, but | have a binder full of it.

Q "Il take your word for it.

A But there are -- in the GS class, the -- the
rates that we're looking at in a general rate case is
just the base DNG. So it's the top line of a tariff is
t he base DNG or distribution non-gas. So that is the
anpunt that we are setting rates for today.

The -- the basic service fee is included in
non-gas in those distribution costs, but we -- the way
that we do it is we look at all of the revenue we are
going to collect through the basic service fee and | ook
at the revenue requirenent, the overall revenue
requi renent. Anything that's not collected in the basic
service fee is going to be collected in that base DNG
volunetric rate. The compdity has no -- or the 191
account has no play. It's not used at all in -- in
these distribution rates. That's just for the
comodi ty.

The place that the CET fits in is we're going
to charge these base DNG rates, and we're going to
coll ect revenue from our custoners based on those DNG
rates, and that will be our -- our booked revenue. Then
we conpare that booked revenue amount to our CET revenue

amount, the actual -- the allowed amunt, and we're
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going to see how cl ose those two nunbers are.

And then if we need to give noney back to
custoners, as has been the case for the |ast couple of
years, then we will -- we'll do that through an
anortization rate. |If we need to collect a little bit
nore due to the CET, we would do that through an
anortization rate as well. So it's nore of an -- the
CET is nore of an accounting nmechanism after rates are
set.

Q But the CET ensures that you collect the
required revenue?

A. Right. That's correct.

Q So regardl ess of what |evel the basic service
fee is set, Enbridge would collect what has been

assigned to that class --

A. Yes.

Q -- after the true-up is done?

A. That's correct. So even if -- if the basic
service fees -- and there -- there are jurisdictions
t hat have hi gher basic service fees, even our -- even

our Womnm ng jurisdiction the basic service fee is a
little bit higher, and that just neans that the
volunetric rate will be collecting |ess.

Q So if a Comm ssion had an objective of trying

to encourage conservation, having a | ow basic service
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fee and a relatively higher volunetric rate would
acconplish that?

A. Yes.

Q. And then do you know off the top of your head
how much we currently spend on a -- the energy
ef ficiency prograns?

A They just fired up their new budget, and |

read it. | -- 1 -- | would have to check, Conm ssioner
Harvey. | -- there's a nunber in nmy head that I want to
say.

Q Is it in excess of 20 mllion?

A Yes.

Q Okay.

A Yes.

Q. So currently ratepayers are paying
approximately 20 mllion-plus dollars to encourage

conservation --

A. Yes.
Q. -- through those ot her prograns?
A Yes, sir.

(Reporter clarification.)
Q (BY COWM SSI ONER CLARKHARVEY) One of the
items that occurred during cross was the | ow pressure
sur char ge.

Do you renmenber that?
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A. Yes.
Q. Regardl ess of what you think is a good idea or

a bad idea, is that something Enbridge could do?

A Sol will -- 1 will say that it's not
sonmet hing that we could do with -- with short notice.
Like, if the -- if the order is a Decenber 27th

deadl ine, and then the rates are going to be effective
on January 1st, we would need to know about it well in
advance so that the billing departnment can build that
rate into the system test it, nake sure that we're
assigning the right custonmers to it, and it couldn't --
well, | don't know if we could even do it if we started
today, if I'm being honest.

That's -- you know, in my summry, | was

tal ki ng about how sone of the rate design things are --

are -- issues are easier to -- to bring up than they are
to implement. So we've had the TS custoners, you know,
that was -- that happened in -- it was brought up in one

rate case. W studied it during the offseason, if
that's the right word, and then filed it in the next
case. And | think that that -- that | ow pressure
surcharge would require that same |evel of -- of
analysis to make sure that it's done right.

Q Thank you for that.

This did not cone up in cross, but the change
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to the ten years in weather data -- is that proposa
restricted in terms of how -- where the Conpany woul d
use that shorter period, or would that go across all the

different types of forecasting the Conpany is doing?

A. I|"'mgoing to definitely pitch that one to Dave
Landwar d.

Q Okay.

A He'll be the witness on that.

Q. And then in the testinony but not in the

cross, the idea that the previous rate case -- there was
a -- inthe order it said it would go froma 50 percent
di scount to a 40 percent discount, | believe, for the --

t he bypass?

A. Yes. You've got it.

Q. But then the -- the DPU witness all eged that
t hat had not happened. And | was unclear fromreading
the testinony -- there was certainly a |lot of discussion
about why a discount was relevant, but | was unsure from
reading the testi nony whether that -- if EGU was

agreeing that that hadn't happened or whether they said

it did happen.
A It did definitely happen.
Q It did?
A And | will testify to that. | -- | did not

address that clearly enough in nmy rebuttal. M. Higgins
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did have sone rebuttal testinony that -- that addressed
that, but it's on the -- there's a tab in the nodel.
It's called "COS Input,” and there's a cell that
references how nuch the discount is, and that's used to
cal cul ate the discount as 40 percent as -- as it was
filed.

Q I think I understand this fromthe cross, but
| want to clarify. For the nom nation penalties, did
those go to the custoner or to the nom nator?

A That's a -- that's a good question, because in

the section that M. Davidson asked ne to read, it

actual ly tal ks about how we are -- it eventually needs
to end up at the custonmer level for those -- those
penalties, but the -- the marketer is the one who,

guess, determ nes how that is allocated to their
cust omers.
Q. So EGU assesses the penalty to the -- the

mar keter, and that's who they're collecting it fronf

A You know, |I'mgoing to have to go with | don't
know - -

Q Okay.

A -- on that one.

Q. Al right. And I think my |ast question, you
mentioned in the cross that there was an -- that EGU

agreed with the witness O iver about certain costs.
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Do you renenber that bit of cross?

A The part we agreed with was how much increase
should be in each of the blocks in -- in the -- in the
rate design process. The -- the original proposal had

ki nd of an unequal weighting into each of those bl ocks.
And so the way that we proposed it and what's included
in ny surrebuttal nodel is nore of an equal increase to
each of those bl ocks.

Q. Okay. And so ny question is, as a result of
t hat change, was there any change to the total amount of
cost assigned to that class?

A No.

Q Okay.

A. No change.

Q. That's all the questions | have. Thank you.

EXAM NATI ON

BY PRESI DI NG OFFI CER

Q Just a couple of issues to clarify for ny
benefit, M. Sunmers.

On page 14 of your rebuttal testinony, where
it's discussing the potential splitting of the GS class,
on lines 273 to 275, you stated that "M . Pernichele" --
if I pronounced his nanme right. [It's close --
"correctly pointed out that there are constraints

related to the billing systemthat would make any change
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to the GS class in this case inpossible.”
Coul d you explain -- you -- you adopt that.
You believe that you've set that forth. You believe
that's true?
A. | believe that's true.

Q Wy is that?

A. Yeah. The -- and this is sonmething in our
weekly neetings with the Division. W -- we actually
had the billing department come in to -- to explain this
because there's people |like me -- again, public
educati on maybe is the -- the issue. | don't know.

But -- but innmy mnd, it was -- it would have been

sonething as sinple as a, you know, if the custoner is

this large, then they go to this class of custoners.

But the -- the billing departnent personnel
explained to -- to all of us that it's -- it's not an
if/then statenment in the -- in the system-- that you've

kind of got to nonitor, you got to come up with ways to
nmonitor every nonth, every billing cycle, who has
changed from one class to another.

If -- if somebody, you know, one of the
proposal s was on the basic service fee, and so
there's -- you're constantly nonitoring to see if
sonebody changed a -- you know, they increased their

meter size because maybe they got a pool that they're
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heating so that increased their neter size. You'd have

to |l ook at that every nonth and not just -- there's not
a lot of people maybe that fall into that, but you stil
have to check a mllion custoners every -- every nonth,
every billing cycle to nake sure there aren't any
changes. Those are the kind of |limtations that -- that
are in the billing system-- that the billing system

woul d have.
Now, there's ways to wite new code to -- to

i npl enent those systenms, but it takes a | ot of effort
to -- to make those changes, and | think
M. Pernichele's testinony even pointed out that sone of
the billing departnment is -- is working on changing our
billing systemover to -- to work with Enbridge
accounting, and there's a |l ot of things going on right
there. So those are sone of the l[imtations that --
t hat we have right now

Q Okay. So as | surmse fromthat, your
essential positionis it's too conplex to do in a
short-termto inplenent it in this case?

A Ri ght .

Q Vil e you don't believe that the GS cl ass
shoul d be split, you acknow edge that that is an issue
t hat could be explored in a working group?

A. Absol ut el y.
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Q And you stated that in the -- in pages --
let's see -- on pages 27 through 28 of your testinony.
| just want to explore if -- on a couple of these issues
if a working group is a -- is a feasible way to eval uate
further sonme of these issues that have arisen in this
case.

So you' ve already indicated that you'd be
willing to explore a split in the GS class, that a
wor ki ng group coul d be put together for that.

On line 628 through 630, you say,

"M . Pernichele and M. Daniel both proposed that the
Conpany shoul d explore the TBF cl ass and other |arge use
custoners to make sure custoners are not being
negatively affected by the use of their system?"”

So you indicated then on -- on the sane page,
line 638 through 69, "For exanple, the Conpany woul d be
willing to explore ways to protect custoners and give
| arge custoners a fair rate" in exploring the TBF cl ass
and other |arge use custonmers to nake sure they' re not
negatively affected.

Is that something you think could be done in a
wor ki ng group?

A. Yes.
Q. Okay. And you would support that?
A I woul d.
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Q Ckay. Wth respect to the conservation
enabling tariff, you ve indicated that -- that you
believe that's been fully discussed in past cases. You
see no need for it to be subject to a working group.

If, in fact, the Conm ssion were to consider
seriously the Ofice of Consuner Services' position to
di scontinue the CET or the DPU s position to continue it
but i nplenent additional guardrails, that woul d be
sonet hing that could be kicked down the road to be

considered in a working group, could it not?

A. It could. | -- 1 think that -- there -- and,
actually, | think there was progress made in this case
on the conservation enabling tariff. | think that --

and M. Mendenhal | probably addressed this a little bit
nore, but | think that with the proposal that the

Division witness M. Daigle put out and the surrebuttal

of -- there's a lot of witnesses in this case aren't
there -- the OCS M. Daniel, | think that we're -- we're
in a good place nowto -- to go forward with the

conservation enabling tariff. But if it's sonething
that the Comm ssion still thinks that there's nore
information required, then, sure, let's -- let's work on
it.

Q. Okay. And remnd nme, did the Conpany indicate

that they were anenable to the guardrails which would
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justify M. Daigle?
A ["mgoing to -- I'"'mgoing to |et
M. Mendenhal |l address that if that's -- if that's okay.
Q That's fine.
A. He's nore prepared on that.
Q Perfectly fine. All right.

So other than those that |'ve described, are
there any other issues in this case, given their
conplexity or the divergence of viewpoints of the
parties, that you think could be deferred until the next
rate case and in the nmeantine have a worki ng group
established to consider?

A The only one -- and it's kind of come up here
alittle bit today -- is that |ow pressure surcharge.

| -- I don't think | spelled that out in nmy surrebuttal

testi nony.

Q It's not in there.

A. But in a conversation with the UA -- or
sorry -- with the ANGC this norning, with Commi ssioner

Harvey, that m ght be sonething that also could be
addressed in a working group. And then -- and what
we've done in the past, and | think it worked out well,
is the parties will nmeet, tal k about all of these

i ssues, and there still my be di sagreenment in how to do

sonmet hi ng, but the Conpany will propose what it wants in
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the next rate case, but it also will include the
positions of the other parties.

So when we start the rate case, the Division
al ready has its proposal included in our nodel. The
ANGC, if they wanted -- or Nucor, whoever wants us to
include a | ow pressure surcharge, even if we don't agree

with it, we would include that as an option in our

nodel i ng, and it seems to have worked out pretty well in
t he past.
Q. Okay. Thank you. So a |ow pressure surcharge

coul d be subject to a working group?

A Sure.

Q. Wth respect to NGV cl ass, you suggested on
page 28 of your testinony that the Conpany continues to
eval uate solutions and doesn't see value in assenbling a
wor ki ng group before it has exhausted these efforts.

| assunme one of those efforts is the RFP to --
to sell your stations where NGV class vehicles would be

serviced; is that correct?

A Yeah. We're -- we're continuing to | ook at
different options, and -- and the sale -- outright sale
was -- turned out to be kind of a conplex issue, and so

we're exploring other options right now, but we continue

to -- to look at those. And -- and we would certainly
et the Commi ssion and -- and other regulating parties
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know when we have an updated plan, and | think that
coul d even be outside of a rate case.

Q Okay. But M. Stephenson is the person
woul d probably want to get into the details of questions

on the NGV progranf

A Yes.
Q Is that correct?
A |'"msure he's getting jealous of all the tine

|'"mgetting to spend up here.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Wel |, then, we don't want
to increase his jealousy. So |I'mdone. And there's
nothing else. W'IIl dismss you, M. Summers.

THE W TNESS: Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Thank you very much for
your long suffering to work through --

THE W TNESS: Happy to.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: -- our normal break tine.

Well, I -- | propose that we take a break.
It's probably inhumane to not allow a break before now,
but what | would Iike to do, if possible, is have
Ms. Mtchell put on M. Mendenhall to introduce his
testinony, and we'll see how long his summary takes. W
nm ght then break right after his sunmary and conme back
for cross after -- after lunch. Wuld that be okay?

MS. M TCHELL: That's fine, Chairmn, and
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Ms. Clark will be putting -- introducing M. Mendenhall.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ch, okay. That's great.
Yeah. | just -- | was just |ooking to you because
you're sitting in that seat. Okay. That woul d be
great. But let's take -- let's take a break until a
gquarter to, if we can have a short break, and then we'l
cone back and go for a half hour or so on the clock,
what it takes with M. Mendenhall, and then break for
[ unch.
(Recess taken from 11:35 to 11:48.)
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. We'Ill go back on
the record. Thank you.
Ms. Clark, you can call your next w tness.
MS. NELSON CLARK: Thank you so nmuch. The
Company calls Kelly B. Mendenhal | .
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Wel come, M. Mendenhal | .
KELLY MENDENHALL
was called as a witness, and having been first duly
sworn to tell the truth, testified as foll ows:
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  You may be seated. Thank
you.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. NELSON CLARK:
Q. M. Mendenhal |, would you pl ease state your

full name and busi ness address for the record.
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A. My nanme is Kelly B. Mendenhall, and ny
busi ness address is 333 South State Street, Salt Lake
City, Utah.

Q. And what position do you hold with the
Conpany?

A. |'"mthe vice president of regulatory for
Enbridge Gas Distribution Services.

Q. And, M. Mendenhall, are you the sane Kelly B.
Mendenhal | who submitted direct testinony in this matter

as well as rebuttal testinmony in this matter?

A. | am
Q And was the application and acconpanyi ng
attachnents -- were those all prepared either by you or

under your direction?

A They were.

Q Do you have any corrections to any of those
docunent s?

A. Yes. In ny rebuttal testinony, on page 17 --
give me a nonent to turn there. Actually, correction,
line 17. So in ny rebuttal testinmony, line 17,
referred to M. Fields as M. Matthew Fields. His nane
is M. David Fields. So nmy apologies to M. Fields. |
think I used his mddle name instead of his first namne.

Q. And with that correction, do you adopt the

contents of your prefiled direct and rebuttal testinony
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as well as the contents of the application and its
attachnents as your testinony today?
A | do.

MS. NELSON CLARK: The Conpany noves for the
adm ssion of the application and acconpanyi ng appendi X,
the direct testinony of Kelly B. Mendenhall |abeled EGU
Exhibit 1.0 with acconpanying Exhibits 1.01 through
1.07, the rebuttal testinmony of M. Mendenhall, which is
| abel ed EGU Exhibit 1.0R, with acconpanying exhibits
1.08 and 1.09R

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. |Is there any
objection to the adm ssion of those itens that have j ust
been read of f?

Seei ng none, we'll admt the application,
direct, and rebuttal testinony, the appendi x, and the
exhibits that you referred to and both the direct and
rebuttal into evidence. Thank you.

(Kelly Mendenhall's prefiled testinony
and exhibits and EGU s Application and
Appendi x were admtted into evidence.)

MS. NELSON CLARK: Thank you.

Q (BY M5. NELSON CLARK) M. Mendenhall, would
you pl ease sunmari ze your testinony and the Conpany's
positions on the matters you address.

A. Certainly. In ny testinony, | address one
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Phase Il issue, and that's the issue of the conservation
enabling tariff. And specifically | address the
question of whether the CET has renoved the disincentive
for the Conmpany to pursue energy efficiency prograns.
And on page 21 of ny testinony, | provided evidence that
over the life of the energy efficiency prograns, or the
life of the CET, the Conpany's paid out 1.4 mllion
rebates to custoners, which resulted in about

284 mllion dekathernms of lifetine savings.

Additionally, | talk about the benefit -- |
guess unintended -- but the -- the benefit of revenue
stability both for the custonmer and the Conpany. The
CET has all owed the Conpany to collect the all owed
amount of revenue, and the benefit of this has actually
been in the custoner's favor. W' ve returned
custoners -- to custonmers $45 mllion of over-collected
revenue during the life of the CET.

So there were three wi tnesses that addressed

the CET in their testinmony. The first one is M. --

M. Daigle, and he -- he made three proposals. The
first was to require filing when a bal ance exceeds pl us
or mnus 10 mllion. In ny testinony, | -- | stated

that the tariff already allows flexibility for the
Company to file nmultiple tines a year if -- if they

want, and so we don't believe that this change is
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necessary. It could also be adm nistratively burdensone
if -- if we're required to file nultiple filings just
because we've hit this threshold.

The second proposal was to increase the cap to
.5 percent. The current cap is based on a 2.5 percent
of -- of -- applied to the under-collection.
M. Daigle' s proposing to increase that cap to 5 percent
on both the under-collection and over-collection. And I
didn't address this in testinony, but the Conpany agrees
with this proposal. | actually think it's a nore fair
cal cul ation than what we've had in the past, but |
didn't address it. | just want to put on the record
that we -- we have no issue with that proposal

And then the third proposal was to any tine
there was an excess of 5 percent in -- in the account,
t he CET bal anci ng account, to transfer that to the 191
comodi ty bal anci ng account. And ny testinony expl ained
that actually the CET account is also a 191 bal anci ng
account, so nmoving it fromthe CET 191 account to the
commodity 191 account really doesn't -- doesn't provide
any benefit. |In fact, if anything, it reduces in |ess
transparency because now you're m xing CET revenue wth
commodity revenues. So we woul d propose that that
recomrendati on be deni ed.

And then M. Daigle also addresses that -- the
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transportation inbal ance charge. While that's not a
rate that's -- that's being addressed in this case, this
base rate case, | do in testinony point out that, from
our standpoint, if you go back to 2014, the -- the
charge was really created to help our gas supply group
to manage transportati on and custoner i nbal ances.

Since that tinme, we've added sone additional
tools for those -- those -- those gas supply fol ks that
they al so now have the ability to issue hold burn to
schedul ed quantities and put -- put custoners on
restriction. So because they have nore tools in their
tool kit, as we talked to them about, you know, do we
need to make changes to the TIC, they seened to be

pretty satisfied with the tools they have now. So

for -- for that purpose, we don't think -- we don't
believe that a working group will be necessary on that
i ssue.

The next wi tness that discussed the CET was
M. Daniel, and he originally proposed that the -- the
CET be discontinued based on his analysis that it didn't
seem | i ke energy efficiency prograns were providing a
benefit to custoners anynmore. |In nmy rebuttal testinony,
| provided sone evidence showing that we -- we did a
qui ck analysis of -- of 1,800 custonmers that received

rebates in 2023 and showed that they actually were
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reduci ng usage as a result of those -- those neasures
t hat were inpl enent ed.

Additionally, | talked about the -- the idea

of -- when we've done this in the -- in the past of --
of creating a third -- or having a third-party evaluate
or conme and -- and do an assessnent on all of our rebate

prograns to see actually how cost effective they are and

whet her they are actually hel ping custoners to -- to
save noney and -- and reduce their usage. So |
mentioned that -- that we plan to -- to propose that in
our budget -- our energy efficiency budget. And in

Docket 25-057-22 if you look at that budget, there is a
conponent of that for that third-party assessnent.

So after -- after review ng both ny testinony,
M. Daigle' s testinmony, M. Daniel seens to be content
with the -- the conversation enabling tariff going
forward, so long as M. Daigle' s recommendations are
approved and he | ooks forward to -- to review ng the
results of the third-party eval uati on.

M. Fields had a very simlar testinony to
M. Daniel that -- that a nore conprehensive assessnent
needed to be created, and so |I think I've hopefully
addressed that as well in my testinony.

So to -- | guess to summuarize, the Conpany's

position would be to request the Comm ssion to approve
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t he conservation enabling tariff going forward with
the -- the one recommendation from M. Daigle that the
caps be adjusted, and that concludes ny sunmary.

"' m happy to answer any questions you m ght
have.

MS. NELSON CLARK: M. Mendenhall is now
avai |l abl e for cross-exam nation and al so questions from
t he Comm ssi on.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Thank you. We'l
get an estimate of cross to the extent people have it to
deci de how | ong we' re goi ng.

Let's turn, first of all, to Ms. Schm d.

M5. SCHM D: The Division has no cross for
M . Mendenhal |

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay. M. Snarr?

MR. SNARR: The OCS has no cross.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. M. Russell, do you
have an estinmate of how | ong you have on cross?

MR. RUSSELL: It will be real brief.
Regrettably, I have no cross for M. Mendenhall.

PRESI DI NG OFFICER:  Ch, well. | --

THE WTNESS: |I'mon a roll here.

PRESI DING OFFICER: | -- | just -- | just
assuned there would be cross-exani nati on conparing you

to M. Harvey. I'msorry. That was uncalled for
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think but -- okay. Al right. Wit a second here.
|'"ve got to nake sure | got everybody.

So this is M. Cook?

MR. COOK: Nucor has no cross.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Al'l right. M. Davidson,
Cross?

MR. DAVI DSON: No questions for
M. Mendenhall. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  ©Oh, boy. Okay.
Maj or Nel son [sic], down to you.

MAJOR NEWION: The FEA al so has no questi ons.

PRESI DI NG OFFICER: |I'm-- that's great.
Okay. We'll turn then to the Conm ssion. There's no
need for redirect, so no cross.

COW SSI ONER CLARK: | have no questions.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Renenber that you're
keepi ng about 75 people hungry, Commi ssioner Harvey.
Okay. Al right. Comm ssioner Harvey, do you have any
guestions?

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: G ven the -- given that
the parties seemto be in agreenent and that it may be a
thing that they tal k about in the working group, |l
wait until another proceeding for ny questions.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. All right. So

M. Mendenhall, | don't have any questions of you, but
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before | let you sit down, | just want to bring this
issue up for all of counsel and for all the parties
here. There are a nunber of itens -- you've referred to
sone -- where it appears that you reached agreenment with
some or all of the parties. | think it wuld be -- and
there are others that will cone up. | think it would be
very hel pful to the Conm ssion -- and |'m happy to talk
to you about the timng on this -- but for you to,
Counsel, give us essentially a matrix of issues that are
in Phase Il that are now agreed upon. That will help us

in drafting the order.

So just -- the issues that have been raised in
the -- in the -- in Phase Il of the case -- there are
some sub issues, | would call them or sonme nmgajor
i ssues, even, where there is -- an agreenment has been

reached either anong everybody or anong, for exanple,
the Division and the O fice who have reached agreenent
with you on sone issues.

So | guess the question is -- and there may be
others that come up in the course of this hearing. 1'd

like to get sone idea of when you think you could

provide us that -- that |ist.
MS. NELSON CLARK: | think after the lunch
hour, we can give you an estimate. | would -- | would

suggest that the Conpany take a first crack and

Page 117

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N NN N NN R R R R R R R R R
O »h W N P O © O N O O M~ W N Rk O

Phase Il Hearing - November 18, 2025

circulate it.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay.

MS. NELSON CLARK: But -- but 1'd like to --
to confer with my clients to see how long that first
crack m ght take.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Yeah. | think that's
great. We'll -- we'll talk about it after lunch for
just a nonent to see what your estinmate is. And then,
obvi ously for us, the sooner the better it would be
to -- to know what issues we are narrowing in this case.
And -- and it may be in the course of -- today and
tonorrow there may be others that the parties do cone to
an agreenent on.

Ckay. So | have no ot her questions,

M. Mendenhall. We'Ill -- we'll excuse you. Thank you
for being here, and good |uck in your new position in
Tor ont o.

THE W TNESS: Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  All right. [It's
M. Stephenson next. Let's go ahead and do his summary,
and -- and we'll see what we get on cross-exani nation.

MS. M TCHELL: Okay.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  All right. Is that -- is
t hat back to you, Ms. Mtchell? Are you --

MS. M TCHELL: Yes, it is. Thank you,
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Chai r man.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay.
M5. M TCHELL: The Conpany calls Jordan
St ephenson.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Wel cone,
M. Stephenson. Wuld you raise your right armto the
squar e.
JORDAN STEPHENSON
was called as a wtness, and having been first duly
sworn to tell the truth, testified as foll ows:
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Thank you. You may be
seat ed.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. M TCHELL:

Q M. Stephenson, would you pl ease state your
full name and busi ness address for the record.

A. Yes. It's Jordan Stephenson at 333 South
State, Salt Lake City, Ut ah.

Q What position do you hold with the Conpany?

A. Manager of regul ation.

Q Did you file direct testinony in this matter
mar ked as EGU Exhibit 4.0 with acconpanyi ng exhibits
4.01 through 4.33 and rebuttal testinony marked as EGU
Exhi bit 4.0R?

A. Yes, | did.
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Q Do you adopt the contents of those docunents
as your testinony on Phase Il issues today?
A. Yes.

MS. M TCHELL: Your Honor, M. Stephenson's
direct testinony, as it related to Phase | issues, was
admtted into evidence at the hearing on October 22nd,
2025. For today's purposes, the Conmpany noves for
adm ssion of that direct testinony and acconpanyi ng
exhibits on Phase Il issues only and al so
M. Stephenson's rebuttal testinony.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: And the rebuttal testinony
is limted to Phase Il issues?

M5. M TCHELL: That's correct.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Any objections?

Okay. Seeing none, we'll admt
M. Stephenson's direct testinony and exhibits as it
relates to Phase Il and his rebuttal testinony.

(Jordan Stephenson's prefiled testinony
and exhibits were admtted into
evi dence.)

MS. M TCHELL: Thank you, M. Chairnan.

Q (BY MS. M TCHELL) WM. Stephenson, will you
pl ease sunmarize your testinony in this matter regarding
Phase 1I1.

A Yes, | wll.
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Chair and Conmm ssioners, thank you for the
opportunity to address today -- to speak today. M
testi nony addresses concerns raised by several parties
in this docket regarding the natural gas vehicle, or
NGV, class cost of service and the associ ated subsi dy
proposed by the Conpany in this case. The NGV subsi dy
is outlined in ny rebuttal testinony, and as filed in
our direct application, should remain in place for the
2026 test period. This subsidy is just, reasonable, and
in the public interest.

The NGV stations continue to provide clean,
reliable fuel and help to reduce em ssions throughout
the state. While electrification is advancing, as has
been pointed out by parties in this docket, natural gas
itself still plays a critical role for certain vehicle
cl asses where electrification is costly or inpractical.

Utah's |l egislature recognized this role and
codified it in Uah Code Section 54-4-13.4, which
directs the Commission to find NGV infrastructure
expendi tures as just, reasonable -- just and reasonable
when specific conditions are net.

And | outlined these conditions in ny
testinmony, but just to reiterate, our investnments do
nmeet each of those conditions. They were prudently

incurred. They have never exceeded the $5 mllion
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annual spending cap specified in that -- in that
statute. They are in service, and they continue to neet
t he revenue objectives, which NGV stations -- with NGV
station users currently generating 70 percent of the
cl ass revenue requirenent.

My testinmony also clarifies that the costs
included in this case are for the construction and
mai nt enance of the Conpany's Legacy -- | -- 1 refer to
them as our Legacy NGV stations. W are not proposing
an expansion to or growmh in the NGV cl ass
infrastructure or adding new stations, and we haven't
i ncl uded any additional capital expenditures through the
forecasted test period through 2026. These station --
the | ast station was added in 2012, and all of our fleet
of stations were built under strong policy and
regul atory support at a time of grow ng demand. Past
deci si ons should be judged based on what was known then,
not on today's market shifts or volatility and -- and
usage.

Finally, I did want to nention, regarding the
RFP nentioned in the direct testinony of M. Sumers,
t he Conpany did explore that option to sell the stations
and ultimately decided against it due to hurdles that we
identified at the time that M. Summers has nentioned

previously. The Conpany continues to eval uate options
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in operating the stations, but in the neantine, we
remain conmtted to operating the stations for custoners
who rely on them and to supporting Utah's energy and
transportation goals.

I n conclusion, the NGV subsidy is consistent
with | egislative guidance and remains in the public
i nterest and should be approved as originally filed by
t he Conpany, and this concludes nmy summary.

M5. M TCHELL: M. Stephenson is available for
cross-exam nati on and questions fromthe Comm ssion.
Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Thank you,

Ms. Mtchell.

Thank you, M. Stephenson, for your testinony.

Let's see how far we get. | may end up
calling a lunch break partway through this, but if it
goes like with M. Mendenhall, maybe we'l|l get through
this, but not as optimstic on this one.

Al right. M. Schm d, any questions?

M5. SCHM D: No questions.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: That's one down.

M. Snarr?

MR. SNARR: Two down. No questi ons.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay. M. Russell.

MR. RUSSELL: No questions.
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PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Oh, wow. This is just
gr eat.

Okay. M. Cook?

MR. COOK: No questions.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: M . Davi dson?

MR. DAVI DSON: No questions, M. Chairman.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Maj or Nel son [sic]?

MAJOR NEWION: No questions, Conm ssioner.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Let's turn to
Conmi ssi oner Cl ark.

COW SSI ONER CLARK: | have a question for
you.

EXAM NATI ON

BY COW SSI ONER CLARK:

Q. Coul d you el aborate on your phrase "the
significant hurdles that were encountered in attenpting
to or contenplating issuing an RFP for disposition of
the stations"?

A Yeah. So -- so the hurdles -- there are
several different kinds of hurdles, but, you know, as --
as the operator of these stations for years, Enbridge
has a certain reputation, and -- and we were concerned
about the inpact of the market potentially -- of
Enbridge signaling to the market that it would sell. So

there -- there were sone market concerns and what may
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happen with the existing custoners that rely on the
stations, and we weren't quite sure how to address sone
of those hurdl es.

And then the others were that we have
contracted relationships with property owners throughout
the state, all over our service territory where these --
where these stations are |ocated. Each of those
contracts have their own ternms associated with them and,
you know, what we're obligated to do.

As we explored that RFP -- and | can't get
into real specific details on those -- just to say that
their -- each -- each contract had its owm terms, and to
put this into a clean, tiny package to be able to
rel ease an RFP in a way we thought would -- would be
nost effective was just challenging to work through.

So --
Q. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. M. Stephenson,
think I may just ask you a couple questions if |I can do
it fast, and then we'll see how |long M. Harvey has.

EXAM NATI ON
BY PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:
Q. So nmy understanding fromthe Division's
testinony is there's only about 2,200 natural gas --

conpressed natural gas vehicles on the road in Utah now
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Ils that -- do you agree with that?
A. So |l would -- | would agree that there --
there's 2,200 that 1'd -- I'd say are registered in the

state of Utah. W know that our stations provided fuel
to alot of traffic that conmes through the state that
may not be captured in the 2,200. So | guess | would
just maybe clarify maybe it's not 2,200 on the road in
Ut ah, but specifically registered within the state. So
with that clarification, I would agree. | don't have
any concerns about the 2,200 --

Q Okay. All right.

A -- nunber.

Q Thank you. Do you know how many of those
vehicl es are owned by Enbridge as part of its fleet of
vehi cl es?

A. Not off the top of ny head.

Q. Can you give nme just a rough estimte? |
mean, is it nore than 500? Modre than a thousand?

A Probably | ess than 500.

Okay. Let's just see if we can range it any
nore. Less than 250? Do you have any idea?

A | -- 1 really don't. | would have to check,
but I -- 1'd be happy to if we're going to have a break.
That's something | could track down. That's sonething

could track down.
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Q Yeah. Let us know t hat.

A Yeah.
Q And then you've indicated that there have been
efforts to -- | don't know if you indicated this or if

it was M. Summers' testinony, but | think you did say
that there's certain fleet vehicles you ve worked, |
assune, with other entities. For exanple, | think maybe
t he UTA has some natural gas powered buses; is that
correct?

A Yep. That's one exanple of several.

Q Can you give nme other --

A Sure. Yeah. We -- we're kind of the backbone
for fuel at the airports. So if you've ever parked and
taken a shuttle, you' ve likely used our services. W --
we know UPS, FedEx, Matheson Trucking, just to name a
few. South Jordan School District has a pretty |arge
program

Q Wth their school buses, |I'm assum ng?

A School buses, right. Yep. And -- and that
goes to the thene of the day for our stations is that
we're in a period of transition. | think a |lot of the
testinony in this case is focused on the transition on
the electrification side and that switch over, but we're
even seeing a transition in the types of vehicles using

our stations.
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W -- we had originally built this backbone
out to serve kind of |ightweight vehicles, and it has
been iterated in this docket that -- that those vehicles
are going away or dwindling. 1In the neantinme, we're
seeing kind of a transition over to |arger class
vehicl es and fleet vehicles, and we don't -- we don't
see and expect that to follow the sane trend as -- as
the |ightweight vehicles at this point. So --

Q. Okay. Wth respect to the Iightweight
vehi cl es, the passenger autonobile or truck, car or
truck, for exanple -- you haven't built a station to
manage this since 2012. So it's been 13 years. The
anmount of natural gas usage has declined, by ny
under st andi ng, by about 75 percent; is that accurate?

A Yes.

Q Ckay. |If the Comm ssion were to adopt rates
that are based upon full cost of service, what would be
the result in the cost to -- the equival ent cost for
natural gas as conpared to gasoline at the punp?

A Yeah. Thank you. | -- it has been noted, |
think, in the testinmony of Ms. Orton in this case $3.10.
| -- 1 did refresh that nunber just recently because we
had a few shifts in our -- in our rates at that tine,
and | conme up with 3.20, just over $3.20.

Q Ckay. Al right. That's helpful. And you've
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i ndicated that you're still -- that -- it was stated in
M. Sumrers' testinony, | believe, you didn't see a need
to have a working group because you were still exploring

ot her options, at least until those options are
exhaust ed.

Can you tell us what other options you are
exploring? 1s there any of that that's not sensitive
comrercial information that you can share?

A Some of the specifics -- there are specifics
that would be privileged at this point, and we hope to
see novenent on -- on sone of those, but generally at a
high |l evel, you know, |'ve been involved with these
di scussions for years on the stations, and right now I
think everything's on the table. W don't have anything
concrete to share at this point in time, but, you know,
we obviously have reviewed an IRP to sell -- package up
and sell the stations. W've |ooked at partnering with
| arge commercial fleets. W' ve even had a
transportation service through the stations for a little
bit of tinme that was kind of unique in an effort to
bol ster demand at the stations.

So we're also exploring -- you know, the
renewabl e fuel standard offers credits for renewabl e
natural gas, which 100 percent of the fuel com ng

t hrough our stations is now comng fromrenewabl e

Page 129

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N oo o A~ W N P

N NN N NN P P P PR PP PR
ag A W N P O © 00O N OO O~ W N B+, O

Phase Il Hearing - November 18, 2025

resources, renewable natural gas, and we're | ooking at
ways -- there's prograns that help nonetize through
there that we're evaluating. So all -- all options are
on the table. Some we're a little farther along than
ot hers but nothing necessarily concrete that | could
share today.
Q Okay. Well, even that is helpful. |

appreci ate that.

So woul d you just give nme your best estinate

of how many of those 2,000 vehicles that are

Ut ah- based -- take your word that there's sone who
transit through Utah and use your stations -- how many
of those -- give nme an estimate -- are not fleet

vehicl es, used by the airport, UTA, by the schoo
districts, or by Enbridge itself? How many vehicles do
you think are currently on the road -- if there hasn't
been new OEM natural gas systens for -- for private
custonmer trucks or passenger cars, how many vehicles
woul d you say are on the road that are owned by, you
know, Joe down at the end of the street type of thing,

private citizens?

A. Resi denti al vehicl es?
Q Yes, residential vehicles.
A. So just contextually, I -- 1 know that Honda

was the | ast manufacturer to take their vehicle off the
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line as -- as a direct, and that was 2014, | want to
say. So it's been 11 years. | would be -- | would be
guessing, but |I'massum ng, the percentage of

residential vehicles on the road driving today of the

2,200 is probably less than -- | don't know --

30 percent. But that's -- that's -- |I'm not supposed to
guess on the stand, but if you're asking ny -- ny

opi nion, and | don't have any -- any analysis or nunbers
to -- to back that up, just based on the age of vehicles
t hat woul d have been an option, I'"'m-- |I'mguessing it's

definitely a mnority.

Q Yeah. There's -- there is a point where
functi onal obsol escence, people want a new vehicle.
That's a factor in driving consunmer behavior. So your
best estimate -- | understand that's all it is -- is
under 30 percent are -- are owned by residential users?

Okay. Geat. Thank you. That was a shake of
your head yes?

A Yes.

Q Audi bly for the transcript.

PRESI DI NG OFFICER:  AIl right. | guess we'l
see -- M. Harvey, how many -- how many m nutes do you
think you'll need for cross -- or not cross --

guestions, although sonetines it could be construed as

cross. All right. How many m nutes do you think you
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need? You good? Are you under ten mnutes, or do you
think you're nore than that?

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: Probably under ten.

PRESI DI NG OFFICER: AIl right. Let's -- we're
going -- let's -- we're going to try to finish you,
M. Stephenson. W' Il apol ogize for everybody. W're
taking a late lunch, but let's let M. Harvey finish.

M. Harvey.

EXAM NATI ON
BY COWM SSI ONER HARVEY:
Q Good afternoon, but I will try to be quick.

Do you have any idea how nmuch rate base is
left that hasn't been depreciated for these assets?

A | believe M. Summers has an exhibit that
shows the cost of service sunmary by class, and | want
to say we're around $18 nmillion of gross investnent.
The net depreciated anount -- let ne see if | can find
that reference real quick, and I can tell you. Let ne
get out the big binder. Let's see.

MS. NELSON CLARK: For convenience, |'d offer

that 5.07 may be the exhibit you're | ooking for.

A. 5.07. | was close. | was at 5.10. So
| ooking at Exhibit 5.07, if -- if you'll turn there,
you'll see the rate base shows up nm dway down on that
exhibit. The gross investnent's 19.8 mllion, and the
Page 132

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N NN N NN R R R R R R R R R
O »h W N P O © O N O O M~ W N Rk O

Phase Il Hearing - November 18, 2025

net -- net plant is 19. 2.
Now, I will -- 1 will say this gets into a
little bit of the nuance of our nodeling. W do an
al |l ocation of depreciation expense rather than have a
direct assignnent by class. So | think the way it works
is each class receives an allocation of accunul at ed
depreci ati on based on that class's share of gross plant
and service. So | think that's the allocated anount.
The -- the actual depreciation, | think, is
hi gher than what we're seeing here.
Q (BY COW SSI ONER HARVEY) | -- | would hope.
That's not nuch depreciation in 15 years. All right.
So when we're tal king about the subsidy to
this class, I"'massuming -- and tell nme if I'"mright
here -- we've got whatever is assigned for depreciation
costs, whatever operations and mai ntenance expenses are
i ncurred, whatever the commpdity cost is m nus whatever
revenue was generated. |Is -- is that the basic
accounting for this class?
A Sorry. WII you repeat one nore tine. | was
catching up with you. So the way the subsidy is
cal cul at ed.
Q. Well, just -- just what it's covering. So
there -- there's sone amobunt of depreciation?

A. Ch, yeah, yeah
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Q
A

Q

Hopefully nore than that chart is inplying?
Ri ght .

And then you've got operation and maintenance

costs to actually run the stations, take care of thenf

A
Q

comodi ty
A
Q
A
Q
A

i nterrupt
Q
A.

Yep.

Maki ng repairs. And then you got the
cost?

Yes.

You' re not getting the gas for free?
Ri ght .

If you are, that's great.

And in this case, what -- | didn't nean to
you.

No. And -- and then m nus that, the revenue?
Right. So in this case, the subsidy is -- is

cal cul ated to cover the distribution non-gas portion of

costs. So what it includes is all the operating and

mai nt enance expense associated with the class, the --

the rate base piece, net of depreciation, m ssing other

expenses,
al | ocat ed,

i ke that.

such as depreciation expense, which is also

so that's | ower, O&M ot her taxes, things

So all of those distribution non-gas costs are

tallied up, and then the subsidy covers the difference

bet ween what it will take to recover all of those versus
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what we think the class will generate on its own.

Q. So when you say that the revenue is covering
70 percent -- | believe that's the nunber you said
earlier?

A. Correct.

Q That's 70 percent of that total anount?
A. Yes.
Q. Okay. Just trying to see if | can drop sone
of these.
So there are a nunber of private -- not
private -- nonutility owned both conpressed natural gas

and renewabl e natural gas stations in the state;
correct?

A Correct.

Q. How does the price that Enbridge charges its
custonmers conpare to those establishnments' price?

A. So there's private stations that are publicly
avail able. There are nmaybe one or two of those, subject
to check. And in neetings that 1've been involved wth
with those fol ks, they generally tend to match up with
what we're charging at our stations. So -- setting
commpdity aside. So often times they're transportation
service custonmers. So they're out finding their own
source of gas, but setting the commodity portion aside,

| think they target kind of the price at the punp
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simlar to the utility price.

Q. Okay. So the subsidy that the rest of the
custoner base is supplying to this class -- is it
Enbri dge's position, then, that that should be
i ncreasing conpared to the |ast rate case, or
decreasi ng, or remaining constant?

A. So the subsidy -- actually, we have not had a
subsidy in place since the 2013 general rate case. W
actually renoved it at that tine because volunmes grew to
the point where it was sel f-sustaining, and we have not
i ntroduced a subsidy in 2016 or 2019 or 2022. Those are
three cases we filed in between then and now.

| don't know what the |evel of the subsidy had
been prior to the discontinued -- the discontinuation in
2013. So | wouldn't be able to conpare necessarily this
that we're proposing here with -- with where it was in
t he past w thout checking on that.
Q That -- and that's fine. But the class wasn't

covering all of its costs in the past, was it?

A No. Not prior to that 2013 general rate case.
Q No, I'msaying for the |ast three cases you
ment i oned.
A Oh, you're right. You're right. It has
not -- has not kept up with its full -- with its ful
costs.
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Q And whether we nane it a subsidy or nane it a
shortfall or whatever, is -- is this proposal to make
that, whatever it is, bigger? |1s that what the

Conmpany' s proposi ng?

A. Sol -- 1 think -- 1 -- 1 see what you're
saying. | would say the revenue requirenment of the
class isn't growing over tine. | don't see that as the

trend. The revenue we're collecting from existing
custonmers is decreasing. So that -- that's where the
size of that subsidy is going to fluctuate.

To the extent that the trend we' ve seen over

the | ast decade were to continue, | would anticipate
the -- the size of that subsidy would continue to follow
that trend until these are depreciated off, like you

mentioned. There is depreciation to consider with
these. So --

Q. And then | ast one, what is -- accounting for
both commodity and DNG what is Enbridge's current
gasol i ne gal l on equival ent price that they're chargi ng?

A | think we're right around $2.40 and sone
change, probably 2.43 or 4. | don't know exactly, but
ri ght around the $2.40 mark.

Q. Okay. Thank you.

EXAM NATI ON
111
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BY PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:

Q. One final question, M. Stephenson. How | ong
do you think that the NGV class should conti nue?

A Well, I -- my -- ny opinion on that is that it
continues to serve the public interest. | know that the
vehicles we see on the road now are not as high in
guantity as we've seen in the past, but I think it's
shifted to where it's larger class vehicles driving
around on the road. And | think, to answer your
guestion, as long as there are custoners who -- who need
the service and are supporting -- going back to the
statute that | tal ked about, there are safeguards around
this class in that 50 percent revenue threshol d.
think that's a good check.

| would say if we -- if we were to fall bel ow
50 percent, it would probably be worth revisiting how
much -- you know, how much of that subsidy is -- is
justifiable at that point, but I think, you know, as

| ong as we do have custonmers using the stations and

generati ng enough revenues to stay within those -- those
boundaries set forth in that statute. |'mnot sure how
long that may be. |'m hoping that we're -- we're going

to find a floor and the declining trend won't conti nue,

but -- but I -- 1 would just say as long -- as long as
we're nmeeting those -- you know, those netrics or
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those -- those guidelines in the statute.
Q. You're not prepared to agree to what the
Di vi sion proposed that -- that it should be phased out

by the next rate case or at |east that the subsidy

shoul d be phased out by the next rate case and that they

should -- NGV class should be based on full cost of
service?

A |'"m not ready to agree -- | -- and | do
appreciate the -- | guess the clarification between the

NGV cl ass as a whol e and the subsidy itself.

Q They are two different things.

A. I think it would just depend on the vol unes
we're seeing and the support we're seeing fromthe users
at the station. So as | sit here today, it's hard for
me to put atine line on it.

Q Do you think it requires a statutory change
for the Conm ssion to end the NGV cl ass?

A. To end the class as a whol e, neaning

di sconti nue service at the stations altogether?

Q Yeah.
A. | -- | don't know that our service at the
stations relies on the statute as nuch as the -- the

subsidy itself relies on the statute.
Q. Well, let's ask it a different way. Do you

think it requires a statutory change to elimnate the
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subsi dy?

A | think you could elimnate it through a
statutory change. | don't know that it's required.

Q Okay.

A. | think that -- like | mentioned, there are

saf eguards around the subsidy. There's the four

points -- four checks in place.
Q Ri ght .
A. | think if we -- if we were to fail to neet

those thresholds at a certain point, then the statute
al ready includes kind of an off-ranp off subsidy.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Okay. All right.

That's -- that's all. W'Il|l excuse you. Thank you,
M. Stephenson.

Al right. W'Ill break for lunch. Should we
say be back here by a quarter to 2:00? Does that give
you enough tinme to get whatever you need? An hour and
15 m nutes essentially. Does that work?

Seei ng no objection, we'll be in recess.

(Recess taken from 12:33 to 1:47.)

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Let's go back on

the record. | think our next witness wll be
M. Landward. Who's -- who's conducting? M. C ark.
MS. NELSON CLARK: | got it.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ms. C ark.
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MS. NELSON CLARK: Thank you so nuch. The
Company cal | s Dave Landward -- David Landward.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: M . Landward, wel cone.
Rai se your right armto the square.
DAVI D LANDWARD
was called as a witness, and having been first duly
sworn to tell the truth, testified as foll ows:
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Thank you. You nmay be
seat ed.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. NELSON CLARK:

Q M. Landward, would you pl ease state your nane
and busi ness address for the record.

A. Yes. M nane is David Christian Landward. My
busi ness address is 333 South State Street in Salt Lake
City, Utah.

Q. What position do you hold with the Conpany?

A. I|'"'ma regulatory consultant with the Conpany.

Q. M. Landward, are you the sanme David Landward
who submtted prefiled testinony in this matter,
prefiled direct testinony |abeled Exhibit 6.0 with
acconpanyi ng Exhibit 6.01 through 6.03 as well as
rebuttal testinony |abeled EGQU Exhibit 6. 0R and EGU
Exhibit 6.0R -- 6.0SR?

A. Yes, | am
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Q And did you also submt with your rebutta
testinony Exhibit 6.04R?

A Yes, | did.

Q. And do you adopt the contents -- well, let ne
ask you this. Do you have any changes to any of those
document s?

A | do have one minor correction. In ny
surrebuttal testinony -- that would be Exhibit 6.0R
page 6 on |line 120, the |l ast phrase in that |ine reads
"the last 14 years have established.” | believe that
should read "the last 11 years have established."”

Q And with -- and with that correction,

M. Landward, do you adopt the contents of all these
docunents as your testinony today?

A. Yes. | do.

MS. NELSON CLARK: The Conpany noves for the
exhibit -- the adm ssion of EGU Exhibit 6.0 with
acconpanyi ng Exhibits 6.01 through 6.03, EGU
Exhi bit 6.0R as corrected with acconpanyi ng Exhibit EGU
6. 04R and EGQU Exhibit 6.0SR

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Thank you. Is
there any objection to the adm ssion of the testinony
and exhi bits?

Okay. We'll admt M. Landward's direct,

rebuttal, and surrebuttal with the acconpanyi ng exhibits
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into evidence.
(David Landward's prefiled testinony and
exhibits were admtted into evidence.)
MS. NELSON CLARK: Thank you.

Q (BY MS. NELSON CLARK) M. Landward, can you
pl ease summarize the testinmony you' ve offered in this
matter.

A Certainly. M. Chairman, conm ssioners, thank
you for the opportunity to testify before you today. M
testi nony addresses the Conpany's proposed adjustnment to
normal heating degree day used for its weather
normal i zati on. The goal of normalization of any kind is
bal ance, finding a m ddle ground through the
unpredi ctabl e spi kes and di ps that create noise in data.

The best baroneter the Conpany has to assess
bal ance in weather normalization is the history of the
aggregate nonthly results. As | note in ny direct
testinony, it has becone clear in those results that
normal i zati on has fallen out of bal ance and has been
favoring the positive side for sone tinme, neaning usage
is being adjusted upward to neet a normal heating
degree days' target nuch nore often than it's being
adj ust ed downward. The Conpany has al so observed a
concerning recurrence of |arge variances between act ual

and currently established normal heating degree days.
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The reason is sinple. The normalization is
chewing up to a baseline that is sitting above the |evel
wher e average heating degree days have been residing
since the | ast baseline was set in the 2019 general rate
case. A newreset is needed to realign and rebal ance to
find that m ddl e ground again.

Bear in mnd that weather normalization al ways
targets history. It's always backward | ooking.

Loweri ng the normal baseline by updating the history it
references does not assune that colder periods in the
future will not occur. If the current trend reverses
course and col der periods becone npbre conmpn, a course
correction will be nmade through a subsequent baseline
reset. Normal heating degree days are never permnmanent.
Such adjustnents are part of the weather normalization
operation anong all wutilities that use it.

Del ayi ng an adjustnent to allow further study
on this issue will not offer additional clarity to the
problemor its remedy. It will only unnecessarily
postpone its resolution. Wen a vehicle's wheels are
out of alignment, causing the steering to favor one
direction, the driver doesn't postpone realignnment
hoping future roads will curve in the direction of the
drift. The effect is real and tangible and -- and the

solution is known.

Page 144

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N NN N NN R R R R R R R R R
O »h W N P O © O N O O M~ W N Rk O

Phase Il Hearing - November 18, 2025

The effect of a m saligned normalization
baseline is also real and tangible. Suspending action
to undertake further enpirical anal yses needl essly
del ays the realignment for three nore years. Unless
heati ng degree days reverse course, the |arge and
consi stent upward adj ustnents may only persist.

" ve docunented the problem and |I've proposed
the remedy. The Commi ssion should view this as prudent,
ongoi ng mai nt enance of the Conpany's | ong-running and
wel | - est abl i shed weat her normalizati on mechani sm which
will afford greater alignment and billing normalization
adjustnents, and it will put weather normalized
forecasts closer to where the normal usage m dpoi nt
currently lives.

Regardi ng the Division's concerns about
resource constraints connected to the Conpany's custoner
| evel weat her normalization billing adjustrment, | sinply
rem nd the Conm ssion that this nethod has been in place
for decades, inplenmented and naintained by conpetent and
experienced professionals. The Conpany is happy to
arrange interviews of sone of those experts by Division
personnel who would like to better understand software
and hardware configurations, testing, and other neasures
in place to assure efficient -- ensure efficient

execution and preservation of data accuracy and
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i ntegrity.

This concludes ny sunmary. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Thank you very nuch. |
appreciate that, M. Landward.

MS. NELSON CLARK: M. Landward is avail able
for cross-exam nation and any questions fromthe
Comm ssi on.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Thank you, M. C ark.

Ms. Schmi d?

M5. SCHM D: No questions.

PRESI DI NG OFFICER: M. Snarr?

MR. SNARR: No questions.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. M. Russell?

MR. RUSSELL: No questions. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. M. Cook? Got to
have that nenorized by now. | apol ogi ze.

MR. COOK: No questions.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  AlIl right. Let's see.
We'll go to M. Davidson.

MR. DAVI DSON: No questions, M. Chairmn.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. And Maj or Nel son

[sic]?
MAJOR NEWION: It's Newton, but no questions.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Newton. | knew that. |
wote it down wong here. | apol ogize.
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MAJOR NEWION:  |'ve been called worse,
Commi ssi oner.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: | can't read ny own
handwiting, or I wote it down wrong.

Al right. Well, I"'mstarting to get nore
optimstic we're going to get through here today. |
just want to say one thing. | appreciate the call for
anal ogi es that you and M. Sunmmers both used. W have
t he process versus full, bird versus your autonobile
anal ogy. That was very hel pful.

Okay. We'll turn to Conm ssioner Cl ark.

EXAM NATI ON
BY COW SSI ONER CLARK:

Q | just have a question or two.

A. Yes, sir.

Q In the Conpany's |ong history of tracking
and -- and normalizing, has the Comm ssion approved

adjustnents like this in the past in either direction?

A Yes, sir. The last adjustnment was approved in
the 2019 rate case. | -- | site that docket nunber in
my direct testinony. | don't recall it off the top of

my head. There have been adjustnents prior to the

normal heating degree baseline predating that as well.

| don't know -- | don't think the spacing has been
regular. | think it's evaluated ongoi ng when it appears
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t hat adjustnent is needed as proposed by the Conpany.

Q. That's ny only question. Thanks.

A Yes, sir.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Commi ssi oner
Har vey.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COWM SSI ONER HARVEY:

Q. To start a followup on Comm ssioner Clark's
guestion, when you say adjustnents before, is that just
based on running the cal culation, or is that changi ng
t he nunber of years?

A. The first time the Conpany has altered the
l ength of -- of the -- of the wi ndow used to derive
nor mal heating degree days was the | ast adjustnment,
whi ch occurred in the 2019 docket. That shortened the
l ength from 30 years, which the Conpany had been using,
to 20 years. Prior to that, the Conpany had
consi stently used a 30-year | ength.

(Reporter clarification.)

Q (BY COW SSI ONER HARVEY) And then just one
clarification question. You had nentioned in responding
to the other parties in testinony that EGU uses an
i ndi vi dual customer |evel adjustnent. And just -- this
is based on ny recollection to see if | understand it

right, but when you say individual custoner, | think
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that neans it's -- it's done for each account, but it's
based on a | arge nunber of nonitoring stations around
the territory that are recording the tenperature at
specific locations and el evations?

A. Yes, sir. That's correct. W -- we enploy in
our Utah service territory eight weather zones, the
| argest being Salt Lake City weat her zone, which takes
its data fromthe National Wather Service station
| ocated at the Salt Lake City International Airport.
Each custonmer, based on the geographic l|ocation, is
assigned to one of those eight weather zones, and then
t he heating degree days and the actual heating
degree days used to nmake that nornmalization adjustnent
for that custonmer are taken fromthat specific zone.

Q. So there's eight adjustnents that are applied,
and one of those eight is applied to each individual
cust oner ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay. And then ny understanding is if a
custonmer wants to, they can opt out of weather
normal i zati on?

A Yep.

Q If they |l et the Conpany know?

A. Yes, sir. That's correct.
Q

Ckay. That's all the questions |I have.
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Thanks.

A. Thank you, sir.

EXAM NATI ON

BY PRESI DI NG OFFI CER

Q M. Landward, the Ofice didn't ask any
guestions on this, but it's ny understanding that --
that -- was it -- | can't now renenber whether it was
the OFfice or Division proposed using a 15-year versus a
10-year baseline. VWhy do you think that the 15-year
baseline is not an appropriate conprom se between the
current 20 and the 10 you're proposing?

A. The 15-year wi ndow continues to absorb higher
| evel s of heating degree days that | would cal
residual, that were nore frequent in the past but have
not been frequent in -- in the last, 11, 10 years. So
when we're trying to establish an average, which is what

normal heating degree days essentially are, we want to

make sure that average best represents the -- the
popul ation -- well, the menbers of the sanple. And the
heating -- heating degree days w ndow that we select to

derive that average is essentially a sanple of
conti nuous data points.

But if you can imagine not treating themas a
continuous tinme |ine of data points but arranging them

in sort of a -- a bell curve, ideally, you would like to
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see themdistributed fairly equitably across the m ddle
where the average sits right in the mddle, and then
they' re distributed fairly evenly fromside to side.
That's the ideal. Data in the real world is never
beautifully perfect like that, but that's -- that's what
we' re hoping for.

The problemw th a 15-year length or |onger is
that it |eaves some -- let's call them stragglers out on
the tail of the high side. And that -- that pulls the
average over in their direction, and the result is that
average continues to kind of hover on top of where the
maj ority of the other nenbers are. And the result of
that as -- as we've been observing, is that nore often
t han not, weather normalization is reaching upward, it's
adj usti ng usage upward, insisting that even though the
| ast 11 years heating degree days have been down here,
customers have acclimted their usage to that |evel.

We still want to represent those in the
outerlying years, and so we want to keep noving up, up,
as if they -- as if those outer years with higher |evels
of heating degrees are still at play when they haven't
really been. Twenty years certainly does that to a
| arger extent. Fifteen years is a nmarginal inprovenment
because those hi gher heating degree days have | ess of an

i nfluence, but they're still there.
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In -- in the exhibit that | offered in ny
rebuttal testinony, | -- | gave a visualization of that
and showed how even the 15-year line still keeps that --

that average a little closer to the top than I would
like to see it. It is an inprovenent because we -- we
see that it's approaching the m ddl e where we get sone
poi nts that are above the normal |ine and sone that are
below. | think it was about four points above and si X
poi nts bel ow.

The 10-year nornal doesn't |let those -- those
outerlying higher levels that aren't really playing
anynore influence. So it -- it sits in the mddle

better and represents the mpjority of the nmenbers of

t hat sanple of the last 11 years better. It's --
then -- then you have -- | believe in that graph, you
got -- and these are annual heating degree days total as

you' ve got six that are above the normal, meani ng col der

t han normal, and about four that are sitting bel ow

So that's what I'mtrying to target in weather
normal i zation. Now, | wanted -- | want it to be in the
mddle. I1t's never going to be perfect, but if | have

to err on the side of a little bias one side or the
other, | would prefer to see nore downward adjustnents
to usage than upwards because | think that's what

custoners would prefer to see. They would rather see
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their bills going down for an adjustnent than goi ng up.
So that's -- that's why I'm favoring ten

because I -- | -- | don't want those outer years that

just don't seemto be typical of what we're seeing

t hese days, what custoners are used to adjusting their

thernostat to. | don't want them to have undue

i nfl uence.

Q (BY PRESI DI NG OFFICER) So is one of the
factors, then, upon which you base this 10-year baseline
t he existence of clinmate change that the earth, the
United States, that Utah is becom ng warner overtine?

A. Wll, I'm-- I"'monly -- I"monly observing
what's been happening. |I'm-- I'mnot trying to inply
or infer anything about the climte per se in shortening
this window |I'mjust trying to be responsive to a
changing -- a changing target that's throwng ny -- ny
normal i zation off. So it's nore of a pragmatic matter.

Il -- 1 don't know what will happen in the
future if we -- if we -- if we're -- if we've entered a
period that's going to be a permanent shift downward,
that we're always going to have warnmer heating seasons
t han what we're used to 20, 30 years ago, if that may
reverse course, and it nmay be a nm x.

But weat her normalization is -- the practice

of it is like driving with the rearview mrror. |'m
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al ways | ooki ng backwards, what's been happeni ng, what
does the road | ook |ike that | just passed, and if you

can i magine we were at a higher level, and then we cane

down a hill, and then we've been on a flat road that
seens to still be -- have a downward gradient, and that
hill is getting further and further in the rearview

mrror, so it's clear to nme that the road now that |'m

on has -- has changed fromwhat it was m | es back.
And so | -- and if you think of weather
normal i zation in that context, | need to adjust to the

road that I'mon now and assune that since that's where

|'"mat today, that's -- that's ny best gauge for weather
normal i zation. | always know what the past is with
100 percent certainty. | don't know what the future is,

but a long persistent set of heating degree days at a
certain level is -- tells nme that that's what custoners
are seeing, and that's what | should be normalizing to.
That's what normal for them

Ten years may not be a good normal for a
met eor ol ogi st or a climtol ogi st who wants a broader
view. It may not be good for someone | ooking for a
broader range for even some natural gas applications,
i ke gas procurement where -- where they want to see

what is possible even on the extrenes. What's the worst

t hat can happen?
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Il -- 1 want to see what's typical for the
custoners. That's what I'mcalling normal in the
context, and that's -- that's what | want to hit.

What ' s happening with the climate -- what's driving it,
| -- 1 don't know. |'m not naking any judgnments on
that. 1'I1l leave that to the scientists. I'm-- I'min
a reactionary state as -- as a weather normalization
anal yst.

Q. Okay. That's very helpful. | appreciate that

further explanation.

One | ast question. You -- you -- you said you
woul d be willing to arrange experts to sit down with the
Division if they were interested in that. |Is that an

offer that you' ve already nade in the past, or has that
not been nade previously?
(Reporter clarification.)

A. | did extend that offer innmy -- in ny
rebuttal testinony. | -- 1 -- | appreciate the
Division's interest in wanting to understand all of this
better. That's hel pful to us as a Conpany anytinme we

can engage with the Division on what they're doing, and

they can -- they can get deeper insights and understand
t he mechani cs under the hood. So, yes, that -- that --
we' d be happy to have themsit down with billing system
specialists and -- and information technol ogy
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specialists that can answer those questions, talk about
the tests they do, the upgrades they nmake to facilitate
this custonmer |evel weather normalization and make sure
it's working correctly every tine for every custoner.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Thank you for that
additional clarification. | think that's it,
M . Landwar d.

THE W TNESS: Ckay.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Thank you. You may be
excused.

THE W TNESS: Thank you, sir.

(Di scussion held offed record.)

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. We'Ill go back on
the record. Thank you, M. Landward.

The last witness for EGU is Jordan ParKks.
Okay. And that's Ms. Barrett.

MS. BARRETT: Yes. The Conpany calls Jordan
Par ks.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: COkay. M. Parks, will you
rai se your right armto the square.

JORDAN PARKS
was called as a wtness, and having been first duly
sworn to tell the truth, testified as foll ows:
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Thank you. You may be

seat ed.
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Ms. Barrett.
MS. BARRETT: Thank you.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. BARRETT:
Q M. Parks, please state your full nanme and
busi ness address for the record.
A Jordan Parks, 333 South State Street, Salt
Lake City.
Q. And what position do you hold with the
Conpany?
A. Regul atory anal yst.
Q Did you file direct testinony in this matter
mar ked as EGU 7.0 with acconpanyi ng Exhibits 7.01
t hrough 7.04, rebuttal testinony marked as EGU 7.0R with
Exhi bits 7.05R through 7.07R, and surrebuttal testinony
marked as 7.0SR with Exhibits 7.08SR t hrough 7. 10SR?
A Yes. | did.
Q And do you adopt the contents of those
docunents as your testinony today?
A Yes.
MS. BARRETT: The Conpany noves for the
adm ssion of M. Park's direct, rebuttal, and
surrebuttal testinmony with the along with the
acconpanyi ng exhi bits.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. |Is there any
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obj ection?

Okay. Wthout objection, we'll receive the
direct, rebuttal, and surrebuttal testinony of M. Parks
with acconpanying exhibits into evidence.

(Jordan Parks's prefiled testinony and
exhibits were admtted into evidence.)
Q (BY MS. BARRETT) M. Parks, can you pl ease
summari ze your testinony in this matter.
A Sure. Good afternoon, M. Chair and
conm ssioners. Thank you for the opportunity to speak
today. The purpose of nmy testinony and exhibits were to
cl ean up and propose nodifications to the Conpany's
tariff. M summary consists of the six applicable
changes being proposed in this docket.

Nunmber one is in section of 5.01 of the
tariff. The Conpany is proposing to add a section to
address transportation custoners who failed to nom nate
gas supply for 15 or nore days in a nonth. After a
grace period, custoners who continue to fail to make
nom nations wll be noved to a sales rate schedul e which
will allow the Conpany to plan for the custoner's needed
supply. No parties objected to this change.

Nurmber two is in Section 5.04 through 5.06 of
the tariff. The Conpany proposes addi ng maxi nrum usage

thresholds to the TSS and TSM r at e schedul es. The
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tariff currently only addresses custoner usage falling
bel ow t he m ni mum usage | evel. This change prevents
custonmers with usage far outside the intended range from
continuing to receive service on an inappropriate rate
schedule. No parties objected to this change.

Number three is in Section 8.03 of the tariff.
The Conpany is proposing to nodify |anguage to clarify
the eligibility and adm nistration of the energy
assi stance program OCS wi tness Janes Daniel raised
concerns in his direct testinony regarding the clarity
of the | anguage related to energy assistance eligibility
and the heat assistance program The Conpany wor ked
col | aboratively with the OCS, and | proposed revised
| anguage in ny surrebuttal testinony to better reflect
program i ntent and address those concerns. No other
parties objected it this change.

Number four is in Section 8.09 of the tariff.
The Conpany is proposing to renove the two way carrying
charge for interest expense on the GreenTherm Bal anci ng
Account. This change ensures that custoner
contributions to the GreenTherm program go directly
towards the purchase of RNG green attributes and not for
covering interest expense. No parties objected to this
change.

Number five is in Section 9.02 of the tariff.
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EGU has encountered a nunber of |arge scale projects
that require significant up-front engineering costs.
Sonetines after the Conpany has incurred these costs,
the custonmer opts not to proceed with the project. In
order to place the burden of these costs on the
requesting customer, the Conpany proposes to require
up-front paynment for the prelimnary engi neering work on
projects over $50 million or that require contracting
engi neering support.

In direct testinmony, DPU witness Eric Oton
recomrended changi ng the | anguage in the tariff -- in
the tariff to clearly define the type of projects that
will require the up-front paynment. He recomends
changi ng the | anguage from open quote, "particularly

conpl ex,"” close quote, to, open quote, "requires
contracted engi neering support,” close quote, which nore
accurately represents the type of projects the Conpany
woul d require an up-front paynment for prelimnary
engi neering work. | agreed to this change in ny
rebuttal testinony.

In direct testinony, OCS wi tness Dani el
recomended changi ng the | anguage in the tariff from
open quote, "the Conpany may require the custoner to

make an up-front paynment,"” close quote, to, open quote,

"the Conpany shall -- shall require the custoner to nake
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an up-front paynent," close quote. In ny rebuttal
testinony, | agreed with this change.

The OCS wi tness Dani el also recommended
| owering the 50 mllion systeminprovenent threshold for
requiring up-front payment to 10 mllion. In ny
rebuttal testinony, | disagreed with this change because
| owering the threshold to 10 mlIlion would significantly
expand the number of projects subject to this
requi rement, including many that are routine and use
up-front engineering effort as m ninmal and not overly
burdensome. This could increase adm nistrative overhead
for the Conpany and woul d | engthen the overall project
siting process for potential custoners.

Nunber six, the last change is in
Section 10.02 of the tariff. This revision clarifies
how t he Muni ci pal Energy Sales and Use Tax is cal cul ated
and references the applicable statute. No parties
obj ected this change.

Lastly, other proposed changes throughout the
tariff include rewording, updated references,
punctuation, formatting, and grammatical corrections
that do not effect the substance of the tariff. Changes
related to the distribution non-gas rates and
adm ni strative charge have been addressed in

M. Summers' testinony. The proposals are just,
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reasonabl e, and in the public interest.

for cross-

Thi s concl udes ny sunmary.
MS. BARRETT: And M. Parks is now avail abl e
exam nati on and Conm ssion's questions.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Thank you,

Ms. Barrett.

Force O fi
correctly.

any questi

Al right. Let's turn to Ms. Schm d.
M5. SCHM D: No questions.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Okay. M. Snarr?
MR. SNARR: No questi ons.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:. Okay. M. Russell?
MR. RUSSELL: No questions. Thank you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  All right. M. Cook?
COW SSI ONER HARVEY: No questi ons.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: M. Davi dson?
MR. DAVI DSON: No questions, Comm ssioner.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  And the United States Air
cer deserves to have her nanme pronounced

| apol ogize for last tinme. Major Newt on,
ons?
MAJOR NEWION: No, sir. Thank you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Thank you very nuch.
Al right. Let's turn to Comm ssioner Clark.
COW SSI ONER CLARK: | have no questi ons.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Conm ssi oner Harvey?
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COW SSI ONER HARVEY: |'mruining the record.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Sonehow | knew t hat.
EXAM NATI ON

BY COWM SSI ONER HARVEY:

Q Just a couple of quick questions on the
GreenTherm i nterest expense changes you nentioned.

A. Yeah.

Q Those expenses are integral to the program

being able to function, are they not? The GreenTherm

pr ogr anf?

A. The GreenTherm program -- those -- sorry.
Coul d you --

Q The -- the interest charges occurring because
there's a balance -- is that integral to the program

bei ng able to function?

A. No. It's not.

Q But the interests are on assets that the
program needs to function, aren't they?

A That's correct. | think the reason -- the
mai n reason behind this tariff change is the Conpany
recently purchased a very | arge anount of these green
attributes, which will result in the account being
significantly under-collected for a significant anmount
of time. |In order for that interest expense not to

build up a significant amount, the Conpany is proposing
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to renpove that. And so the contributions made by
customers are nore directly used for actual green
attri butes and not for covering interest expense.

Q. But the interest expense still exists;
correct? The Conpany spent the noney, and it assunes
it's going to get its interest upon it?

A. Yes.

Q. So that -- the proposed tariff change woul d
just shift that interest expense from people that use
that particular programto the general custoners of
Enbri dge?

A. From ny understanding, it would not. That

burden woul d just be on the Conpany.

Q Is there a way we can clarify that to be sure?
A Yes. | can check on that.

Q Ckay.

A. Subj ect to check.

Q Okay. Thanks. That's all | have.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Thank you, M. Parks.
Just one question with respect to clarification.
EXAM NATI ON
BY PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:
Q. You agree with the Division to change the
| anguage and that | anguage was to require contracted

engi neering support, but the -- also the issue was
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rai sed whether the threshold would be | owered from

$50 million to $10 million in funds. Was that raised in
your surrebuttal? And what I'mgetting at is have you
had an opportunity to talk with the Division about that
threshold and your rationale for not |owering the
threshold to the 10 mllion that they proposed?

A. Yeah. | addressed that in my rebuttal
testinony, the reasoni ng behind not |owering that
threshold from50 to ten

Q. Okay. In your rebuttal, not in your
surrebuttal testinony?

A That's correct.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. All right. | think
t hat answers ny question, then.

Okay. You may be excused. Thank you.

THE W TNESS: Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFICER:  All right. VWiile we're
nmoving to the next party, to the Division, let's address
the issue | raised right before lunch, and M. Park's
testinony is a good exanple where you've reached
agreenment with respect to sone of the tariff |anguage,
and -- and | raise the issue with respect to the
expl anation on why would it |ower the threshold from--
you would not agree to a |lower threshold the Division

requested. There's an exanple of an issue that's
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out st andi ng, and we understand still -- may be a
di sagreenent on.

But what we'd like to know is what issues --
and give us a matrix of not all the parties have
agreed -- if all the parties have agreed, you can just
say this issue is resolved. |[If not, who has agreed to
it and who hasn't. You were going to talk about that.

I think we need to get an idea of when we
anticipate we could get a docunent to that effect. You
did have a chance to tal k about that issue over
[unchtinme --

MS. NELSON CLARK: We did.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: -- Ms. Cl ark.

MS. NELSON CLARK: Yeah. We did. And to be
clear, what the Conm ssion is |ooking for is a matrix
that reflects where we have agreenent.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Yes.

MS. NELSON CLARK: And not necessarily a

conprehensive list of all issues and positions.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: No, no, no. W -- | think
we -- we know the issues we've got.

MS. NELSON CLARK: Ckay. We can have a draft
of matrix out to parties out by the end of this week.
And -- | -- 1 -- I'"mreluctant to commt the parties to

a turnaround tinme, but we certainly could prepare a
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first crack at that by the end of this week and have it
to everyone.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: As to the issues which you
think are resol ved?

MS. NELSON CLARK: That's correct.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. And then the
parties to turn that around -- it's Thanksgivi ng week
com ng up, but we al so have a Decenber 27th deadline on
an order. \What do you think if Ms. Clark does the --
takes the | aboring nore on identifying issues that have
been agreed to, could it be done by Wdnesday before --
maybe of sone of you taking the whole week off.

Can we -- can we have a |ist before
Thanksgi vi ng? What do you think?

"' m 1 ooking around for shakes of the head,

acqui escence or non- acqui escence.

MR. RUSSELL: Yeah. | was going to suggest
Wednesday. That -- that would work for nme and for UAE.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: COkay. | think that --

does that work for us?
COW SSI ONER CLARK:  Yeabh.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: It works for us.
MR. SNARR: The -- the Ofice can do
Wednesday.
M5. SCHM D: The Division can too.
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PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. | see no objections
to that. | think we're okay, and nost of those are
going to be issues that | think you probably agreed with
the Division or the Ofice on maybe, not with the other
parties as nmuch. But | think that would be hel pful for
us as we plow forward with drafting an order. So as we
just heard from M. Parks, we've got sone of those

i ssues that have been laid out already in his testinony.

So -- and that doesn't preclude you from
seeing if there are other issues -- sub issues that can
be resol ved, and maybe not, but that 50 m|lion,

10 mllion threshold was one that seenmed to nme perhaps

there could be a discussion about that but perhaps not.

Ckay. We will proceed now with the w tnesses
for the Division of Public Uilities, and they have five
W t nesses as well.

And, remnd ne, Ms. Schm d, which w tnesses
you' re covering.

M5. SCHMD: | am covering M. Daigle,
M. Fields, and M. Pernichele. M. Gecu is presenting
the Ortons.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: The Ortons. Ckay. Are
the Ortons related? | assune that neans --

M5. SCHM D: No, not to ny know edge.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  No? Okay. | -- 1 just
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was aski ng because of the way you phrased it, | was
curious. Ckay.
Well, then we'll turn to Ms. Schmd. No?
We'll turn to -- we're going to turn to M. G ecu.
M. Oton is the first witness that you have listed; is
that -- is that correct?
MR. GRECU. That's correct.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Okay. M. Oton, if
you'll come to the stand and be sworn.
M. Oton, welcome. WII you raise your right
armto the square.
THE W TNESS: Thank you.
ERI C ORTON
was called as a witness, and having been first duly
sworn to tell the truth, testified as foll ows:
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Thank you very nuch. You
may be seat ed.
M. Gecu, we'll turn to you now.
MR. GRECU. Thank you.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR GRECU:
Q M. Oton, could you please state and spel
your nanme for the record.
A My name is Eric Orton. That's E-r-i-c

Or-t-o-n.
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Q And by whom are you enpl oyed, and what is your

position?

A. "' m enpl oyed by the Utah Division of Public
Uilities. | ama utility technical consultant.

Q And what is your business address?

A 160 East 300 South in Salt Lake here in the
Heber Wells buil di ng.

Q. And have you participated in this docket on
behal f of the Division?

A | have.

Q Did you review the Conpany's application,
supporting exhibits, and prefiled testinony along with
the other parties' testinony in this docket?

A Yes. | did.

Q. Have you al so reviewed responses to data

requests in this proceedi ng?

A. Yes. | have.
Q Did you prepare and cause to be filed your
Phase |11 direct testinony and Phase Il surrebuttal

testi nony?

A Yes.
Q Do you have any changes or corrections to
t hose filings?
A No. They're accurate.
If | asked you the same questions posed in
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that testinony today, would you provide the sane
answers?

A | woul d.

Q. And do you adopt the contents of your prefiled
testinony as part of your testinony today?

A. Yes.

MR GRECU: 1'd like to nove to admt
M. Oton's Phase Il direct testinmony marked as DPU
Exhi bit Nunmber 1.0DIR and his Phase Il surrebuttal
testi nony marked as DPU Exhi bit Nunber 1.0SR

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. W thout objection,
your direct and surrebuttal testinony are admtted.

(Eric Oton's prefiled testinmony was
admtted into evidence.)

MR. GRECU: Thank you.

Q (BY MR GRECU) M. Oton, do you have a
summary to share today?

A | do.

Q. Pl ease proceed.

A Thank you.

Today | will present the Division's
recommendations regarding certain tariff changes
proposed by the Conpany. 1In this Phase Il, the Division
has carried out an extensive investigation and anal ysis

of the Conpany's cost of service and rate design
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proposals and its proposed tariff |anguage, reviewed the
testinony from other parties, and conducted consi derable
di scovery. The Division reached the concl usions
presented in its testinony based on its analysis of this
i nformati on.

The purpose of ny summary today is to provide
t he reasons why the Conmm ssion should adopt the
recommendations presented in ny Phase |1l testinony.

My first recommendation is that the Comm ssion
adopt the Conpany's proposal to delete duplicative
| anguage in the tariff Section 8.03 related to | anguage
under the energy assistance eligibility heading. The
Company initially proposed to elimnate the | anguage in
item nunber two, which states, quote, "Custoners that
recei ve HEAT assi stance during the heating season wll
be exenpt fromthe energy assistance rate in that sane
heati ng season,"” unquot e.

Because it is duplicative of existing |anguage
item nunber three that explains, quote, "Custonmers who
receive the credit will not be assessed the energy
assi stant charge for 12 nonths follow ng qualification,"”
unquote, | noted that it is not necessary to have both
provi sions that address the same concern.

In surrebuttal, Conpany w tness Jordan Parks

testified that EQU has worked with the O fice of

Page 172

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N oo o A~ W N P

N NN N NN P P P PR PP PR
ag A W N P O © 00O N OO O~ W N B+, O

Phase Il Hearing - November 18, 2025

Consuner Services on changing additional |anguage in
this section to address sone of OCS' broader concerns,
and he presented the revised | anguage in his exhibits
with his surrebuttal testinmony. The Division has
revi ewed these revised | anguage in the tariff and the
testi nony and supports the direction it is going and
does not oppose these changes.

Second, | recomend that the Comm ssion adopt
t he Conpany's proposal to renove the interest expense
for the under-collected bal ance and the renewabl e
natural gas G eenTherm programin tariff Section 9.0 --
l"msorry -- 8.09. The Conpany states that it has
purchased enough RNG credits to have a sufficient
reserve that should | ast several years at the current
rate of custonmer watt purchases.

Under the current tariff, RNG custonmers pay
I nterest on the balance of RNG credits, which is
currently large and requires RNG subscribers to incur
I nt erest expense on a bal ance they didn't cause. It is
unj ust and unreasonable to burden RNG custonmers with
this charge until the pool of RNG credits is bal anced
with the RNG bl ock purchases.

My third recomendation is for the Commi ssion
to adopt the Conpany's request to include | anguage in

tariff Section 9.02 that requires custonmers who request
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cost estimates for large scale projects to pay up front

for the prelimnary engi neering costs of the project.

In ny Phase Il direct testinony, | noted that | agreed

with the concept of Enbridges' proposed tariff |anguage

to require up-front paynment for prelimnary their

engi neering costs if the project would require system

i mprovenment costs equal to or greater than $50 mllion

or if the project was, quote, "conplex," unquote.
However, | thought the | anguage was too vague

to be effective, and I recommended that the word

"compl ex" be replaced with, quote, "requires contracted

engi neering support,"” unquote.

In his rebuttal testinony, M. Parks agreed
with nmy recomendati on and woul d quote, "nore accurately
represent the types of projects for which the Conpany
may require an up-front paynent for prelimnary
engi neering work," unquote.

Therefore, | recommend that the Conm ssion
adopt ny proposed | anguage as represented in M. Park's
rebuttal testinony.

Finally, | recomrend the Conm ssion adopt the
Conmpany' s proposed change to tariff Section 10.02 that
clarifies that the Municipal Energy Sales and Use Tax is

to be cal culated and charged in accordance with the

applicable state statute.

Page 174

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N NN N NN R R R R R R R R R
O »h W N P O © O N O O M~ W N Rk O

Phase Il Hearing - November 18, 2025

That concl udes the summary of ny testinony.
However, | also reconmmend that the Conm ssion adopt the
recommendations offered in the prefiled testinony of the
ot her Division witnesses Annette Orton, Matt Pernichele,
Ryan Dai gl e, and David Fields. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Thank you, M. Oton.

MR. GRECU: Thank you. The witness is now
avai |l abl e for cross-exanm nati on and questions fromthe
Conmi ssi on.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: COkay. Let's go first to
EGU

MS. NELSON CLARK: No questions fromthe
Company. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. No questions from
t he Company.

Al right. 1"l -- 1"Il turn to you in case
you have anything, M. Snarr.

MR. SNARR: No questi ons.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. M. Russell?

MR. RUSSELL: No questions. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. M. Cook?

MR. COOK: No questions.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: M. Davi dson?

MR. DAVI DSON: No questions, M. Chair.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Maj or Newt on?
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MAJOR NEWION:  No questi ons.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Conmmi ssi oner Cl ark?

COW SSI ONER CLARK: No questi ons.
M. Oton.

Thank you,

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Conm ssi oner Harvey?

EXAM NATI ON
BY COWM SSI ONER HARVEY:

Q. Just a quick followup on the G eenTherm

program agai n.

A. Sur e.

Q You heard my exchange with the Conpany's

w tness a few nonents ago on that progranf?

A. Yes, sir. I did.

Q G ven that |I'muncertain what type of

followup I mght get back fromthe Conpany on that, |

was just curious if you had, in your analysi

S,

any

i nformati on on what m ght happen to that interest

expense if the Conpany sharehol ders weren't
or if you could generate any |ight on that?

A The only light I can shine is what

adopting it

t hi nk you

al ready have determ ned, and that is | asked the Conpany

the same question. What happens to that interest

expense? They told ne and then showed nme the anount. |

forget the anmount, but they told ne that they would be

eating that expense.
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Q Thanks. That's very hel pful.
EXAM NATI ON
BY PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:

Q. Okay. M. Oton, | -- 1| only have one
question to foll ow up on what | asked M. Parks. If |
characterized his testinony as they -- they want to keep
the threshold for paying for contracted engi neering

support at $50 mIlion, and you proposed that that be

lowered to $10 million. What's that?
Is that -- is that correct?
A. I think it was the opposite of that.
Q | say -- what did | say? How did | say it?

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: You said it was -- you
said he did, but it's the OCS that proposed the 10.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: | have M. Orton -- did
you -- did you -- | apologize. This was a -- okay.
Q (BY PRESI DI NG OFFI CER) So what do you think
about that, M. Oton? I|I'mtrying to cover nmy own --
COW SSI ONER CLARK: Good recovery.
A l"d like to come up with sone sort of turkey
driving a car anal ogy.
Q. (BY PRESI DI NG OFFI CER) That woul d be good.
You have no opinion on that?
A. | don't know what the proper anount is.

don't know if it's 10 mllion or 40 mllion or
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20 mllion. | don't have an answer.
Q Okay. Al right. W'll ask that of the
O fice's witness then. | apologize for that. That's
all I had. You may be excused.
THE W TNESS: Thank you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Thank you, M. Orton.
Okay. We'll next go to -- this will be also
M. Gecu. This is Annette Oton.
Ms. Orton, will you cone to the stand.
Wel cone to the stand. Thank you. Wbuld you raise your
right armto the square.
ANNETTE ORTON
was called as a wtness, and having been first duly
sworn to tell the truth, testified as foll ows:
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: You may be seat ed.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR GRECU:
Q Good afternoon.
A Good afternoon.
Q Ms. Orton, could you please state and spell
your nane for the record.
A. My nanme is Annette Orton. It's spelled
A-n-n-e-t-t-e Or-t-o-n.
Q By whom are you enpl oyed, and what is your

position?
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A. " m enpl oyed by the Utah Division of Public
Uilities, and | ama utility anal yst.

Q And what is your business address?

A It is 160 East 300 South, Salt Lake City,

Ut ah.

Q And have you participated in this docket on
behal f of the Division?

A Yes.

Q. And did you review the Conpany's application,
supporting exhibits, and prefiled testinmony along with
the other parties' testinony in this docket?

A Yes.

Q. And you al so reviewed responses to data

requests in this proceedi ng?

A. Yes.
Q Did you prepare and cause to be filed your
Phase |11 direct testinony and Phase Il surrebuttal

testi nony?

A. Yes.

Q And do you have any changes or corrections to
t hose filings?

A No.

Q. And if | asked you the sane questions proposed

in that testinony today, would you provide the sane

answers?
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A. Yes.
Q. Do you adopt the contents of your prefiled

testinony as part of your testinony today?

A Yes.
MR. GRECU. At this point, I'd like to nove to
admt Ms. Oton's Phase Il direct testinony marked as

DPU Exhi bit Nunmber 8.0DI R and her surrebuttal testinony
mar ked as DPU Exhi bit 8.0SR
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Seeing no
obj ection, we'll adnmt Ms. Orton's direct and
surrebuttal testinony.
(Annette Orton's prefiled testinony was
adm tted into evidence.)
MR. GRECU. Thank you.
Q. (BY MR GRECU) Ms. Oton, do you have a

sunmary of your testinmony to share today?

A. Yes.
Q Pl ease proceed.
A The Division maintains that Enbridge's natural

gas vehicle (NGV) program no |onger serves a broad
public interest in advancing an alternative fuel.

Enbri dge's own data shows declining NGV volunes, |limted
custonmer use, and a shrinking market. The program now
relies heavily on ratepayer support to remain viable

while the cost born by ratepayers exceeds the benefits
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provi ded.

Al t hough Utah all ows the Comm ssion to approve
the subsidized NGV rate, it does not require continued
subsi di zati on, particularly when nmarket and techni cal
conditi ons have changed. Electric vehicle
infrastructure is expanding rapidly while NGV use and
vehicle availability continue to decline. These trends
i ndi cate that ongoi ng ratepayer support for NGV stations
is no |longer just, reasonable, or in the public
i nterest.

I n conclusion, while subsidizing the NGV cl ass
may be permtted under statute, the Division continues
to reconmmend that Enbridge phase out the NGV program by
t he next general rate case or alternatively increase NGV
rates to elimnate the subsidy. |If the programis
phased out, the Conpany should al so eval uate selling
sone or all NGV stations to private or public operations
as part of that transition.

Thi s concl udes ny summary.

MR. GRECU:. Thank you. The witness is
avai |l abl e for cross-exam nation and questions fromthe
Commi ssi on.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Thank you,

M. Gecu.
Al right. M. Mtchell or Ms. Cark,
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questions of this wtness?

MS. M TCHELL: Thank you, Chairman. The

Conpany has no questi ons.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. All r
M. Snarr?

MR. SNARR: No questions.

i ght,

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Probably don't even need

to ask you on the Division wtnesses, but
for the record.

Ckay. M. Russell?

| will just

MR. RUSSELL: No questions. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: M. Cook?

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: No questi ons.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Okay. M. -- why am |l
drawi ng a bl ank here? Davidson. |'mso sorry.
MR. DAVI DSON:  No problem
PRESI DI NG OFFICER: Once | nmess it up, then |
al ways get it right with the Maj or Newt on.
MR. DAVI DSON: Thank you, M. Chairman. | do
have a few questi ons.
PRESI DI NG OFFICER:  All right. I'mreally
glad to hear that.
MR. DAVI DSON: Here we go.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
111
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BY MR. DAVI DSON:

Q. So, Ms. Orton, all ny questions are directed
at your surrebuttal testinony.

A Okay.

Q This afternoon |I just have a handful of things
to discuss with you a little bit.

At page 2, lines 36 through 40 of your

surrebuttal, you state the Division's position regarding
conti nued subsidi zati on of the Conpany's NGV services.

Do you see that reference?

A I"msorry. Can you give ne those |ines again.
Q Sure. Sure. Page 2.

A Okay.

Q Li nes 36 t hrough 40.

A Okay. And what was the question?

Q You state the Division's position regarding

the potential continued subsidization of the Conpany's
NGV servi ce.
Do you see that?

A MM hnmm

Q Al right. And that is presented -- as
presented in your direct testinony, you called for a
phasi ng out of the program or increasing charges to the
NGV class, as | think you just nentioned in your

summary; correct?
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A MM hmm
(Reporter clarification.)
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Just a second. So you'l
have to give an audi bl e.
THE W TNESS: Okay. Okay.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: " Mm hmmi" doesn't help the

court reporter. So is that a yes or a no?

A Yes.
(Reporter clarification.)
Q. (BY MR DAVIDSON) I'Il slow down a little bit
because you need to turn to the mc. | get it now.

Ckay.

Is the representation in your surrebuttal
testinony intended to nodify the Division's position in
your direct testinony regarding the NGV progranf

A. No. No.

Q. Over at lines 50 through 54 of your
surrebuttal, you reference the testinony of EGU wi tness
St ephenson.

Do you see that reference?

(Reporter clarification.)

A. Yes.

Q. (BY MR. DAVIDSON) And that asserts that EQU s
exi sting NGV stations continue to neet the requirenents

of Ut ah Code Subsection 54-4-13.4(1)(b) and remain in
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the public interest.
Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. Am | correct that M. Stephenson's filed
direct and rebuttal testinonies included no quantitative
anal ytics to support the Conpany's assessnent of its
conpliances with the Utah Code section | just read you?

A Can you repeat that question.

Q. Yes. Am1| correct that M. Stephenson's
direct and rebuttal testinonies that you reference
i ncluded no quantitative analytics to support the
Conpany's assessnent of its conpliance with the Utah
Code section?

A That's correct.

Q. Okay. Am | also correct that you have
provi ded no i ndependent analysis of the Conpany's
conpliance with the Utah Code subsection | just
referenced?

A Correct.

Q Now, I'd |ike you to take a | ook at your
reference footnote ten on page 3 of your surrebuttal
testinony.

Do you have that?

A. MM hnmm

Q Am | correct that footnote ten on page 3 is
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the full |anguage of Utah Code Subsection 54-4-13.4(1)7?
A. Yes.
Q Ckay. Is it your understanding that
Comm ssion -- that a Comm ssion finding that the
Conmpany's NGV station investnents nust neet all the
requirenments in parts A, B, and C of that subsection?
A. Yes.
Q And now focusing on subsection (b), we find
t hat | anguage that addresses, quote, "the estimated
annual increnmental increase in revenue related to the
stations and facilities," close quote.

Do you see that?

A. Yes.
Q | -- am| correct that nothing in your
surrebuttal explains how either the |egislature -- Ut ah

| egi sl ature or the Division defines the phrase, quote,
"estimated increnental increase in revenue related to
the stations and facilities"?

A. Correct.

Q Okay. Now, let's | ook at footnote nunber 14
at the bottom of page 4 of your surrebuttal.

Are you with nme?

A. Mm hmm
Q Okay.
A. Yes.
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Q Does footnote 14 have the entirety of the --
of your surrebuttal testinony include the entirety of
t he Conpany's response to DPU data request 30.17

A Yes.

Q Ckay. Now, nowhere in the Conpany's response
to DPU data request 30.1 is there a reference to, quote,
"estimated increnmental increase in revenue related to
stations and facilities,” is there?

A. No.

Q. Now, back at page 3 -- sorry. Let ne go
back -- lines 55 through 56 of your surrebuttal, you
reference, quote, "The declining NGV volunes, limted
customer usage, and di m ni shing market denmand.”

Do you see that reference?

A. Yes.

Q Can you explain how there could be any
increase in estimted increnental revenue when usage and
mar ket demand are declining?

A Can you repeat that question.

Q Sure. And let nme just sinplify it. [Is there
any way that you can think of that there can be an
increase in estimated increnmental revenue for the NGV
program when usage and nmarket denmand of that program are
decl i ni ng?

A. | cannot think of a --
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Q Ckay. Would you agree that the concept of
increnmental increases in NGV revenues was a product of
t he perception at the tinme the |egislation was enacted?

A Yes.

Q And that there would be a grow ng market for
NGV refueling services?

A. Yes.

Q Now, if EGU should elect to sell sone or al
of its NGV stations, subsequent to a final ruling by the
Commi ssion in this proceeding, but before the Conpany's
next gas rate case, has the Division addressed the
manner in which other Utah ratepayers would be
conpensated for the subsidies included in their rates
for plants and equi pnment associated with the NGV
stations that are sold and woul d no | onger be used and
useful ?

A No.

Q Ckay. Now, over at page 4, lines 84 through
85, again of your surrebuttal, you reference Enbridge's

i ssuance of an "RFP to sell a portion of the Utah NGV

stations.”
Do you see that reference?
A Yes.
Q Okay. If that were to occur, am| correct
that nothing in your -- either your direct or your
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rebuttal testinonies in this proceedi ng addresses how
the potential sale of the NGV stations should influence
the Comm ssion's rate determ nations in this proceedi ng?

A Correct.

Q Okay. And if NGV subsidies are continued
after this proceedi ng concludes and EGU sells sonme or
all of its NGV stations, subsequent to a final order but
before the Conpany's next general rate case, does the
Di vi sion believe that Utah ratepayers who have subsi di es
for EGU -- for Enbridge's NGV service included in their
rates should be conpensated for subsidies no |onger
required or justified but rates approved in this
proceedi ng?

A. Can you repeat that question.

Q. Sure. Let's assune the subsidies continue
after the conclusion of the NGV subsidies conclude --
continue after the conclusion of this rate case.

Do you have that in m nd?
A MM hmm
Okay. And then before the Conpany's next rate
case, does the Division believe that Utah ratepayers who
have subsidies for NGV service included in their rates,
ri ght, should be conpensated for subsidies no | onger
required or justified but rates approved in this

proceeding remain in place?
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A Yes.

Q. And if EQU sells some or all of those NGV
stations prior to the next rate case, does the Division
bel i eve Ut ah ratepayers who subsidize the Conpany's NGV
operations through their rates should share in the
proceeds from any sale in those assets?

A. Can you repeat that question.

Q. Yes. |If the Conpany sells sone or all of its
NGV stations, as its said it's considering doing, right,
prior to the Conpany's next general rate case filing,
does the Division believe that Utah rate payers who
subsi di ze the Conpany's NGV operations through their
rates should share in the proceeds from any sal e of
t hose assets?

A. No.

Q Ckay. Wiy not ?

A Because it would be taken into effect in the
next general rate case and worked out through that.

Q. So woul d they get a benefit fromthe sale in
t he next general rate case in your opinion, should they?

A | think we would need to cross that bridge
when it gets there. Right nowit's not even sold.

Q. So we'd just wait to see what the Conpany does
in the next rate case?

A. Yes.
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Q And address it then?
A M1 hnm
Ckay. Thank you. That's all | have.
MR. DAVI DSON: Thank you, M. Chairnman.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. All right, thank
you very nmuch, M. Davi dson.
Maj or Newt on, any questions?
MAJOR NEWION: No, Commi ssioner. Thank you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Comm ssioner Clark?
COW SSI ONER CLARK: | don't have any
questions. Thank you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Conm ssi oner Harvey?
COW SSI ONER HARVEY: | do.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COWM SSI ONER HARVEY:

Q ["mcurious if you' ve thought about what -- if
there's a |l evel of subsidization that is acceptable to
you for the NGV progranf?

A | haven't thought about that.

Q Okay. Gonna talk a little bit about the idea
of prudence. Do you agree that prudence needs to be
eval uated based on the information that was known when a
utility decision is made and not in hindsight?

A No.

Q Ckay. G ven that an investnent has been nade
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in the infrastructure to have these stations operating,
if the program were discontinued, that investnment woul d
still be on the books; correct?

(Reporter clarification.)

A. Yes.

Q (BY COWM SSI ONER HARVEY) You'll get it
eventual ly. That's all right.

A | hope.

Q Al'l right. So can you envision a case where
the programis term nated and ratepayers end up, you
know, paying that full amount that's in rate base over
time plus the rate of return and all that. Is that what

woul d happen if the program was term nated?

A. It depends if, you know, if these stations
wer e sol d.
Q Okay. Now, the prem se of your testinony is

that it's a declining market?

A. Yes.

Q. In a declining market, would you expect there
to be alot of willing buyers that were happy to pay top
dollar for these assets?

A. Probably not.

Q. Okay. So in a situation where a program
continues and the customers that are using that are

paying -- we've heard today -- 70 percent of the ongoing
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costs, is it possible that it'
to keep up a snul
versus having to pay for

A That' s possi bl e.

s cheaper for ratepayers

subsidy with some revenue comng in

the entire rate base?

Q. Al right. Okay. Thanks very nuch.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. | neglected to give
M. Grecu an opportunity for redirect, if you had any
after M. Davidson's cross.

MR. GRECU: | do not. Thank you, though.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. | have no
questions. W' |l excuse you, Ms. Orton.

THE W TNESS: Okay.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Thank you.

Ckay. We'll turn to Ms. Schmd. This is --
the next witness is Ryan -- do | pronounce this
correctly -- Daigle.

M5. SCHM D: Daigle is correct. Thank you.

The Division would like to cal

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:
you'll conme to the stand.
Wel come, M. Daigle.
ri ght hand. Thank you.
RYAN DAl

was called as a wi tness,

sworn to tell the truth,

| him please.
Okay. M. Daigle, if

Woul d you raise your

GLE

and having been first duly

testified as foll ows:
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PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Thank you. Please be
seat ed.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY Ms. SCHM D

Q Good afternoon.

A Good afternoon.

Coul d you pl ease state and spell your ful
name.

A It's Ryan Daigle, R-y-a-n D-a-i-g-I-e.

Q. By whom are you enployed and in what position?

A The Division of Public Utilities, and |I'm a
utility technical consultant.

Q. Coul d you pl ease provide your business
address.

A. 160 East 300 South, Salt Lake City, Utah
84114.

Q. Have you participated in this docket on behalf
of the Division?

A Yes, | have.

Q Did your participation include review ng the
application and testinonies filed by the Conpany and
intervenors and data requests and responses insofar as
they pertain to the areas upon which you are testifying?

A Yes.

Q Do you have -- did you prepare and cause to be
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filed DPU Exhi bit Number 7.0 direct with acconpanying
exhibits 7.01 direct, 7.02 direct, and your surrebuttal
testi nony DPU Exhi bit Nunmber 7.0SR, and that surrebuttal
testinony had no exhibits?

A Yes. | believe that's correct.

Q Do you have any changes or corrections to your
prefiled testinonies?

A | do not.

Q. If you were asked to prepare and file your
prefiled testinonies today, would your answers be the
sanme as they are typed in your prefiled testinony?

A. Yes. They woul d.

Q. Do you adopt the contents of your prefiled
testinonies as part of your testinony here today?

A. Yes. | do.

M5. SCHM D: The Division would |ike to nove
for the adm ssion of M. Daigle' s Exhibit 7.0DIR with
its Exhibits 7.01 and 7.02 and his surrebuttal testinony
premar ked as DPU Exhi bit Nunber 7.0SR

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. W thout objection,
we'll admit M. Daigle' s direct testinony, his two
exhibits, and his surrebuttal testinony. Thank you.

(Ryan Daigle's prefiled testinmny and
exhibits were admtted into evidence.)

Q (BY M5. SCHM D) Do you have a sunmary to share
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wth us today?
A. Yes, | do.
Q Pl ease proceed.
A Good afternoon, Chair Fenn, Comm ssioner
Cl ark, and Comm ssioner Harvey. The Division reconmends
t he Comm ssion adopt the adjustnents proposed in ny
direct testinony and supported in ny surrebuttal
testinmony. These adjustnents include an increase to the
filing frequency of the conservation enabling tariff, or
CET, if the account balance falls outside the proposed
plus or minus $10 mllion threshold.
Secondly, an increase to the anmount the
Conmpany is allowed to annually anortize and finally a
provision to expedite the return of |arge,
over-col |l ected balances in the CET for any anount beyond
the 5 percent of the -- of the Utah jurisdictional base
DNG GS revenues. | also suggest a working group to | ook
into the transportation bal ance charge to determ ne the
efficacy of the calculation and the behavior of -- of
the TS cl ass custoners.
Thi s concludes ny sunmary. Thank you.
M5. SCHM D: Thank you. M. Daigle is now
avai |l abl e for cross-exani nati on questi ons and questions
fromthe Conm ssion.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Let's go to the Conpany.
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MS. NELSON CLARK: No questions. Thanks.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay. M. Snarr?

MR. SNARR: No questi ons.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: M. Russel|?

MR. RUSSELL: No questions, thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. M. Cook?

MR. COOK: No questions.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: M. Davi dson?

MR. DAVI DSON: No questions. M. Chairman.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Maj or Newt on?

MAJOR NEWION:  No questi ons.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Commi ssi oner Cl ark?

COW SSI ONER CLARK: No questions. Thank you,
M. Daigle.

PRESI DI NG OFFICER: That's a roll we're on,
Conmm ssi oner Harvey. Conm ssioner Harvey?

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: Just for you, | will --

| will save ny CET questions for another venue. All
right.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: | have a series of
guestions I'd like to ask -- no. That's not true. |I'm
not -- | just wanted to see if | could get a rise out of

Commi ssi oner Harvey.
Al right. Well, that's -- that's great.

You're finished. How was that? That was pretty
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pai nl ess, wasn't it?

THE W TNESS: Wonderful. Thank you very nuch.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Thank you. You may be
excused.

Ckay. |I'mstarting to revise ny estimte that
we could finish this in one day. So don't disappoint
nme.

Al right. M. Gecu, we'll turn to you for

your next w tness.

M5. SCHMD: |I'msorry. The next witness is
m ne

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Oh, Ms. Schmd. | knew
that. | knew that. Wit a second. | just have to

| ook. This is M. Fields.
M5. SCHM D: The Division would |ike to cal
M. Fields. Yes.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. All right. Thank
you. Apol ogi ze.
M. Fields, welcone.
THE W TNESS: Thank you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Rai se your right armto
t he square.
DAVI D FI ELDS
was called as a wtness, and having been first duly

sworn to tell the truth, testified as foll ows:
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PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Ms. Schm d.
M5. SCHM D: Thank you.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY Ms. SCHM D
Q Good afternoon.
A Good afternoon.
Coul d you pl ease state and spell your full
name.
A Sure. M nane is David Fields, D-a-v-i-d
F-i-e-1-d-s.
Q By whom are your -- are you enpl oyed, and what
IS your position?
A Sure. Division of Public Uilities, and I'ma

utility anal yst.

Q. And what is your business address?

A. It is 160 East 300 South, Salt Lake City, Utah
84114.

Q Because you are new to our world, could you

pl ease provide a very brief summary of your educati onal
and professional experience as they relate to your
position with the Division?

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: | just want to interrupt
for a second. What does that nmean, you're new to our
wor | d?

THE W TNESS: l"man alien.
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PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Recently enpl oyed.

MS. SCHM D: Recently enpl oyed and has not
testified before.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. All right. Thank
you. All right. That's -- clarification probably all
needed for --

THE WTNESS: | cone in peace nonet hel ess.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  All right. Thank you. |
apol ogi ze for interrupting, Ms. Schm d. Go ahead.

THE WTNESS: Certainly. So --

(Reporter clarification.)

A. I"moriginally from Massachusetts. |'ve been
in Uah for 15 years. | got ny graduate degree in
econom cs at the University of Utah. M undergraduate
was in econonmics at the university of Massachusetts,
and -- and here | am working for the Division of Public
Uilities as a utility analyst. |I'mnostly dealing with
econom ¢ problens. That's ny specialty.

Q. (BY M. SCHM D) Thank you. Have you
participated in this docket on behalf of the Division?

A Yes. | have.

Q Did you prepare and cause to be filed your
direct testinmony premarked as DPU Exhi bit Number 9.0DIR
with its Exhibit 9.01DIR, which is your resune?

A Yes. | did.

Page 200

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N NN N NN R R R R R R R R R
O »h W N P O © O N O O M~ W N Rk O

Phase Il Hearing - November 18, 2025

Q Did you al so prepare and cause to be filed DPU
Exhi bit Number 9.0SR, which is your prefiled surrebuttal
testi nony?

A Yes. | did.

Q Do you have any changes or corrections to that
prefiled testinony?

A No. | do not.

Q. If you were asked to prepare and file the sanme
prefiled testinony today, would your answers be the
same?

A. Yes. They woul d.

Q Do you adopt your prefiled testinony as part
of your testinony here today?

A Yes, | do.

M5. SCHM D: The Division would |ike to nove
for the identification of M. Fields' direct and
surrebuttal testinmony as previously identified.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Yes. For the adm ssion of
M. Fields' direct testinony with one exhibit and
surrebuttal. Seeing no objection, we'll admt theminto
evi dence.

(David Fields' prefiled testinony was
admtted into evidence.)

Q. (BY MS. SCHM D) Do you have a summary to

share with us today?
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A Yes. | do.

Q. Woul d you pl ease proceed.

A. Certainly. Good afternoon, Conmm ssioners. My
testi nony addresses Enbridge's proposal to change the
time span for cal culating the normal heating degree
days, NHDD, for the general service, GS, class and the
Conmpany's inplenmentation of its custoner-specific
weat her normalization adjustment, the WNA

Based on its review of the information
provided in this case, the Division recommends the
Comm ssion to direct the Conpany and other interested
parties to further study revising the period used to
establish NHDD and the custoner-specific WNA

In this case, Enbridge proposes a change to
the time span for calculating the NHDD fromits current
20-year period ending in 2018 to a 10-year period ending
on Decenber 31st, 2024. The Conpany asserts that this
change is needed to reflect recent warmer winters and
better bal ance upward and downward nonthly WNA
adj ustnents. Enbridge witness M. Landward's testinony
supported this -- this proposal provided evidence that
denonstrates shortening the period used to cal cul ate
NHDD | owers the NHDD basel i ne.

The Division remains unconvi nced that the

Conpany's proposed shift to a 10-year period for
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calculating NHDD i s adequately substantiated. The
Company has not provided sufficient enpirical evidence
for this nodification. A -- a conprehensive tine series
anal ysis, or longitudinal data analysis, for exanple,
woul d be essential to effectively confirmthe necessity
of a change to the proposed 10-year period concl udi ng on
Decenber 31st, 2024.

M. Landward's testinony does not show t hat
the difference in average NHDD val ues, 20-year versus
10-year, is statistically significant. |In the absence
of a proper statistical test that denopbnstrates the
difference is unlikely to have occurred by random
chance, the apparent variance between the time franes
cannot be reliably used as evidence for a materi al
change -- excuse nme -- or trend. This |lack of
statistical significance denonstrates -- denonstrated
underm nes the evidentiary weight of M. Landward's
conpari son.

The National COceanic and At nospheric
Adm ni stration, NOAA enploys a standardi zed 30-year
baseline for calculating NHDD to establish a nornal
climate, which constitutes a robust, |ong-term standard.
M. Landward did reference a recent 15-year set of
climate normal s by NOAA;, however, this serves to

suppl enent the standard 30-year normals to facilitate

Page 203

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N NN N NN R R R R R R R R R
O »h W N P O © O N O O M~ W N Rk O

Phase Il Hearing - November 18, 2025

mul tivariate investigations into recent climte changes.

The downward trend in tenperatures cited by
Enbri dge on the surface could mani fest an isol ated
occurrence or a cyclical pattern; consequently,
utilizing it to forma general conclusion woul d
constitute a fallacy of conposition. Therefore, the
Company woul d need to provide a nore representative
sanple for an inferential cross-sectional statistical
analysis to be conducted to justify the 10-year period
for calculating the NHDD

In addition, | have concerns regarding the --
t he Conpany's inplenentation of the WNA itself. The WNA
serves two critical functions for Enbridge. It acts as
a monthly true-up mechanismto align -- to align revenue
with budgetary projections and serves as a safeguard to
prevent revenue under-collection from approaching the
ceiling established by the Conservation Enabling Tariff,
the CET. Enbridge clainms that the WNA significantly
m tigated under-collection that the CET woul d ot herw se
have to -- have to rectify.

In my testinony, | raised concerns about the
i mpl ement ati on and conputational resources related to
the WNA and question the efficiency of EGQU s
met hodol ogy. M. Landward asserts that the Conpany

cal cul ates a distinct normalization adjustnment for each
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i ndi vidual custonmer's bill every time a new bill is
generated using the Conpany's customer care and billing
mechani sm -- however -- software. Sorry.

However, | believe that this assertion is

provi sional, because details on the nethodol ogi es,
specific testing protocols, and granul ar specifics of
t he individual adjustnment cal culation and application
are significantly absent.

The Conpany has not precisely detailed the
extent to which its approved revenue streamis
mai nt ai ned irrespective of consunption, suggesting that
a conprehensive and persistent assessnent of the CET's
efficacy is appropriate and necessary.

| also respectfully disagree with Conpany
Wi tness Austin Summers' assertions that no benefit would
be gained fromfurther study of this issue and conti nue
to recommend that the Comm ssion order further study of
t he Conpany's proposal before revising the NHDD
baseline, as the Division is not convinced the proposed
change to a 10-year period is adequately supported.

Thi s concludes ny testinony. Thank you.

M5. SCHM D: Thank you. M. Fields is now
avai |l abl e for cross-exani nati on questi ons and questions
fromthe Conm ssion.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Thank you,
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Ms. Schm d. Thank you for your summary, M. Fields.
"Il turn to the Conpany, to EGU.
MS. NELSON CLARK: No questions. Thanks.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Thank you, Ms. Cl ark.
M. Snarr?
MR. SNARR: No questi ons.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: M. Russel|?
MR. RUSSELL: No questions. Thank you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: M. Cook?
MR. COOK: No questions.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: M. Davi dson?
MR. DAVI DSON: No questions, M. Chairnman.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Maj or Newt on?
MAJOR NEWION:  No questi ons.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Comm ssioner Clark?
COW SSI ONER CLARK: | have no questi ons.
Thank you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Conm ssi oner Harvey?
COW SSI ONER HARVEY:  You can't fool ne tw ce.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: | woul d be di sappointed if
| did.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COW SSI ONER HARVEY:
Q. Al right. Just a couple of quick ones.

A. Sur e.
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Q You tal k about a statistical significance?
A. Yeah.
Q The data involved here is a population, not a

sanple; is that correct?

A Yes. That's true.

Q So what particular type of statistical
signi ficance woul d you be | ooking for?

A I would have to go back and review the
confidence integrals to estimate the statistical
significance, especially if they did a tine series
study. So at this nonment, | do not have that answer. |
woul d need to go and check.

(Reporter clarification.)
Q (BY COWM SSI ONER HARVEY) You probably don't

have an answer to this one either then, but I'"mgoing to

ask it.

A. Sure. Go ahead. By all neans.

Q In looking at the table in your testinony -- |
think it's the surrebuttal. It's on line 25, starts on
line 25.

A Yes.

Q There's a change there from 5350 [sic] nornal

heati ng degree days down to 4878.
A. MM hnmm

Q So approximately 500, a 10 percent change?
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A Yeah.

Q. VWhat 1'd like to know is how nuch bigger would
it need to be?

A | don't have that answer, but | would like a
| onger time study to see if there's a reference category
to nake an effective conparison

Q And in ternms of the actual weather
normal i zati on nechanism were you in the hearing room
earlier today when | was tal king about the -- the
di fferent neasurenment areas for tenperature with the

Conmpany wi t ness?

A Yes. | was here.

Q Okay.

A Yes.

Q. G ven that conversation, do you have any

further enlightened understandi ng of what they're doing,
or do you still have questions about what they nean when
t hey say "an individual custoner"?

A | still have consi derabl e questions.

Q Okay. That's good to know.

So in ternms of what that mechanismis doing,

there's sonme predicted heating degree day; correct?

A. Yep.

Q. And then there's an actual amount at this

i ndi vi dual custoner level, and that difference is then
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what's fed into their fornula to conme up with the
adj ust nent .
A MM hnmm

Does that sound correct to you?

A Yeah. It does but --

Q Okay.

A Again, like | said before, | don't know
their -- the specifics of their system It hasn't
represented, so there's still a significant anmount of

uncertainty.

Q Okay. But you -- well, do you agree that the
intent, regardless of what the actual nmechanismis --

A. Sure.

Q -- is totry and collect a certain anount of
revenue for a given anmount of heating degree days?

A Yes. | agree.

Q. Okay. And that -- and the second part -- what
| want to know if you agree or not is that regardl ess of
what that reference | evel was set to, there's going to
be an adjustnment that pulls it back to what they're
expect ed?

A. | agree.

Q. Okay. And then the CET at a later date w |
do a final true-up with respect to all of the costs, not

just the commodity costs?
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A. As it shoul d, yes.
Okay. That's all the questions |I have. Thank
you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. M. Fields, | have
no questions. You may be excused.
THE W TNESS: Ckay.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Thank you very nuch.
Thank you. Appreciate it.
Before we take a break, 1'd like to try to
finish all of the Division's witnesses. So Ms. Schm d,
you may call your final wtness.
M5. SCHM D: The Division would |ike to cal
M . Matthew Pernichel e.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: M. Pernichele, welcone.
Woul d you raise your right armto the square.
MATTHEW PERNI CHELE
was called as a witness, and having been first duly
sworn to tell the truth, testified as foll ows:
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Thank you very nuch. You
may be seat ed.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY Ms. SCHM D
Q Good afternoon.
A Good afternoon.

Q Coul d you please state and spell your ful
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name for the record.

A It's Matt Pernichele, P-e-r-n-i-c-h-e-1-e.

Q Thank you. By whom are you enpl oyed, and what
is your position?

A. "' m enpl oyed by the Utah Division of Public
Uilities, and | ama utility technical consultant.

Q And what is your business address?

A 160 East 300 South in Salt Lake City.

Q Have you participated in this docket on behal f
of the Division?

A Yes. | have.

Q Did your participation include review ng the
application, the prefiled testinonies of the Conpany and
ot hers, and review ng and/ or preparing data requests and
responses?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you prepare and cause to be filed your
prefiled testinony consisting of one, your direct, DPU
Exhi bit Number 6.0DIR, along with its exhibits, 6.01DR
t hrough 6. 08DR, your rebuttal testinony premarked as DPU
Exhi bit Number 6.0R that had no exhibits, and your
surrebuttal premarked as DPU Exhibit Nunmber 6.0SR with
one exhibit premarked as DPU Exhi bit Number 6.01SR?

A Yes.

Q Do you have any changes or corrections to your
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prefiled testinony?

A. No.

Q If you were asked to prepare and file your
prefiled testinony today with the sanme questions, would
your answers be the sane?

A. Yes.

Q Do you adopt the contents of your prefiled
testinony as part of your testinony here today?

A. Yes.

M5. SCHM D: The Division would [ike to nove
for M. Pernichele's direct, rebuttal, and surrebuttal
testinonies with exhibits as appropriate.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Thank you,

Ms. Schm d. Wthout objection, we'll admt
M. Pernichele's direct testinony and two exhibits wth
rebuttal testinony, surrebuttal testinmony with one
exhibit into the record.
(Matt hew Pernichele's prefiled testinony
and exhibits were admtted into
evi dence.)

MS. SCHM D. Thank you.

Q (BY M. SCHM D) M. Pernichele, do you have a
sunmary to share with us today?

A. Yes.

Q Pl ease proceed.
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A Good afternoon. My testinony in this case
focuses on the structure of the general service class,
gradual i sm proposed changes to allocation factor 230,
and one clarification.

Regardi ng the general service class, over
99 percent of Enbridge's custoners are in the general
service class, and over 60 percent of the Conpany's
volune is billed to the general service class. In
Enbri dge's previous rate case docket nunber 22-057-03,
the Division noted that the general service class
contained a very heterogeneous group of custonmers wth
vastly differing | oad factors, volunes, and
I nfrastructure needs. This creates the possibility of
i ntra-class subsidies with sone general service class
custoners paying significantly nore than their cost of
service and sone paying | ess.

| noted in ny direct testinony that this
single class arrangenent appears to be very rare anong
natural gas utilities.

In response to a Division data request, the
Conpany cal cul ated the effects of splitting the general
service class by basic service fee, as it recently did
in Wom ng, and by annual volume. Excuse ne. The
Conpany's cal cul ated split by basic service fee showed

rate of return indices between .998 and 1.1419 for the
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proposed classes. The proposed volunetric split showed
a rate of return indices between .59 and 1.4. These
disparities are too large and too easily renedied to be
left within a single class, especially when that class
contains alnost all of the Conpany's custoners.

I n di scussions during the course of this case,
the Conpany stated that several -- stated several tines
that it would not be able to inmplenment any division of
the general service class quickly enough to be effective
during the period of this rate case. | was unable to
find a reason to question this assertion. | do not
propose splitting the general service class now because
it is inpractical given the tinme limtations and no
clear alternative has been thoroughly studied.

M. Daniel testified on behalf of OCS --
testifying on behalf of OCS noted that it is unclear if
the benefits of such a split would exceed the costs.
This question al so deserves additional study.

| propose that splitting GS class we exam ne
nore thoroughly in a separate docket. This should be
schedul ed to provide sufficient time to study the issues
so that changes could be inplenented in Enbridge's next
general rate case. This is the approach that was used
when the Conpany's transportation class was split in the

previ ous rate case.
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Regardi ng gradualism the parties recommended
that the Conm ssion apply gradualismin inplenmenting the
Conpany's proposed rate increases to certain rate
classes. M. Qdiver, testifying for the Anerican
Nat ural Gas Council, argues that the proposed increase
for the interruptible service transportation bypass firm
and transportation classes violated the principal of
gradual i sm because they are too extrene to be
i npl enented at one time. He proposed limting these
increases to one and a half times the Conpany's overal
rate increase.

In ny prefiled testinony, | testified that
M.-- or | guess this is my rebuttal testinony. |
testified that M. Oiver is correct in that the rate
increase for the IS classes is too | arge and shoul d be
mtigated. | also noted that the rate increase for the
TBF cl ass appears to have already been mtigated in the
Conpany's recent cost of service study filed after the
Phase | stipul ati on.

Lastly, | recommended that the transportation
cl asses rate increases be judged as a percentage of
their whole cost of receiving gas service and thus
reasonabl e rate increases.

Al ternatives to Allocation Factor 230.

Several parties have proposed changes to All ocation
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Factor 230 that would result in shifting costs from
customers with higher |load factors to those with | ower

| oad factors. This issue has been extensively studied
and debated in Enbridge's recent rate cases. The

Conm ssi on has been consistent in approving the 60/40 --
60 percent demand, 40 percent throughput cal cul ation for
Al | ocati on Factor 230.

To provide the Comm ssion with nore options, |
proposed using the average and peak nethodology fromthe
NARUC manual using the actual peak day usage for the
demand conponent.

The Division also proposed this nmethodology in
the Conpany's last rate case. | -- | withdrew this
suggestion in nmy surrebuttal testinony because | was
unable to get sufficient historical information in the
time available to conduct a thorough analysis. Because
| was unable to properly support actual peak day
al l ocation, | support using the current 230 Allocation
Factor.

And | have one clarification. The Division
recogni zes that prudence is usually judged based on what
is known at the tinme the decision is made and that there
is an ongoi ng duty to be prudent.

And that concludes nmy summary. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Thank you,
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M . Pernichele.

M5. SCHMD: M. Pernichele is now avail able
for cross-exam nation questions and questions fromthe
Conmi ssi on.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Thank you. Let's
go to the Conpany.

M5. M TCHELL: No questions. Thank you,

M . Chairman.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. M. Snarr?

MR. SNARR: No questions for OCS.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay. M. Russell?

MR. RUSSELL: No questions. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: M. Cook?

MR. COOK: No questions.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: M. Davi dson.

MR. DAVIDSON: | do have questi ons,

M. Chairman. Thank you.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. DAVI DSON:

Q Good afternoon, M. Pernichele.

A Good afternoon.

Q Just a couple of questions at the beginning
about your experience, if |I may. Your direct testinony,
page 1 lines ten through 15 outlines your background a

bit there.
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Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q Ckay. And as | understand it, you' ve been
with the Division for approximately two years; is that
right?

A Yes.

Q Okay. Did you have any experience with public
utility rate regulation before joining the Division?

A No. | did not.

Q. Okay. And your testinony al so references your
nost recent participation in the Rocky Mountain Power
el ectric rate case; correct?

A. Yes.

Q Is that the only other regul atory proceedi ng
you' ve testified in?

A. No. |'ve tested in other regulatory
proceedi ngs, but that's the only rate case |'ve
testified in.

Q. Al right. Let ne have you turn to your
surrebuttal testinony on page 4.

A Al right.

Q And in lines 82 through 83, you state, quote,
"Gradual ism -- gradualismis nost nmeani ngful to
custonmers when neasured against the full cost of the

product they are purchasing."
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Do you see that reference?
A. Yes. | do.
Q And in the context of that statement, what is
the product that you believe transportation custoners

are purchasi ng?

A. Nat ural gas.
Q Okay. So it's not transportation service
they're purchasing. |It's the comvpdity of natural gas

I n your estimation; correct?

A [t's both.

Q It's both?

A. Yes.

Q At page 4 of your surrebuttal, lines 84

t hrough 86, you suggest that the Conpany's "proposed
charges to transportation service custoners cannot be
directly conpared to the Conpany's proposed pricing
service to other classes.”

Do you see that reference?

A. Yes.

Q And that's because transportation service
charges don't include gas commpdity costs while the
Conpany's charges to other classes do include commodity
cost; correct?

A. That is correct.

Q And am | correct that the Conpany's revenue
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increase request in this proceeding is prem sed solely
on the distribution non-gas costs?

A. Yes.

Q. And none of the revenue increase the Conpany
seeks is based on its cost of gas supplies for firm

sal es service custoners; correct?

A That's correct.
Q. Now, |ine 90 on page 4 of your surrebuttal,
you reference a need for, quote, "like for |ike

conpari son of charges of transportation service and
sal es service custoners.”
Do you see that reference?

A. Yes. | do.

Q Can you explain why the appropriate like for
i ke conparison in the context of this case, which
focuses primarily on distribution non-gas charges does
not exclude gas costs for transportation service and
sal es custoners?

A | believe the proper perspective to determ ne
if something is gradualismis the perspective of the
custonmer for the service that's being provided. And
when the custoner gets a bill from Enbridge, it includes
gas. |If one small part of -- conponent of that bil
goes up by a much hi gher anmount, then the price changed

for the whole rate case. W don't judge it on that
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conmponent. W judge it on the whole bill.

| don't believe that transportation custoners
shoul d get a special dispensation for gradualism because
t hey choose to divide that bill between multiple
vendors, if that makes sense.

Q Well, it does, but let me ask you a
clarification on that. You nentioned that custoners'
bills is what's inportant with respect to the principle
of gradualism correct?

A Yes.

Q Now, you also said that that includes the

commodity and the delivery; correct?

A. | believe that's correct, yes.
Q Al right. Now, a transportation custoner,
their bill doesn't -- from Enbridge -- doesn't include

the commodity; correct?

A That's correct.

Q Only the transportation service?

A That's correct.

Q Okay. Am | correct that there's no analysis

or supporting exhibit or docunentation that you perform
regardi ng specification of the usage characteristics
assumed when conputing, quote, "full costs for
transportation custoners"?

A. Yes.
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Q And woul d you agree that the full costs for
transportation service will be influenced by the
custonmer's |l evel of nonthly gas use and the rel ationship
bet ween their nonthly and annual gas vol unes and their
firmcontract demands?

A. Yes. That's ny understanding of how the
current tariff is witten.

Q. Now, at page 4 lines 88 through 90 of your
surrebuttal, you reference, quote, "using an average gas
price of $3 per dekatherm"™

Do you see that reference?

A Yes.

Q. Now, | didn't find any support for the
representativeness, if you will, of that assuned $3 per

dekat her m average gas price in your testinony; is that

correct?

A. Yes. Those nunbers are very confidential. |
don't -- | don't have access to them

Q. So this is just an illustrative nunmber that

you used for purposes of preparing your testinony?

A That's correct.

Q And am | correct also that you' ve not provided
any docunented quantitative analysis to support the
assessment of full costs of the product you believe

Enbri dge transportati on service custoners are
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pur chasi ng?

A | just multiplied the volunme by ny assuned
price.

Q. The assuned price -- the $3 per dekatherm we
j ust spoke about ?

A That's correct. Yes.

Q Okay. Likewise, | didn't find any analysis of

the, quote, "full cost,"” close quote, that firm sales
service custonmers pay under either rate schedul e FS or
rate schedule GS. Am | correct on that?

A. Yes. You are.

Q So I think we established that the primry
service transportation custoners obtain from Enbridge is
t he delivery of gas purchased fromthird party
suppliers; correct?

A Yeah.

Q. And woul d you agree that the Comm ssion only
regul ates the Conpany's cost of distribution service for
transportation service custonmers but not the prices that
the custoners pay for gas vol unes?

A That's correct.

Q So if the Comm ssion doesn't regulate the
price that transportation service custonmers pay for
their gas supply, why do you believe that the, quote,

"full cost,"” close quote, of the product purchased
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shoul d i nclude both the gas commvodity and
transportation?

A. | don't believe in any description |'ve ever
read of gradualismit says it limts it to what the
Comm ssi on can regulate. Now, the Comm ssion m ght not
be able to regulate something that it can't regul ate,
obviously, but | don't think that's what the gradualism
anal ysis i s based on.

Q So you're -- in order to -- if | understand
you, in order to apply the gradualismprinciple, it's
your opinion that you need to apply it to both the
commodity and the transportation service conbined for a
transportation service custoner?

A. Yes. It is. That would be treating
transportation custoners and ot her custoners equally.

Q And in your mnd, there's no application of
gradualismto the transportation function rate at all
wi t hout having a commpdity conponent included?

A. Wt hout understanding it as part of the whole
cost, yes.

Q Okay. Now, at the top of page 3 of your
surrebuttal testinony, you have a Table 1?

A. Yes.

Q Ckay. And that provides two sets of

percentage i ncreases for custonmers served under rate
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schedules IS, TBF, TSS, TSM and TSL.
Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. Al right. Those sets of percentage rate
i ncreases are based on the Conpany's assessnent of
revenue increases by rate class that reflect the reduced
overall revenue increase fromthe Phase | settlenent; is
that right?

A. EGU s final proposed, the second colum, do.
| believe M. OAiver's were calcul ated before the fina
settl ement.

Q That was nmy next question. OCkay. Thank you.

Wul d you accept that all the percentages
listed in the colums of Table 1 are prem sed on the
anal ysi s which assunmed each class nust provide the
Conpany with its full requested overall rate of return
of 7.61 percent?

A | think M. Austin went -- or Austin Sunmers.
|"msorry -- went through that earlier. Because this is
based on his surrebuttal testinmony Exhibit 16SR, |
believe. And what did he say? | honestly -- right now,
| can't remenber if he was -- if this was prepared using
t he nunbers under the previous rate case or what was
proposed under this rate case.

Q Ckay. I'Il refer back to whatever it was he
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said when | ook at the transcript. But that's what
you're based on?

A. Yes.

Q. You based your testinony on; correct?

A. That's correct.

Q Wul d you accept that the percentages on your
Tabl e 1 under the heading "EGU s Fi nal Proposed
| ncrease” reflect the Conpany's class cost of service
summary results but do not match the percentage
increases in DNG revenues by class that can be conputed
fromthe information on the rate design ten year tab of
the same el ectroni c nodel ?

A. I woul d have to check that.

Q Ckay. All right. At page 3 of your
surrebuttal, lines 57 through 70, you discuss the
i ncrease proposed for the Conpany's interruptible
service, the IS class; correct?

A Yes. | do.

Q. And you've got several assertions that you got
there 1'd just like to wal k-through. First, you state
that the IS class has received a | arge subsidy for --
for a long tine. |Is that your testinony?

A Yes. It is.

Q. And am | correct that you don't have any

evi dence that supports either the length of tinme or the
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amount of the so-called | arge subsidy that you believe
has been provi ded?

A | guess the proposed increase to get it to its
cost of service is evidence of a |arge subsidy, but
ot her than that, no.

Q And is it your testinony that the Comm ssion
has overtine intentionally allowed | arge subsidies to
the IS class at the expense of customers in other
cl asses of service?

A | can't speak to the Comm ssion's
intentionality on that.

Q So why do you think the Comm ssion has all owed
t hose al |l eged subsi di es over tinme?

A. l"mnot -- | could speculate but -- | nean,
there is value to having interruptible class. Even if
they don't get interrupted that often, we pay a | ot of
nmoney as utilities to be able to cover tines of
extrenely high usage. So --

Q. Al right. And in your surrebuttal, you state
that service to the IS custoner class has only been

curtailed a fewtinmes in the |ast 25 years; is that

correct?
A Yes.
Q Do you have any nunber of what a few tines

consi sts of over that tine period?
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A Over -- | do not.

Q. Okay. So is it your understandi ng that
service to the IS custonmer class nust be regularly
interrupted or curtailed for that service to provide
value to the systemthat is not obtainable fromfirm
servi ce sal es custoners?

A. No.

Q. Why not ?

A. I[t's a -- it's a reserve capacity for use in
times of extreme enmergencies, |like the natural gas --
[iquid natural gas plant that we have on the system
or --

Q. Al right. And I'm hoping you can clear up a
little confusion on nmy part at |east at page 3, lines 59
to 70 of your surrebuttal that we've been speaking
about. And | wll represent to you that it appears to
me that on one hand you' re concerned about the |arge
subsi di es that we spoke about a nonent ago that have
been provided by the IS class, but on the other hand you
suggest that the large increases in rates for IS
custonmers could, quote, "deprive the system of the
flexibility that results frombeing able to interrupt a
portion of the |oad."

Do you see that?

A. Yes. I do.
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Q Is it your position that the flexibility to
interrupt the portion of the system | oad represented by
the IS class justifies sone |evel of subsidy for IS
custoners?

A Assumi ng that is not handl ed sonmewhere else in
the rate calculation, | believe there is sonme |evel of
subsidy that is worth giving to those fol ks.

Q. Okay. And do you have any anal ysis or
docunentation in your testinony about what the |evel of
the subsidy that you're referring to should be?

A. | don't namke any recommendation as to a
specific |level.

Q Okay. But there should be sone?

A | think there should be sone.

Q Al right. At page 3, lines 69 through 70,
you reference an aggregate price increase of
11. 18 percent.

Do you see that reference?

A. Yes.

Q And you indicate that as M. Oiver suggested,
and you provide a footnote nine that sites M. Oiver's
rebuttal testinony of page 12.

Do you see that?

A Yes. | do.

Q Now, | do have a copy of his testinony here,
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but do you recall where on page 12 of his rebutta
there's any reference to an aggregate price of
11. 18 percent?

A | do not. The 11.18 percent, | believe, is
the rate increase of the whole system the aggregate
rate increase for all custoner classes, and ny
under standi ng of M. diver's recomendati ons on
gradualism and this is -- |I've seen this in past rate
cases -- is to nmake sonmething gradual, you limt it --
rate increase to one and a half times the aggregate.

Q And do you agree with that approach?

A. | think it's a workable approach. |'m not
going to say it's the only one, but it seens reasonable.

Q Al right. M. Pernichele, those are all the
questions | have for you. Thank you.

A. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Thank you,
M. Davi dson.
Maj or Newt on.
MAJOR NEWION: Briefly, Conm ssioner.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Pl ease.
MAJOR NEWION:  Want to keep you on your toes.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MAJOR NEWION:

Q When you were tal king about your experience

Page 230

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N NN N NN R R R R R R R R R
O »h W N P O © O N O O M~ W N Rk O

Phase Il Hearing - November 18, 2025

with -- before this Commssion, is it fair for ne to
assune that this is your first involvenment with this
Conpany in testifying in a case?

A | believe that's correct.

Q Okay. Now, when you tal ked about the class
cost of service in your direct testinony, you cited Utah
Code Section 54-4a-6, particularly noting fair cost
all ocation. You -- you cited it as "Costs are fairly
di stributed within and anong different custoner
cl asses,"” and of second note "Cost Causation: The rates
and charges should be -- should directly reflect the
cost that custoners inpose on the system Generally,
custonmers should pay for the costs they cause.”

You cited these, but do you agree with those?

A. Yes.

Q Okay. And as a -- | -- 1, too, amnewto the

Enbri dge gas general rate cases, but with your -- ['I|

call themfresh eyes to the evaluation of this. In
your --

A Generous. Thank you.

Q I n your surrebuttal testinony on page 5,

lines 101 to 102, you describe the current All ocator
Factor 230 -- at 230 as a conprom se; is that correct?
A. |"msorry. Could you repeat that.

Q Absol utely. On page 5 of your surrebutta
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testinony, lines 101 -- 101, which is answering a
guestion regarding the Allocation Factor F [sic] 230,
you descri be Allocation Factor F [sic] 230 as a fair
conproni se?

A. Yes. That's the way it's been portrayed in
recent rate cases, and that's what the Conm ssion's
approved in recent rate cases.

Q. Okay. Thank you. No further questions.

A. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Thank you,
Maj or Newt on.
Ms. Schm d, do you have any redirect?
M5. SCHM D: No redirect, thank you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Thank you.
Conmi ssi oner Clark?
COW SSI ONER CLARK: No questions. Thank you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Conm ssi oner Harvey?
COWM SSI ONER HARVEY: Just a coupl e.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COWM SSI ONER HARVEY:

Q Wth regards to the general service class, the
GS class, is your final recomrendation that you would
recommend splitting that on both nmeter size and vol une?

A. No. Those were just two possible splits.

THE W TNESS: Can you hear?
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PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Yeah.

A. Those were just two possible splits that we
had t he Conpany do the analysis on.

When | | ooked at other tariffs from other
natural gas utilities, nost of them had different kinds
of splits than those two or those two conmbined with
ot her ones, but |I -- | don't have a recommendati on ri ght
now. |'d like to go through the process of
i nvestigating further.

Q (BY COW SSI ONER HARVEY) So -- so the
recommendation is sonme type of a study group or sone
ot her type of nethod to | ook at the possible --

A That's correct.

Q -- option? Okay.

Wth respect to splitting the class, is the
maj or benefit, in your mnd, that cost allocation would
be done better?

A. Yes. There would be | ess subsidy anongst the
di fferent nenbers of the class. O at |east, that would
be the goal

Q But there wouldn't -- okay. Sorry. Strike
t hat .

Wul d there be any change to the actual
operations that the Conpany does to ensure that the firm

sal es custoners get the gas they need?
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A | don't believe so, no. | don't -- | don't
see how -- | don't foresee an outcone where that would
be the case.

Q. So from an operational perspective, it would
have no effect, but an accounting perspective, it mght?

A That's correct.

Q Okay. Thank you. That's all my questions.

EXAM NATI ON
BY PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:

Q. M. Pernichele, you referred to what EGU did
in Wom ng.

A Yes.

Q. What ' s your understanding of the split of the
GS class in Wom ng?

A | believe they did a volunetric split.

Q Okay. And their -- and into two classes; is

that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. General service small and | arge general
service?

A Yes.

Q Okay. Do you know any of the -- can you tel
me the difference between those two classes? Did you
study that?

A. l"msorry. | can't recall, and | didn't bring
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that information with ne.

Q Okay. It's fine.

A. | apol ogi ze.
Q. No. It's fine. | was just curious.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  All right. | think that's

all the questions we have for you, M. Pernichele.
We' || excuse you. Thank you.

THE W TNESS: Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  And that concludes all of
the Division's witnesses. W've now covered ten of the
15 witnesses, and | propose we take a break.

Can we be back here 12, 13 m nutes by
4:00 o' clock? 1s that adequate for everybody, or do you
need a | onger break?

Seei ng nobody conpl ai ni ng about that, we'll be
back at 4:00 o' clock. W'Ill keep rolling. Thank you.

(Recess taken from 3:48 to 4:01.)

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. We'll go back on
the record. We'll now turn to the Ofice of Consumer
Services, and M. Snarr, | -- ny recollection is you're
going to be presenting the wi tness Janes Dani el.

MR. SNARR: Yes. That's right.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. And we'll note
again, we're glad M. More is with us. It's always

good to have you here.
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MR. MOORE: Thank you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay. Let's have
M. Daniel conme to the stand.
There's no S on the name; right?
THE W TNESS: No S.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. M. Daniel, wll
you raise your right armto the square.
JAMES DANI EL
was called as a wtness, and having been first duly
sworn to tell the truth, testified as foll ows:
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Thank you. Please be
seat ed.
M. Snarr.
MR. SNARR: Thank you.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. SNARR
Q. M. Daniel, could you please state your name
for the record.
A My nane is Janes Daniel.
Q And could you tell us by whom you're enpl oyed?
A "' m enpl oyed by engineering firm
GES Associ at es.
Q. And have you been used as a consultant for the
O fice of Consuner Services in this proceedi ng?

A. Yes.
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Q And in connection with that, have you revi ewed

all of the filings that have been nmade in connection

with this Phase Il portion of the proceedi ng?
A Yes. | think I've reviewed nost of them
Q Ckay. Now, in connection with that
assignnent, have you prepared testinony for prefiling in

this case?

A Yes.

Q. And did you file -- prefile direct testinony
on Septenber 16 of 2025 including exhibits?

A Yes.

Q And did you file rebuttal testinony on
Oct ober 16, 20257

A Yes.

Q. And did you also file surrebuttal testinmony on
Novenber 4th, 2025, with exhibits?

A Yes. | did.

Q And if you were asked the same questions
t oday, would you adopt all these questions and answers
as your testinony today?

A Yes. The questions and answers are fine.
do have one mnor correction that's not related to the
guestions and answers, if | can --

Q. Let's identify that and get it cleared up.

A. In ny rebuttal testinony, the cover page has
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the correct Exhibit Nunmber, which is Phase Il wtness
OCS 3R Daniel. The follow ng pages after the cover
page refer to the exhibit to -- as 3D. So those -- the
3D needs to say 3R

Q So the header on the nunbered pages in your
rebuttal testinony needed to be corrected to show R for
rebuttal ?

A Correct.

Q. Thank you. Have you prepared a summary of
the -- of your testinony for presentation?

PRESI DI NG OFFICER: M. Snarr, do you want to
admt the testinony first?

MR. SNARR: Oh, yes. We would nove for the
adm ssion of the testinmony and exhibits. 1It's OCS 3D
Dani el and rel ated exhibits OCS 3R Daniel and OCS 3S
Dani el and rel ated exhibits.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Thank you. We'll,
wi t hout objection, admt the testinony, the direct,
rebuttal as corrected -- the heading corrected, and the
surrebuttal testinony.

(James Daniel's prefiled testinony and
exhibits were admtted into evidence.)

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: M. Dani el .

Q (BY MR. SNARR) Would you present your w tness

summary, pl ease.
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A. Yes. Good afternoon. M summary will| provide
a brief description of each issue | addressed in ny
testinony. The first issues are related to cost
all ocation. Sone of the parties in this case are
wanting to relitigate two major cost allocation issues
that the Conm ssion decided | ess than three years ago in
docket nunmber 22-057-03. The two allocation issues are
EGU s use of its Allocation Factor nunber 230 and EGU s
all ocation and | arge high pressure mains on the basis of
system t hr oughput .

Al | ocation Factor 230 has been used for many
prior EGQU cases. It is based on the sum of 60 percent
of the designed day allocation factor and 40 percent of
t he system t hroughput allocation factor.

The parties that are posing these two
al l ocation net hodol ogi es that were recently approved by
t he Comm ssion have not provided any change in EQUJ s
system t hat woul d support their proposal to depart from
the Commi ssion's order in EGU s previous rate case.

The Comm ssion should reaffirmits prior
ruling on these two maj or cost allocation issues.

The next -- the next issue is related to the
all ocation of interest on past due accounts. |Interest
on past due accounts is a source of other revenues that

are credited to the custoner class's all ocated cost of
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service, which reduces the anpunt that needs to be
recovered in base rates.

In this case, EGU is proposing to allocate the
interest they receive on past due accounts using the
di stribution non-gas or DNG revenues. EGU s DNG
all ocation factor is a general allocation factor and is
not related to the cause of the past two accounts, which
is customers.

| recommend an interest on past due accounts
be all ocated on the nunmber of custoners. To be
consistent, I'm also recomendi ng that bad debts or
uncol | ecti bl e expenses should be also all ocated on the
number of custonmers as pointed out in the UAE rebuttal
testi nony.

The next issue is allocation of the EGU s
proposed NGV subsidy to custoner classes. EGU s
proposi ng to subsidize its natural gas vehicle program
and -- and NGV custoner class by approxi mately $898, 000
per year. The Conpany is also proposing to allocate the
subsidy using its general DNG allocation factor. This
will result in the GS class paying approxi mately 789, 000
or 88 percent of the subsidy. None of the non- NGV
custonmer cl asses have caused the NGV cl asses revenue
short fall, which is the basis for the proposed subsidy.

A nore equitable allocation nethodol ogy, one
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t hat does not result in one custoner class paying a
lion's share, should be used.

VWi le | oppose the proposed NGV customer class
subsidy, if the Commi ssion approves a subsidy, |
recommend that the NGV subsidy be allocated to custoner
cl asses using the throughput allocation factor.

In addition to this NGV subsidy allocation
i ssue, | recommend that the Conmpany wi nd down its
unprofitable NGV service and that the Conm ssion order
NGV to file a plan for that purpose prior to its next
rate case.

The next issue is the revenue distribution.
Anot her contested issue in this case is whether
gradual i sm shoul d be used to mtigate significant rate
increases. Several priorities claimthat EGQJ s proposed
cl ass revenues based on the cost of service results in
severe rate increases for certain classes. These
parties are proposing that gradualismbe applied to
all eviate the | arge percentage increases.

EGU s proposed class rate increases are
simlar to percent increases approved by the Comm ssion
in EGQU s prior rate case, and the Conm ssion did not use
gradualismin that case.

My position is that since the Comnm ssion did

not apply gradualismin the |l ast case that it should
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al so not approve -- approve it this case.

| support the Conpany's proposal to nove al
cl asses to cost of service based rates.

Next issue is the GS rate design. ANGC
suggests that EGU s current base custoner -- base
service fees, or BSF, should be increased but not --
excuse nme -- but does not propose how nmuch. No ot her
party is proposing an increase in the BSF charges.

| recommend that the Comm ssion approve EGU s
proposal to maintain the current |evel of BSF charges.

The next issue is Section 8.03 of EGU s
tariff. In its application, EGJ proposes to delete a
conmponent of Section 8.03 related to eligibility for the
HEAT -- HEAT as an acronym It's capital HEAT --
customer assi stance program

In my direct testinony, | oppose the proposed
del eti on and suggested the need for other revisions to
Section 8.03 of the tariff. EGQJ and OCS has since
agreed to revise tariff | anguage, and that was incl uded
in the surrebuttal of EGU w tness Jordan Parks.

Next issue is the conservation enabling
tariff. An issue in this case is whether EGU should be
all owed to continue using the CET. M recomendation --
my current recomendation is for the Comm ssion to, one,

accept the DPU s revisions to the CET, two, allow EGU to
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conduct its planned i ndependent third party anal ysis of
its energy efficiency progranms and, three, have the
Comm ssion anal yze the need for the CET in EGU s next
rate case.

Q Thank you.

A. |'"ve got one or two nore issues.
Q ["'msorry. Did 1l junp the gun? Oh, | did.
A Next is the weather normalization adjustnent.

In this case, EGU is proposing to reduce the nunber

of years to determ ne normal weather by 50 percent. The
WNA currently uses 20 years, and EGU proposes to use

10 years. EGU also refers to a support an AG --

Ameri can Gas Associ ation survey on weat her normalization
adjustnents. There were ten respondents to that survey.
Five of them used 10 years, and the other five
respondents used 20, 25, and 30 years.

In my opinion, the reduction to 10 percent
[sic] is too drastic, given the AGA survey, and the
Comm ssion shoul d approve a 15-year peri od.

Last issue addresses | arge new custoners. Due
to the huge national growth and data centers, electric
and natural gas utilities are experiencing and
projecting large increases in energy supply requirenments
that require large increases in infrastructure

facilities. Regulatory Conm ssions need to ensure that
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the utilities' existing customers do not pay for the
cost caused by the new data center custoners.

The Comm ssion has al ready begun to address
this issue for electric utilities. The issue also needs
to be addressed for gas utilities.

The Comm ssion should address this issue in an
i nvestigatory docket and should tenporarily close the
transportati on bypass firmor TBF rate class until the
Conmi ssi on has addressed this issue.

|'"d also note that | have proposed sone tariff
| anguage adjustnents regarding this issue. One of them
was in Section 9.02 and regarding the threshold for
| arge new | oads to pay up-front prelimnary engineering
costs incurred. The current tariff has a 50 mllion
threshold for system cost increases for the new |load. |
reconmended that that be reduced to $10 mllion.

Thank you. That's the end of ny summary.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay.

MR. SNARR: Thank you. M. Daniel is now
avai |l abl e for cross-exam nation and questi oni ng.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Thank you,

M. Daniel, for your summary, and thank you, M. Snarr.

"Il turn to the Conpany.

M5. M TCHELL: The Conpany has no questions.

Thank you, M. Chairmn.
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PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Does the Division
have any questions?

MS. SCHM D:. The Division has no questions for
this w tness.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay. M. Russell?

MR. RUSSELL: | do, but this should be very
brief.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Go ahead.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MR, RUSSELL:

Q M . Daniel, good afternoon.

A Good afternoon.

Q. You nentioned in your sunmary your
recommendati on that the Comm ssion not adopt gradualism
for the transportation classes, and you base that in
part on your -- your recollection or your reference to
the last rate case; is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. You acknow edge, | suppose, that the
Commi ssion did utilize rate mtigation nmeasures in the
| ast rate case due to the rate shock associated with the
split of the transportation class; is that right?

A | don't recall.

(Reporter clarification.)

Q (BY MR RUSSELL) That's all | have. Thank
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you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. All right. Thank
you, M. Russell.

M. Cook?

MR. COOK: No questions.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. M. Davidson, any
questions from you?

MR. DAVIDSON: | do have sone questions,
M. Chairman. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. DAVI DSON:

Q Good afternoon, M. Daniel.

A Good afternoon.

Q. Let ne have you turn to your surrebuttal at
page 1, line 14, where you begin a discussion of new

| ar ge cust oners.

A. What |ine?

Q. It starts at line 14. |1'mgoing to ask about
lines 17 through 20.

A Okay.

Q In there, you've characterized M. Oiver's
rebuttal testinony as suggesting a wait and see approach
to addressing additional requirenments for new | arge

cust oners.
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Do you see that reference?

A. Yes.

Q Can you point ne to any place in your direct,
rebuttal, or surrebuttal testinmonies in this proceeding
where you' ve identified or quantified the dollar inpact
of specific |load problens that new | arge | oads had on
the Enbridge systemto date in Utah?

A | have not made that anal ysis.

Q. And at page 2 of your surrebuttal testinony,

line 24, you have a reference to the Utah |egislature's

SB132.
Do you see that?
A VWhat -- what |ine?
Q Li ne 24.
A Yes.

Q Okay. Am | correct that SB132 addresses
electric utility amendnment s?

A. Yes. That's correct.

Q. And woul d you accept that there's nothing in
that statutory provision that specifically addresses new
| arge gas service custoners?

A. Yes. | believe that's correct.

Q. Okay. You also make a reference at page 2 of
your surrebuttal down in lines 24 through 27 to the

Commi ssion's docket nunmber 25-R318-01.
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Do you see that reference?

A. Yes.

Q Am | correct that that docket is focused on
| arge scale electric service requirenents?

A. Yes. That's correct.

Q Have you reviewed the coments of the Ofice
of Consuner Services that were submtted in the docket
we were just speaking about, 25-R318-01, on August 28th,
2025, and Cctober 10th, 2025?

A | do not believe |I reviewed that.

Q Okay. Would you accept for, subject to check,
t hat neither of those filings includes any explicit
reference to gas service issues for |arge scale
cust oners?

A. Yes. 1'll accept that, subject to check.

Q Thank you. At page -- page 2, lines 31
t hrough 33 of your surrebuttal, you state that "EGU
indicates in its 2025 IRP that it's already received
mul ti ple requests to serve direct power generation at
specific data center locations,” and |I think you
mentioned that a little bit in your summary.

Do you see that reference?
A | do.
Q. Am | correct that there is no quantification

in your testinony of any specific inpacts or problens
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associ ated with those, quote, "requests," close quote,

for gas service for data center |ocations?

A. No. The informati on needed to do that is not
avai |l abl e.
Q Not avail abl e?

A Correct.

Q Al right. Am1 correct that there's no place
in your direct, rebuttal, or surrebuttal testinmony in
this proceedi ng where you' ve identified any specific
costs associated with | arge custoner | oads for which the
Conmpany seeks recovery in this proceedi ng?

A No. | don't think there is.

Q And also is -- is it correct that nowhere in
your testinonies have you identified or quantified any
specific costs associated with | arge custonmer | oads for
whi ch the Conpany is seeking recovery from non-I| arge
| oad custoners?

A. Are you referring to new custoners or existing

custoners?

Q New | arge | oad custoners.
A If they're beyond -- new beyond the test year
they would -- they wouldn't be included in this case.

Q. Okay. Well, what about new | arge | oad
custoners that you were referencing in your testinony?

If they were included in the test year, is there any
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quantification that you've made of any cost inpacts from

t hose custoner | oads that would cone onto the systenf

A. | don't believe that during the test year the
Company experienced any new | arge | oads.

Q So this is sort of aspirational on the
Company's part, as far as when those | arge | oads nay or
may not arise; is that correct?

A VWhat -- |I'm-- based on the IRP, they've said
t hey' ve had requests for service by |arge | oads.

Q. Just requests, though, right? Nothing has
cone to pass as far as devel opnent of a large | oad
during a test year | think you just said; right?

A. Probably. | don't know if the Conpany has or
hasn't.

Q Okay.

A I don't know details.

Q. You nmentioned gradualismin your summary at
page 3 of your surrebuttal starting on line 50, you
address the, quote, "Proposed Revenue Distribution and
Gradualism™

Do you see that reference?
A Yes.
Q. And it was ny understanding that it's your

position all class revenue requirenments should nove to

their full cost of service as long as no class r

ecei ves
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an increase greater than the |l argest increase the
Comm ssion approved for any class in the Conpany's | ast

rate case; correct?

A. | don't think that's correct.
Q What's incorrect about it?
A. | don't think | limted it to whatever the

| ar gest i ncrease was.

Q. You -- you didn't limt it to what?

A. To whatever the |argest increase was. | think
it's nore that it was in the range of the -- what the

Commi ssion approved in the | ast case.

Q So not a specific nunber, but a range of
inpact. Is that it?
A Yeah. It was in -- | don't think

recommended a specific nunber.

Q Okay. |Is it your understanding the
Comm ssion's determ nation of class revenue requirenents
i n docket nunber 22-05703 included no consideration of

gradual i sm principl es?

A Wl |, you previously asked me about the
transportation class. | just don't recall what was done
for the --

Q. | don't think | asked you about that. Well,

sonmeone else | think did, but et nme ask you this

questi on.
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A. Ckay.

Q Are you aware that in the Comm ssion's order
in that proceeding, the docket nunber | just nentioned,
there was a specific provision for a phased
i npl ementation of rate increases for the Conpany's

transportation class? Does that sound famliar?

A. It does.
Q. Okay.
A. I now remenber that. Yes.

Q. Okay. Are you famliar with the Phase |
settlement in this proceeding and the overall revenue
requi renent that the -- for EGU and what it produces?

A. [''m not.

Q Woul d you accept, subject to check, that the
Phase | settl enment provides the Conpany an over al
revenue increase of its distribution non-gas revenues of
approxi mately 14 percent?

A Yes. That sounds -- sounds correct.

Q In the context of the Phase | settlenent
revenue increase that we just spoke about, what's the
| argest percentage i ncrease you believe to be reasonable
to apply to any EGQU rate class in this proceeding
wi t hout violating gradualism principles?

A. | haven't made that anal ysis.

Q Do you have an estimate of what that would be?
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A. I"'mrelying on the Comm ssion's order in the
| ast case --

Q Okay.

A -- as the limt.

Q And that order just provided for the
transportation class to be separated out, | think we
j ust spoke about; right?

A It was a phase in to get to cost base rates.

Q. Okay. And where does gradualismfor other
custonmer rate classes fit into that, if at all?

A Well, they -- I'mnot sure | understand your
question, but they were not part of the phase in. So
there was no gradualismfor the other classes.

Q Ckay. Does your position regarding the
maxi mum i ncrease acceptable without violating gradualism
princi ples vary depending on the rate class in which the

increase i s supplied?

A. No. | don't believe so.
Q Is that full across the board?
A Yeah. Generally it -- it doesn't matter what

class it is.

Q Okay. Would you accept that custoners in al
cl asses can be expected to have nade energy use rel ated
i nvest nent deci sions, such as appliance choi ces,

bui l ding i nsul ati ons, decisions, et cetera based on the
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Conpany's currently effective rates?

A. | suppose there are sonme custoners that woul d
have done that.

Q. And when maki ng energy use rel ated
i nvestnments, you believe custonmers should be able to
expect some reasonable continuity in rates and charges
for gas service that they'|ll be required to pay?

A Well, it's one of the things you consider when
determ ning a revenue distribution but --

Q So yes?

A -- other facts are considered as well.

Q Ckay. Let's | ook at page 6 of your
surrebuttal testinmony and the allocation of interest on
| ate paynents portion that begins on |line 118.

Do you see that?

A | do.

Q. Al right. In lines 125 and 126, page 6 of
your surrebuttal, you state that, quote, "ANGC w tness
Oiver agrees with ny recommended adjustnment to all ocate
interest on |late paynments on the basis of nunbers of
custonmers in each class,"” close quote.

Do you see that?
A Yes.
Q. Do you -- can you cite the page and |ine

nunbers in M. Oiver's rebuttal testinony that you
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relied on for that statenent?

A | can't right here.

Q Okay. | have a copy of this, but would you
accept, subject to check, that it was M. Oiver's
rebuttal page 22 lines 468 to 477 that you based that
recomrendati on on?

A. Yes. 1'll accept that, subject to check.

Q. Okay. Just trying to keep this going here
because | know we're trying to finish up today. Al nost
done.

The only expression of agreement with your
testinony on this matter relates to M. Oiver's
assessnment that, quote, "large customers are not
generally the source of past due accounts and that
all ocating interest on past due accounts using DNG
revenues nost |ikely overstates the portion of interest

on past due accounts that is appropriately attributable

to large custoners”; is that correct?
A | assume you read it correctly.
Q Okay. Now, can you indicate to the Comm ssion

any other place in M. Oiver's rebuttal testinony where
you believe he expresses support for your recomended
all ocation of interest on past due accounts?

A. | don't have it in front of nme. So | cannot

do t hat.
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Q If | gave you a copy, would you be able to
find sonething in it?
A | can | ook.
Q. Okay.
MR. DAVI DSON: May | approach?
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  You may.
A. |"msorry. Could you ask your question again.
Q. (BY MR, DAVIDSON) Sure. |1Is there any place
that you can find in M. Oiver's rebuttal testinony
where you believe he expresses support for your
recommended al |l ocati on of interest on past due accounts?
A Hi s recommendation is if -- if the Conm ssion
accepts ny allocation, then should also allocate
uncol | ecti bl e accounts using the nunber of custoners.
(Technical difficulty.)
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Let's go off the record
for just a second.
(Di scussion held off the record.)
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: |Is there a pending
guestion?
Q (BY MR, DAVIDSON) | think maybe, but I'Il see
if M. Daniel found anything that's responsive.
A Yeah. M. Oiver's rebuttal testinmony says he
agrees with ne that "large custoners are not generally

t he source of past due accounts and that the all ocating
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i nterest of past due accounts using DNG revenues nost
li kely overstates the portion of interest on past due
accounts that is attributable to | arge custoners.™

It goes onto say, "If the Comm ssion accepts
M. Daniel's rationale for his proposed change in
all ocation of interest on past due accounts, the
Comm ssion nmust also find that the same rational e
suggests that EGU s allocation for uncollectible
accounts expense and account 904 is al so inappropriate
and reflective of actual cost causation.”

Sol -- 1 -- nmy testinony does m scharacterize
what he -- what he said.

Q. Okay. And just before we had our technical
difficulty, got one nore question. Am1l correct that
you have provided no analysis in this proceeding that
denonstrates a correl ation between a nunber of custoners
in each rate class and the costs EGU custonmers -- EGU

incurs for interest on past due accounts?

A No. | do not have that information.
Q That's all | have for you today, M. Daniel.
Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Thank you,
M . Davi dson.
THE W TNESS: Thank you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Excuse ne. Major Newton?
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MAJOR NEWION: | think | just have one
guesti on.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Proceed.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MAJOR NEWION:

Q Good eveni ng, al nost.

A Good eveni ng.

Q. In | ooking at your rebuttal testinony on
page 7 where you're addressing M.-- FEA' s testinony
regardi ng the cost allocation factor on page -- sorry.
Not page -- on line 150, you note one of your criticisns

of FEA's testinony is that we did "not point to any
change since the |last rate case that would support the
Comm ssi on departing fromits methodol ogy for

determ ning just and reasonable rates in its recent
order."

I's your testinony that Enbridge would have to
change their systemin order for a different allocation
factor to be adopted if it was proven to be based on
cost causation principles that were just and reasonabl e?

A Well, that would be the primary thing that
woul d maybe support changi ng how costs are all ocat ed.
But I"'mreferring to the two allocation factors, the 230

and the allocation of the large internmedi ate high

pressure mains. That's probably, you know, what woul d
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need -- that would have to be sone system changes for
those two allocation factors to change in ny opinion.
Ot her allocation factors there could be other things
that coul d change that m ght support changi ng how

al l ocation was done.

Q Okay. Thank you. No further questions.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Thank you, Maj or
Newt on.

We'll turn to M. Snarr for any redirect.

MR. SNARR: No redirect.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: COkay. We'Ill turn to the
Commi ssion. Comm ssioner Clark?

COW SSI ONER CLARK: No questions. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Conmi ssioner
Har vey?

COWM SSI ONER HARVEY: Just a coupl e.

EXAM NATI ON

BY COWM SSI ONER HARVEY:

Q. I"d like to explore the new | arge | oad
concerns that you've expressed in your testinmony and in
your summary. G ven the existence of the CET and the
rates by class com ng out of a rate case being set, what

types of costs specifically do you see that there's a

danger that they could be m sallocated or -- or whatever
it is that you're -- | guess explain your concerns to ne
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a bit nore.

A. Well, it kind of ties to the tariff |anguage
change as well. VWhen a |arge |oad requests service from
the utility, utility does an engineering analysis to
determ ne what the systeminpact is of that |arge new
load. So it mght require additional pipelines,
certainly mains. They determ ne how nuch it's going to
cost, and depending on their tariff provisions, you
know, they may be able to charge a contribution in aid
of construction for some of the additional costs.

But it ain't -- may not be able to include it
all in a CAC. So those systeminprovenents that would
be caused by the large | oad would be the things that |I'm
concer ned about.

Q. And do you have specific tariff |anguage in
their current tariffs that you think would allow a new
| arge | oad custonmer to conme on wi thout paying all of
those costs that they find in their -- in the studies?

A Wel |, the biggest concern are these new data
centers, and there -- there are other issues related to
those. They're -- a lot of themcould be -- have
mul tiple applications with other utilities for the data
center. So they may or nmay not nmmaterialize, but the
Company coul d have already incurred sonme costs to

address that. The data center issue is really what |
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was focused on.

Q. And | guess I'mtrying to understand is why
you think there could be those unpaid costs, and | want
you to point out where you think I'mgetting this w ong.
When | read that tariff, it seenms to ne that the Conpany
has to wite a check before they start the engineering
stuff?

A Yes. That's correct for that Section point
902 [sic]. Once they go forward with comm tnment to put
their data center connected to the EGU system then
EGU s going to have to start building facilities to
serve that custoner, and sonme of those facilities in the
next rate case could get allocated to everybody.

Q So your testinony is there -- there are
provisions in the current tariff that allowed that
potential transfer to happen that the Conpany -- that
the new | arge | oad doesn't have to pay for that
construction prior to receiving service?

A Yes. That's -- that's -- that's right. There
is a line extension provision that may require paynment
for part of that, but not all of it, and that's --
that's the concern.

Q. Al right. Thank you. | appreciate it.

EXAM NATI ON
111
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BY PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:

Q. M. Daniel, I"'mtenpted to let this go, but
since | confused you with M. Oton, | think |I better
ask this question. So when we were talking about
prelim nary engineering costs for |arge scale projects,
you nmade two reconmendations. The first one was the
Conmpany "may" require an up-front paynment to "shall"
require up-front paynment. It's ny understandi ng that
EGQU agreed with you on that -- those changes; is that
correct?

A Yes.

Q And then you made a second recomendati on that
you |l ower the -- the cost threshold that the Conpany
proposed at $50 million for requiring up-front paynment
to $10 mllion for requiring up-front paynment. |[Is that
your recommendation?

A Yes. It is.

Q And you've heard M. Park's testinony as to
t he reasons why the Conpany did not agree with your
reconmendation to |lower the cost threshold from
$50 mllion to $10 mlIlion. Wre you here and heard
t hat ?

A Yes. | believe he said that the $10 mllion
t hreshol d woul d increase the nunber of custoners that

woul d fall into that category and require themto do a
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| ot nmore studies than the 50 mllion.

Q. Yeah. So referring to his testinmony -- |
won't have you turn there in the interest of tine.
Just -- if you could just take it on faith, he's
indicating that lowering it to $10 mllion would
significantly broaden the nunber of projects subject to
the requirenment, including many that are routine and
t hat woul d have m ni nal engi neering costs associ at ed
with them that that can increase adm nistrative

over head and | engthen the overall project citing

process.

So those reasons that he gave -- they're not
adequate for you to -- to abandon, if you wll, your
$10 mlIlion threshold argunent? 1Is there any nmerit to
his position there that -- that it should stay at
$50 million?

A Wll, I -- 1 -- 1 think it's a reasonabl e
point. | would say that what we don't know is at
20 mllion, what -- what is that threshold cost? Maybe

it's not an instrunental, a |arge nunber of additional
routi ne accounts. So, you know, sone -- the 50 between
50 and 10 mllion, that's a big gap. So if 10 mllion
is going to cause a lot of extra work on their part, you
know, maybe 20 mIlion m ght be the right nunber.

Q Ckay.
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A. | just don't know that information.

Q. You don't know whether -- it could be
$50 mllion is an -- is an adequate number or not. It's
just there's a range you think in between ten -- or

currently proposed?

A Yeah. A $50 million cost of additional
facilities is -- is a huge nunmber in ny opinion.

Q. Yeah. Which would -- would typically require
significant up-front engi neering costs associated with
it. That's what | think their position is.

A Well, it's for the cost of the prelimnary
engi neering study.

Q. Ri ght. Okay.

A. | don't think that's -- that's significant,

t he study.

Q Okay. For a $50 million project, yeah. OCkay.

A Yeah.

Q Okay. Al right. | think I understand your
position. All right. You can be excused, M. Daniel.
Thank you very nuch.

A Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. We'Il next nove on
to the -- to M. Russell and -- | have M. -- | have
UAE's witness next; is that correct?

MR. RUSSELL: That's right. The Utah
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Associ ation of Energy Users calls Courtney Higgins.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay. Ms. Higgins. Thank
you. WIIl you raise your right armto the square.
COURTNEY HI GG NS
was called as a witness, and having been first duly
sworn to tell the truth, testified as foll ows:
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Thank you. You may be
seat ed.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR, RUSSELL:

Q Good afternoon. Could you state and spel
your nanme for the record, please.

A. Good afternoon. M nanme is Courtney M
Higgins. That is Co-u-r-t-n-e-y, mddle initial M
Hi-g-g-i-n-s.

Q And can you tell us who you work for and in
what capacity?

A. Yes. |'man associate principal at Energy
Strategi es.

Q And on whose behalf do you offer testinony in
t hi s proceedi ngs:

A. The Utah Associ ation of Energy Users or UAE.

Q. Did you prepare and cause to be filed direct,
rebuttal, and surrebuttal testinmony in this proceedi ng?

A. Yes.
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Q And let's go ahead and identify that. The
direct testinmony | have as UAE Exhibit COS 2.0 with
exhibits -- UAE Exhibits COS 2.1 through 2.3, rebuttal
testinony | abel ed as UAE Exhibit COS 4.0 with UAE
Exhibit COS 4.1, and surrebuttal testinony |abeled UAE
Exhibit COS 5.0 along with UAE Exhibit COS 5.1. And in
addi tion, you submtted rate case nodels with your
direct and rebuttal testinmony; is that right?

A Yes. That's right.

Q. Okay. And with respect to all of that
testinony, do you have any corrections to nake?

A Not at this tine.

Q. And if asked the same questions today that
were posed in your prefiled testinony, would you provide

the sane answers?

A Yes. | woul d.
Q. Okay.
MR. RUSSELL: At this point, I wll nove for

the adm ssion of Ms. Higgins' direct, rebuttal, and
surrebuttal testinony along with all the associ ated
exhi bits and work papers?

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. W thout objection,
we'll admit the direct, rebuttal, surrebuttal exhibits
and wor k papers.

(Courtney Higgins' prefiled testinmony and
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exhibits were admtted into evidence.)

MR. RUSSELL: Thank you, M. Chairman.

Q (BY MR RUSSELL) Ms. Higgins, have you
prepared a summary of your testinony for us today?

A. Yes. | have.

Q Okay. Please proceed with that.

A Good afternoon, M. Chair and conm ssioners.
| appreciate the opportunity to be here today on behal f
of UAE. M Phase Il testinony offers several
recommendations to better align cost allocation with the
way the distribution systemis designed and built. |
al so address rate spread and rate design for
transportation service cl asses.

The first issue | wish to address concerns
both cost allocation and rate design for the
transportation bypass firmor TBF class. It also
affects the overall revenue deficiency, which is the
increase to current rates necessary to achieve the
revenue requirenent in the Phase | settlenent.

Enbridge is projecting significant |oad growth
for -- for a TBF customer during the 2026 test period.

Al t hough forecasted test periods inherently present sone
chal | enges, the way that Enbridge has reflected this
| oad growth creates a particular problem This problem

occurs because there is a msnatch between the TBF cost
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allocation inputs and billing determ nates. The Conpany
all ocates a full year of demand related cost to the TBF
cl ass based on the higher level of firmdemnd expected
in the latter half of 2026. However, the TBF billing
determ nates reflect five nonths of the pre-growth | eve
and seven nonths at the higher |oad |evel.

Al'l ocating demand rel ated costs based on the
hi gher demand | evel but designing rates using a hybrid
of the | ower and higher |oad periods results in TBF
rates that are materially overstated. This would cause
all TBF customers to pay higher rates than justified
under the established TBF pricing framework, including
exi sting customers who are not associated with the
addi tional | oad.

My adj ustnent applies the higher TBF load to
each nonth of 2026, which increases the TBF billing
determ nates for the January to May 2026 period. This
i ncreases the adjusted TBF revenue at current rates,

t hereby reducing the revenue deficiency.

Under the Phase | settlenent, to which UAE is
a settling party, the total revenue requirenent is
$604 million. This corresponds to an increase of
$62 mllion using Enbridge's billing determ nates or
$60.2 mllion incorporating my TBF adjustment, which is

a difference of $1.8 mllion.
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Phase Il issues are not foreclosed by the
Phase | settlenment, and | continue to recommend that ny
TBF | oad adj ustment be adopted in Phase I1.

Correcting this msmatch will noderate the TBF
i ncrease and hel p preserve the econom c incentive for
exi sting TBF customers to remain on the Conpany's
di stribution system It will also nodestly reduce the
costs allocated to the non-TBF classes. Absent this
adj ustnent, a portion of the benefit fromthe additional
TBF load will accrue to Enbridge during the interim
peri od between the 2026 test period and the next rate
case effective date.

In his -- excuse nme -- in his rebuttal,
M. Summrers raises revenue related concerns about ny
adj ust nent, but he acknow edges that the magnitude of
TBF growth is significant and proposes to limt the TBF
increase to 1.5 tines the system average. Wile |
continue to recommend adoption of nmy TBF | oad
adj ustnent, if the Comm ssion declines to do so,
M. Sumrers' proposal to limt the TBF increase to 1.5
times the system average would be a reasonabl e
alternative, given the unique circunstances of this
case.

Beyond TBF, several famliar cost allocation

i ssues warrant the Comm ssion's consi deration. ['"d |ike
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to turn to Allocation Factor 230, which is the bl ended
factor used to allocate the feeder system conpressor
station, and neasuring and regul ating station costs.

As I'msure we're all famliar, Allocation
Factor 230 incorporates both an average or throughput
conponent and a peak conponent. This is a method which
is often termed the average and peak nethod. Both UAE
and the Conpany have |ong recogni zed that design day
demand is the appropriate nmeasure of demand rel ated cost
responsibility, and | continue to support the use of
desi gn day demand for this purpose.

| further recomend wei ghting the throughput
conponent by the system | oad factor, which is
34 percent, including the TBF adjustnent | just
di scussed. This results in a 66 percent design day,
34 percent throughput weighting. In his rebuttal
testinony, M. Sumrers acknow edged that UAE s proposal
has anal ytical nerit, though he maintained the Conpany's
60 percent design day, 40 percent throughput approach.

| al so recommended the allocation of |arge
di ameter internediate high pressure nmains incorporate a
di stribution design day conmponent. The cost of |arge
diameter IHP mains are currently allocated solely based
on distribution throughput; however, this systemis also

designed to neet design day demand, and it is
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appropriate for this cost driver to be reflected in cost
al l ocati on.

Wth respect to interest on past due accounts,
the Ofice's proposal to allocate this revenue based on
custoner accounts should be rejected. Interest is
assessed as a percentage of arrearages and, therefore,
varies with the size of past due bal ances, not the
number of custonmers. Any change to this item should be
consi dered al ongside the allocation of uncollectible
accounts, collection expense, and the bad debt gross up,
all of which are closely tied to bad debt incurrence,
not necessarily to custonmer counts.

In turning to rate spread, it would be
reasonabl e for the Conm ssion to consider limting class
increases to mtigate the inpacts that certain classes
woul d ot herwi se experience. The refinenents | propose
better reflect cost causation and reduce cost-based
increase for the transportation, TBF, and interruptible
sal es classes. The case for noderation is even stronger
under Enbridge's cost of service study, which produces
hi gher increases for these classes. | would support the
Comm ssion's consideration of rate noderation proposals
to tenper these effects.

| don't oppose proposals by the Ofice, the

Division, and ANGC to |limt or elimnate the natural gas
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vehicle class subsidy. |If any NGV subsidy is retained,
cost responsibility should be all ocated based on

di stribution non-gas revenue as the Conpany has done in
order to apply the cost of funding this subsidy
proportionately across the non-NGV cl asses.

Finally, on the subject of rate design,
recommend that the Conmm ssion decline to adopt Nucor's
proposal to redesign TSL volunetric rates, which would
i npose an undue burden on smaller TSL custoners.

Thr oughout ny testinmony, | recomrended that any
reduction to the proposed TS volunetric revenues
relative to the Conpany's original proposal be applied
on an equal percentage basis within each cl ass.

| also recommend that the Comm ssion decline
to adopt Nucor's rebuttal proposal to greatly increase
the TS firm demand charge. A demand charge increase of
t he magni tude proposed would alter the econom cs of firm
service for transportation custoners and could di srupt
the stability of this rate el enent.

That concl udes ny sunmary. Thank you.

Q (BY MR, RUSSELL) Thank you, Ms. Higgins.
Before | make you available for cross-exam nation,
there's one point of clarification | want to make.

M. Sumrers, both in his surrebuttal testinony

and while he was on the stand today, made reference to
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sonme assistance that you had provided with respect to
sone nodeling, some sort of broken formula with respect
to Enbridge's surrebuttal nodel or maybe its rebutta
nodel .

Does your assistance on that matter indicate
your support for the allocation factors and other
positions that are reflected in that nodel ?

A Not entirely. So I -- | did point out that
there was a cell reference error in the Conpany's
rebuttal cost of service nodel, and that particul ar
error was resolved in M. Sumrers' surrebuttal nodel.

| would not want to give the inpression that |
am endorsing all elenments of the Conpany's surrebuttal
model . | provided my own version of the cost of service
nodel al ongside ny rebuttal testinmony, and in that
nmodel , | reflect a proxy group of adjustnments to achieve
the settlenment revenue requirement. It also reflects ny
cost allocation and rate design proposals. There are
al so switches in that nodel that can be toggled on and
off if the Conmm ssion wi shes to explore those
al ternatives.

Q Okay. Thank you.

MR. RUSSELL: WMs. Higgins is available for
guesti oni ng.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Thank you,
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M. Russell, and thank you, Ms. Higgins.
We'll turn to the Conpany for cross.
MS. BARRETT: We do have questions, Chairman.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Great.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. BARRETT:
Q Good afternoon, Ms. Higgins.

A. Good afternoon.

Q. We haven't net before. I1'mRonit Barrett, and
"' m here on behalf of Enbridge. 1It's nice to nmeet you.

A You as wel .

Q So I would like to discuss -- can you hear ne?

Am | cl ose enough to the m ke?
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  You're fine.

Q. (BY Ms. BARRETT) | would lIike to discuss one
aspect of your recommendation to address projected |oad
in the TBF class. You are famliar with the concept of
a test period; correct?

A. Yes.

Q Okay. And would you agree with ne that the
test period in this case is an average 13-nonth forecast
for the period ending December 31, 20267

A. | agree.

Q. Okay. And are you aware that in Utah, a

future test period cannot be based on projected data
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exceeding 20 nonths fromthe date a proposed rate change
is filed?

A. | amfamliar with that requirenent.

Q. Okay. And EGQU filed this rate change on May 1
of 2025; correct?

A. Yes.

Q Okay. And no party has disputed that test
period?

A. Not to my know edge.

Q. Okay. And so the farthest out data that the
Conmi ssion can consider in this case is Decenber 2026;
correct?

A | -- go ahead.

Q Go ahead. No. Go ahead.

A For the purpose of establishing the test
period, | agree that data beyond 2026 woul d not be part
of that test period.

Q Okay. And do you agree with nme that under
this future test period paradigm to determ ne the
appropriate rate design, the utility nust project things
like the load that it expects to serve?

A. | agree that | oad projections are part of a
future test period.

Q. Okay. And | oad does not always remain

constant throughout the test period; correct?
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A That's correct.

Q Okay. One reason for this could be custoner
growth, that is, anticipated new custoners entering the
system is that right?

A. Yes.

Q And anot her reason for a change in |oad coul d

flip the other way and be an unexpected | oss of | oad;

ri ght?
A. Yes.
Q. For exanple, large industrial custonmers can

experience financial hardship that causes themto
curtail their use?

A. That could be the case. Quickly, when you
said an unexpected |loss of |oad, by definition -- |
guess when -- when you say "unexpected,” if it is
unexpected, it would likely not be included in a
forecast of the test period. So it would be, you know,

expected | oad changes m ght be included in such a

f orecast.
Q And unexpected ones woul d not?
A Ri ght .
Q Okay. Some custoners of EGU could even go

bankrupt; right?
A. Ri ght .

Q Are you aware of any of EGU s |large industri al
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custoners that have filed for bankruptcy recently?

A | am not personally famliar with that.

Q Okay. So are you famliar with US Magnesi unf

A Yes.

Q Okay. But you are not aware that they filed
for bankruptcy on Septenber 25th of this year?

A I will accept that that is likely the case
based on your presentation.

Q. Okay. So in this case, EGU has projected that
its TBF class load will increase over the course of the
test period; correct?

A. Ri ght .

Q And EQU has pinpointed the nonth where it
bel i eves that | oad growth will occur for the first tine;
correct?

A. Right. Which is June 2026.

Q. June. That was ny next question.

And that's because EGU antici pates one | arge

| oad custonmer will conme online in June 20267
A My understanding is that the custonmer is
currently connected but they are anticipating -- the

Conmpany is anticipating that their [oad will grow
significantly during 2026.
Q Yes. Thank you for that clarification.

But woul d you agree with nme that it's not a
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certainty that the custoner will increase its | oad?

A. That is true. And |like any forecasted test
period, there are elenments of uncertainty.

Q. Okay. So the project could be abandoned or
cancel ed?

A. That's -- there is the possibility that that
could happen. | don't -- | can't speak to the facts of

that particular --

Q Okay.
A. -- custoner.
Q But -- but the best avail abl e know edge for

the test period in the -- at the tine EQUJ filed this
case indicated that |load will increase for the |ast
seven nonths of the year, June through Decenber 20267

A That's right.

Q Ckay. And would you agree with ne that no one
has offered any evidence that the project will cone
onl i ne sooner than June 20267

A. | agree.

Q Okay. And would you agree with ne that you
have not put any evidence in the record at all about
whet her this project will still be contributing to | oad
outside the test period in 2027 and 2028?

A Right. | have not put forth specific evidence

about the post-test year period. M expectation would
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be, since the Conmpany has decided to allocate

demand-rel ated costs to the class as though that | oad
will be there -- in other words, bringing a full year of
demand-rel ated costs to the TBF class, that if the
Conmpany felt that | oad was going to disintegrate, that
woul d not be fair treatnent for the TBF class. So | --
| feel that, based on the evidence we have in this case,

that that load is expected to materialize, and | don't

have a reason to believe that it will disappear
Q. But the evidence that you just referred to
refers -- is the test period only, 2026; right? The

Conpany has not made any representations about 2027 or
20287

A Correct. | don't believe we have
representations about the post-test year period for that
or any other specific custoner.

Q. Okay. And, in fact, considering data fromthe
post-test year period would fall outside that statutory
20-mont h period that we agreed on Decenber 2026;
correct?

A For the purpose of create -- you know,
creating the test period, | agree that |ooking beyond
that period would -- would, you know, over -- overreach
too far into the future; however, | do think that we

shoul d be m ndful about what the future inplications of

Page 279

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N NN N NN R R R R R R R R R
O »h W N P O © O N O O M~ W N Rk O

Phase Il Hearing - November 18, 2025

the decisions that are made in this case are. And so
while it may not be within the strict confines of a test
period, we still need to be m ndful about whether those
customer classes are being treated equitably, within the
confines of that test period.

And as -- | do think it is relevant to point
out that, you know, all -- based on the information we
have in this case, during that post-test year period,
Enbri dge woul d benefit fromthat additional |oad, and
that is not included within the strict confines of the
test period, but it's informative, and that's why | -- |

brought up that fact.

Q. Okay. |1'd like to show you Enbridge Cross
Exhi bit 2.
A. Sure.

MS. BARRETT: WMy | approach --

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  You may.

MS. BARRETT: -- or may Ms. Mtchell approach?

Q. (BY MS. BARRETT) So what |'ve given you is a

copy of Utah Title 54, specifically Section 54-4-4,
Classification and fixing of rates after hearing. And
l"d like you to ook at -- unfortunately, it spans the
page break, but if you go to (3), you'll see the (3) on
the bottomof the first page. And if you flip it over,

you'll see under that (b), and then a (i). Could you
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read (b) (i) out |oud, please.

A. Yes. "A future test period that is determ ned
on the basis of projected data not exceeding 20 nont hs
fromthe date a proposed rate increase or decrease is
filed wth the Comm ssion" -- am | reading the right
section? It doesn't sound |like the whole --

Q You can start with (b). Sorry. Part of the
way | said it was a little confusing.

Okay.
Start with (b) --
Yes.

-- and continue through (i).

> O >» O >

Okay. Let nme back up.
"In establishing the test period determned in
subsection (3)(a), the Comm ssion may use a future test
period that is determ ned on the basis of projected data
not exceedi ng 20 nonths fromthe date a proposed rate
increase or decrease is filed with the Conm ssion under
Section 54-7-12."
Shall | continue?
Q No, no. That's okay. So -- so this -- what

you just read says the Conm ssion nmay use projected data

not exceeded 20 nonths -- not exceedi ng 20 nont hs, but

your testinony today is you -- you hear that, you see

that, but you still want themto consider sonme data from
Page 281

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N NN N NN R R R R R R R R R
O »h W N P O © O N O O M~ W N Rk O

Phase Il Hearing - November 18, 2025

2027 and 2028?

A No. I'mnot asking for data from'27 or '28
to be considered within the test period.

Q. You' re asking for the effects to be
consi dered?

A. " masking for a specific adjustnment to be
applied to the January to May 2026 period in order to be
consi stent with the Conpany's allocation of
demand-rel ated costs to the TBF class, which is based on
an annual i zed or year-end denmand | evel.

Q Okay. So -- and let nme just step back a
little. We talked about it a little bit when
M. Sumrers was on the stand, and you today, but | just
want to clarify what your position is and what his
position is.

So M. Summers recommends using the projected
| oad for 2026, and that means taking an average of the
five nonths preload gromth and the seven nonths
post-l oad growth; correct?

A That's -- so for the purpose of reflecting the
billing determ nates in the TBF class rate design,
that's correct.

Q. Okay. And you proposed something different.
You proposed using the higher post-load growth

projections for every nonth in 2026; correct?
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A. Correct.

Q. Okay. Even though we've established that no

one -- no one thinks the load is going to start before
June?

A. Ri ght .

Q Okay.

A. It's a matter of trying to maintain alignnment

with the allocation of demand-related costs in order to
avoid a distortion where those costs are comng to the
cl ass based on this single annualized end of year number
but then being recovered over a different set of billing
det er m nat es.

Q. Okay. And in making that recomrendati on,
you' re assum ng that the load will continue through 2027
and 2028; correct?

A. " m not making any specific assunption about
the | oad continuing beyond '27 -- beyond the test period

any nore than |I'm making that assunption about the | oad

in general for any class. | nmean, we're working within
a test year construct, and so my -- ny concern is -- is
limted to that for the period of -- of the -- you know,

for the purpose of establishing the test period.
Q. Okay. Could you turn to your surrebuttal,
which is UAE Exhibit 5 at page 13?
PRESI DI NG OFFICER: Can | interrupt for just a
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second, Ms. Barrett?

MS. BARRETT: Yes.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: | suppose we could take
judicial notice of this -- what you had her reviewis
just Section 54-4-4, but you referred to it as a cross
exhibit. D dyou want to admt it as a cross exhibit?

M5. BARRETT: Just to have the record
conplete, we mght as well, yeah. So | would nove for
adm ssion of Cross Exhibit 2.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. All right. Seeing
no objection, we'll admt that, which is really just
Section 54-4-4 of the Utah Code.

(EGQU s Cross Exhibit 2 was admtted into
evi dence.)

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Thank you. Sorry for the
i nterruption.

MS. BARRETT: You're welcone. That's okay.

Q (BY MS. BARRETT) So your surrebuttal,
Exhibit 5.0, starting at -- |I'd just direct your
attention to page 13 and starting on |line 234, and we're
going to go over to page 14, line 239. And you state,
"I'f the TBF | oad adjustnent is not nmade, the increnental

revenues associated with a portion of the projected TBF

| oad growth will accrue to Enbridge between rate cases.
Since the Conpany's billing determ nates capture only 7
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out of 12 nonths at the higher TBF | oad | evel, Enbridge

woul d benefit for five nonths of unaccounted for

revenue

growth in both 2027 and 2028, assum ng approxi mtely

three years between rate cases."”
Have | read that correctly?
A. That's right.
Q Okay. So you are essentially broaden
test period to a 3-year period to include your

assunption about this one custonmer's future use?

A | disagree.
Q But doesn't part of the basis of your
reconmendati on necessarily consider outside -- d

outside the statutorily mandated 20-nonth peri od
A. | amnot relying on the effect that th
i ncrenental growth may have on Enbridge's earnin

bet ween rate cases as the basis for ny recomend

ng the

at a

?
at

gs

ation.

It is really designed to ensure that the TBF cl ass, and

really all classes, are treated equitably within
case based on the 2026 test period.

Q Okay. And let's say, arguendo, that t
Commi ssion is allowed to | ook beyond the test pe
|'"'m not representing that they are. | don't thi
are, but | just want to explore that with you fo

little bit. Your recommendation to include the

this

he
riod.
nk they
r a

i npacts

of this load or to look at -- to consider the inpacts of
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this | oad doesn't include asking the Comm ssion to | ook
at any other elenents that m ght have inpacts in 2027
and 2028; correct?

A "' m not proposing a broad application of a
2027 or 2028 projections, no.

Q Okay. And you haven't taken into account any

reduced usage due to potential bankruptcies or other

reasons?
A. No.
Q. Okay. You have picked one large customer with

i ncreasing volunmes in 2026 and extrapol ated that to 2027
and 2028 wi t hout updating any other forecast
information; isn't that right?

A. To be clear, | didn't pick this custoner. |
observed that there was an anonmaly in the Conpany's rate
case -- in their rate case nodel in their cost of
servi ce nodel that bared further explanation. And when
| asked about that, the Conpany explained to nme that it
was based on a single custonmer whose | oad was expected
to grow and that that was driving the increased cost
allocation to TBF. And so | amresponding to that data
with nmy recommendati on.

Q. Okay. And do you agree with me that one
purpose of requiring a test period in ratemaking is to

make sure that no cherry-picking occurs?
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A. | agree that it -- | agree that a test period

shoul d generally reflect an alignnment between

revenues

and expenses and rate base and cost allocation inputs.

Cherry-picking is -- | nean, | guess parties

coul d argue that any particular itemthat anot
brings up is cherry-picking if they do not thi

significant. So | don't see this as cherry-pi

her party
nk it is
cking. |

see this as responding to material load growth that is

affecting cost allocation and sonmething that |

i gnore.

coul d not

Q So I think we agree, though, that in a test

period, part of the purpose of it is that al

of the

relevant information for that period is considered and

that it's not just the nost harnful or just the nost

beneficial itens?

A. | agree that the test period should

be | ooked

at holistically, including all relevant el ements.

Q Ckay. You refer to your recommended treat nent

for the TBF billing determ nates as, quote, "year-end

treatnment,"” close quote, and you testify that

this

year-end treatnment is atypical, that it should not be

applied to other elenents of this case; is that correct?

A It is year-end treatnment in that it

mat ches

t he Conpany's year-end treatnment of demand. And so, you

know, gas cases can be sort of unusual in that

t hey
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depart from how electric utilities, for exanple, often
all ocate costs. They may | ook at | oads throughout the
year for the purpose of determ ning demand-rel at ed
costs.

The design day is a singular day, and because

of that unique inportance of that singular day and the

fact that this -- this load is occurring in the latter
half of the year, | felt it was reasonable to align the
billing determ nates and those costs to allocation

i nput s.

Q Okay. And I'd like to draw your attention to
your direct testinony. That's UAE 2.0 at page 16, |lines
266 to 271, and in response to the question that reads,
"I n proposing your TBF | oad adjustnent, are you
advocating that 2026 year-end treatnment be applied to
the other elenents of this case?"

And you respond, "No." And then you continue
to say, "My adjustnment is narromMy tailored to reflect
the TBF | oad growth anticipated to occur m d-2026 to
ensure internally consistency between the TBF cost
all ocation inputs and billing determ nates. It should
not be interpreted as a proposal to broadly apply 2026
year-end treatnment to any other aspects of this case."

Did | read that correctly?

A. Yes.
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Q Ckay. |I'd like to just briefly nove onto one
ot her issue related to this topic of TBF billing
det er m nat es.

Were you listening renotely this norning when
EGQU witness M. Summers testified?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And do you renenber the |line of
guestioning that your attorney M. Russell asked about
the two conprom se alternatives to EGU s proposed TBF
billing determ nates?

A. Yes. | did listen in to that portion of
testinony earlier.

Q. Okay. And one of the alternatives was a step
rate increase; correct?

A Yes. | did offer that as an -- an alternative
to the alternatives in nmy direct testinony if ny primry
proposal were not adopted.

Q Ckay. And the other was a mtigation of the
rate increase to the TBF class by limting the increase
to 1.5 tinmes the system average increase; correct?

A So in ny direct testinmony, | offered a couple
of alternatives that were based on cost allocation.
Those alternatives were either to allocate
demand-rel ated costs to TBF based on the average firm

demand for over the course of the 2026 test period. The
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other alternative was to pull out this |load growth
entirely.

And then in response to the Conpany's rebutt al
testinony, M. Sumrers' rebuttal testinony, where he
proposed noderating that increase to 1.5 tines the
system average, | -- | agreed that that would be a
reasonabl e alternative as well

Q. Okay. And so -- and this question is directed
at the testinmony fromthis norning and the two
alternatives that were discussed there, which is the
step rate increase and the mtigation of 1 to 1.5 tines.
I n your opinion, are both of those alternatives
acceptabl e conprom ses to this disputed issue?

A There is sone -- there is an admnistrative
advantage to inplenenting this as a noderated rate
increase to TBF as opposed to a step or phased in
increase. | know that that can be inconvenient for
customers to be experiencing nultiple rate changes.

And, admittedly, this -- this alternative was
not fully developed in the record since it didn't really
gain much traction in rebuttal or surrebuttal. So |
woul d say that, as an alternative to the Conpany's
direct proposal, it would be preferable to have a phased
in approach. However, | -- | believe the adm nistrative

simplicity of sinply noderating increase for this class
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woul d be preferable if nmy primary proposal is not
approved.

Q Okay. And just -- I'mrealizing that | just
started tal king about the step rate increase w thout
sort of explaining what it is, which it would be two
different rates throughout the year; right? A first
rate at the load Ievel from-- for the first five nonths
of the year and then a second rate for the seven nonths
of the year so it matches the projection exactly; right?

A That's right. And | -- | think in order to
i npl enent that correctly, it would actually involve
changing rates for all classes, both in that first phase
and then in that second phase, because what woul d happen
is that the -- the billing determ nates associated with
that | oad growth and the cost allocation inputs
associated with that |oad growth would have to get
pul l ed out of that step one, and then we'd have step two
where those are brought in and so it has inplications
beyond the TBF cl asses.

Q Okay. Thank you. | have no further questions
at this tine.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Thank you, Ms. Barrett.
Let's turn to the Division. Any questions?
M5. SCHM D: No questions.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: M. Snarr, the O fice.
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MR. SNARR: We have sone questions.

As a prelimnary matter, | was advised by ny
client that we have a public hearing schedul ed.

PRESI DI NG OFFICER: Yes. So let's talk about
that for a second. | don't think we're going to get
done tonight. |It's pretty obvious that we got three

nore wi tnesses. We have noticed a public notice of a

public witness hearing that will comence at
6: 00 o' clock. So we probably need to -- you know, we'l
finish with this witness, and then we'll have to be

t hrough for the day.

We' Il probably need to -- you know, we'l
commence that hearing at 6:00 o'clock. Maybe nobody
wll show up. | don't know. |[|s there anybody here yet
that intends to participate in the public hearing? |
think I recognize nost of you. So you're here as staff
and enpl oyees.

So by the notice, we need to be -- we'll keep
that public witness tinme open until 6:30. | don't
suspect anybody wants to continue after 6:30. So
we'll -- we'll reconvene in the norning at 9:00 o' cl ock
if that's -- | think that's what we schedul ed.

MR. SNARR: It would probably to be
appropriate to have, if not a potty break, a snack break

before the 6: 00 o' cl ock hour.
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PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Yeah. We're going to --
we're going to stop a quarter to 6:00. So if you got

gquestions and can do it in that tinme frame --

MR. SNARR: 1'll do ny best.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: We'll let Ms. Higgins cone
back tonmorrow, but can't tell. Okay. But just go

ahead, M. Snarr.
MR. SNARR: Thank you.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MR, SNARR:

Q Good afternoon, or good after evening in this
case it may be.

A Good eveni ng.

Q You represent the interests of Utah
Associ ati on of Energy Users; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And in the testinonies you have filed in this
proceedi ng, you've raised sonme questions about
Enbri dge's cost classification nethodol ogy and the
all ocation of costs to Enbridge's various rate cl asses;
isn't that correct?

A Yes.

Q. In your direct testinony at pages 16 and 17,
you explain that you disagree with Enbridge's use of the

wei ghting factor of 60 percent and 40 percent as the
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all ocation factor 230; is that right?

A. Yes.

Q And you suggest that the throughput portion of
that all ocation factor should not exceed the system | oad
factor; correct?

A Correct.

Q And you al so acknow edge that Enbridge's use
of the allocation factor is consistent with the prior
Comm ssion order 22-057-03; is that right?

A Yes.

MR. SNARR: | would like to | ook at that order
injust alittle nore detail on the allocation issues.
| do have copies of that order that | can share.
think we can take judicial notice of it.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Yeah.

MR. SNARR: But 1'd like to use it as an
exhi bit here.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Yeah, that's fine. Let's
pass it out. It's in the record. 1It's available to
anybody who wants to look at it. W don't need to have
it admtted. |If you want to, we can, but it's not
necessary.

MR. SNARR: For conveni ence, |'ve highlighted
a couple areas that I'Il ask the witness to zero in on.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Are they highlighted on
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all the copies too?

MR. SNARR:  Yes.

MR. MOORE: May | approach?

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Yes. W can take judici al
notice it's already in the record. | think that's what
M. Snarr prefers. You don't want to nmake it an
exhi bi t?

MR. SNARR: |'m happy to have it be just
judicial notice.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay.

MR. SNARR: Use this just as a tool to bring
out the testinony.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: That's fine. That's what
we'll do.

Q (BY MR. SNARR) Can | have you turn to
page 36, please, of that order. [1'd like you to read
the highlighted portion there. | believe that's the
part of that order that pertains to the 60/40 allocation
factor?

A "Based on the |ack of consensus anong the
parties, we find the 60 percent/40 percent weighting is
consistent with the weightings in prior DEU general rate
case applications and addresses the need for facilities
subject to the F230 factor to fulfill two functions,

i ncludi ng neeting design day requirenments and, two,
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moving gas to all custoners 365 days per year. We find
this ratio al so recognizes the diversity of use of the
system by all customer groups. Recognizing the

i nherently subjective nature of this factor, we find it
reasonable to continue to use the 60 percent/40 percent
ratio that we have approved in previous rate cases."

Q Thank you. You have al so proposed a change in
the way Enbridge allocates costs associated with | arge
di ameter high pressure mains; isn't that correct?

A Large dianeter internmedi ate high pressure
mai ns, yes.

Q Ckay. Would you refer to page 39 of that sane
docunent, please, and | have sone |ines highlighted
there. Wuld you please read that?

A "We have approved DEU s use of the
di stribution throughput factor for |arge dianmeter mains
in previous rate cases. |In evaluating that nethod
agai nst the nmet hods proposed by UAE, Nucor, and FEA, we
do not find any enpirical advantages to the
alternatives. They sinply shift costs to the advantage
and/ or di sadvant age of specific classes w thout a
meani ngful rationale.”

Q. Al right. Thank you. Now | have anot her
area |I'd like to focus on, and |I need to have you refer

to the Phase Il rebuttal testinony of Austin Sunmers,
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t he Enbridge witness. |'mwondering if Enbridge has
t hat avail abl e real qui ck.

MS. M TCHELL: Just give us a nonent, please.
Thank you.

MS. BARRETT: Was that rebuttal or
surrebuttal ?

MR. SNARR: Rebuttal testinony.

MS. NELSON CLARK: My | approach?

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  You nmy appr oach.

MR. SNARR: Thank you for providing that.

Q (BY MR. SNARR) Now, at page 5 of M. Summers'
testi nony, actually pages 5 and 6, he presents charts
representing that they would -- that the charts show the
revenue requirenment of Phase | Settlenment Stipulation
and show ng a conparison of the resulting increases or
decreases that would occur if the Conpany were to
utilize, for exanple, the m ddle of the page UAE
suggested al |l ocati on net hodol ogy; is that right?

A | see that.

Q Okay. And at the top of the page, there's a
chart that presents what Enbridge's allocation

met hodol ogy produce; right?

A Yes.
Q. And as we | ook at the two, | just have a
question, would it be correct that utilizing the
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al l ocati on nmet hodol ogy you suggest, if we zero in on the
GS customer class, that that would shift an approxi mate
$2.9 mllion increase to the GS custoner class when
utilizing your approach to the allocation conpared to
Enbri dge' s?

A. If I my, I'd like to refer to ny own exhibit,

just because |I'm nore confortable with what is in there.

Q. Okay.

A. So in ny rebuttal testinony, | provide an
Exhibit UAE 4.1, and 1'll give everyone a nonent if they
have access to that. If not, I'll just describe what --

what | see.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Just repeat where we're
supposed to be | ooking in your rebuttal testinony.

THE WTNESS: ©Oh, yes. So this is UAE Exhi bit
COS 4.1. And if we ook at page 2 of that exhibit, this
is a version of the cost of service results that
reflects a proxy set of adjustnents to get to the
stipul ated revenue requirenent, and it also provides the
incremental inpact of noving to -- of ny various costs
to allocation proposals.

And so table five is the incremental inpact of

all ocation factor 230, and | estinate that that results

ina $2.7 mllion increase to GS -- the GS cl ass, which
is approximately .56 percent. This is after -- after
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reflecting the -- the discount, the TBF discount. So
that is in colum F of that table.

Q (BY MR. SNARR) So | ooking at what you' ve done
there and conparing to what is in the testinony of
M. Sumrers, we're tal king about a ballpark of 2.7 to
2.9 mllion shift towards the GS custonmer class?

A. That | ooks approximately correct.

Q. Al right. Thank you. Just another question.
"' m kind of junping here.

Are you aware that there's a Uah statute that
requires the Comm ssion to adhere to its past practices
unl ess an agency justifies the inconsistency by giving
facts and reasons that denonstrate a fair and rationale

basis for any inconsistency they would enbrace in a new

order?
A. | amnot famliar with that specific statute.
However, | -- that sounds -- that sounds plausible, and

| do feel that 1've provided such evidence in this case.
Q. Okay. That is all the questions | have.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Thank you,
M. Snarr.
Let's turn to M. Cook. Do you have
guestions?
MR. COOK: No questions.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: M. Davi dson.
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MR. DAVIDSON: | have just one question,
M. Chai r man.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. DAVI DSON:

Q And just to set the stage, Ms. Higgins, you
had a | engthy conversation with Enbridge counsel about a
new | oad com ng on m d-year next year. And would it be
reasonabl e to assune that the new TBF custoner that you
di scussed would be required to sign a contract to
establish contract demands for that increased | oad
that's being antici pated?

A Yes. | believe that to take service under the
TBF schedule -- that they would need to sign a contract
for firmcontract in hand.

Q Wuld it be reasonable to assunme that contract
woul d ext end beyond 20267?

A. Well, I"'mnot famliar with the specific terns
of such contract for that customer. |In general, they
are at | east one year in duration.

MR. DAVI DSON: Ckay. That's all | have,
M. Chairman. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Thank you.

Let's turn to Maj or Newton.

MAJOR NEWION: | have no questi ons,
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Conmmi ssi oner.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. We'Ill turn to
M. Russell for any redirect.
MR. RUSSELL: Yes. Thank you.
REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR RUSSELL:

Q Ms. Higgins, I"mgoing to ask sone foll ow up
guestions related to the discussion you were having with
Enbri dge's counsel .

Do you still have -- put those back on. Do
you still have EGU Hearing Exhibit 2? 1t was that

t wo- page exhibit with reference to Section 54-4-4 of

Ut ah Code.

A Yes.

Q. Enbridge's counsel directed you to
subparagraph (b). I1'mgoing to ask before we -- before
we dive into this -- in connection with your TBF | oad

adj ustnent, are you advocating that the Comm ssion use a
test period that is different than the 2026 cal endar
year.

A No, |'m not.

Q Okay. If | could get you to read subparagraph
(a), which is the one before you started -- could you do
that for me?

A. “"I'f in the Conm ssion's determ nation of just
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and reasonable rates the Comm ssion uses a test period,
the Comm ssion shall select a test period that, on the
basis of evidence, Conm ssion finds best reflects the
conditions that a public utility will encounter during
the period when the rates determ ned by the Comm ssion
will be in effect.”

Q Okay. So that subsection is dealing with, if
you're going to use a test period, you should use one
that reflects what the public utility will encounter
when rates are going to be in effect. And then
subpar agraph (b) says in establishing the test period
determ ned in Subsection (3)(a), here's what the
Comm ssion may | ook at.

Is that -- is that your understandi ng?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And then subsection little (i) is, as
you had di scussed with Enbridge's counsel, when you're
using a future test period, you're -- you know, you can
only use projected data not exceeding the 20 nonths;
right?

A Ri ght .

Q Okay. So going back to ny initial question
about this. This series of subparagraphs is relevant to
the question of what is the correct test period, and

you' ve said, | think, that your proposal on this doesn't
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seek to change the test period; is that -- is that -- is
t hat accurate?

A. That's right. M adjustnent is to the May --

excuse nme -- January to May nonths of the 2026 test
peri od.
Q Okay. | think that's all | have. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Because of what
M. Russell raised, we'll see if the Conpany has any
recross.

MS. BARRETT: No.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: No?

MS. BARRETT: No. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Thank you. We'l
turn to the Conmm ssion then.

COW SSI ONER CLARK:  Thank you. | don't have
any questions.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Conm ssi oner Harvey.

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: | think the various
counsel s have covered what | was going to cover. So
don't have any questions.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Geat. | don't
have any questions either, Ms. Higgins. You can step
down. Thank you very much for being here late in the
day.

THE W TNESS: Thank you for accommpdating ne.
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PRESI DI NG OFFI CER:  You' re wel cone.

Okay. It is what it is. | think we're going
to have to have the last three w tnesses conme back.
Unfortunately two of them have been allowed to appear
renotely.

We may have nobody who will show up here, but
| -- we're going to break now. Those who want to | eave
and not stay for the public wi tness hearing, they don't
have to stay. That's optional on your part as counsel.
| suspect, based upon past hearings, that we'll have
representation here from EGU and per haps ot hers, but
we' |l go ahead and adjourn for the evening on the
hearing -- on the nerits, and we will reconvene here at
6:00 p.m for any who would like to conme back and see if
we have anybody show up who wants to testify. Okay?

We'll start -- is that acceptable starting at
9: 00 tonorrow?

MS. M TCHELL: Yes.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER: Okay. Al right. W'l
start at 9:00 tonmorrow. Thank you everybody for your
courtesy to each other and for hel ping nove this al ong.
We're in recess.

(This hearing was concl uded at

5:41 p.m MI.)

* * % * %
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REPORTER' S CERTI FI CATE
STATE OF UTAH )
)
COUNTY OF UTAH )

|, BROOKE SI MMS, an |daho Certified Shorthand
Reporter, Utah State Certified Court Reporter, and
Regi st ered Professional Reporter, hereby certify:

THAT the foregoing proceedi ngs were taken
before me at the tinme and place set forth in the caption
hereof; that the proceedi ngs were taken down by nme in
shorthand and thereafter ny notes were transcri bed
t hrough conmputer-aided transcription; and the foregoing
transcript constitutes a full, true, and accurate record
of such oral proceedings had, and of the whole thereof.

| further certify that | amnot a relative or
enpl oyee of an attorney or party, nor am | financially
interested in the action.

| have subscribed ny nanme on this
21st day of Novenber, 2025.

B o

Brooke Sinmms, RPR, CCR, CSR
| daho CSR No. 1174
Utah CCR No. 12335391-780
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Utah Rules of Civil Procedure
Part V. Depositions and Discovery

Rule 30

(E) Submission to Witness; Changes; Signing.

Within 28 days after being notified by the officer
that the transcript or recording is available, a
witness may sign a statement of changes to the form
or substance of the transcript or recording and the
reasons for the changes. The officer shall append

any changes timely made by the witness.

DISCLAIMER: THE FOREGOING CIVIL PROCEDURE RULES
ARE PROVIDED FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY.
THE ABOVE RULES ARE CURRENT AS OF APRIL 1,

2019. PLEASE REFER TO THE APPLICABLE STATE RULES

OF CIVIL PROCEDURE FOR UP-TO-DATE INFORMATION.




VERITEXT LEGAL SOLUTIONS

COMPANY CERTIFICATE AND DISCLOSURE STATEMENT
Veritext Legal Solutions represents that the
foregoing transcript is a true, correct and complete
transcript of the colloquies, questions and answers
as submitted by the court reporter. Veritext Legal
Solutions further represents that the attached
exhibits, if any, are true, correct and complete
documents as submitted by the court reporter and/or
attorneys in relation to this deposition and that
the documents were processed in accordance with

our litigation support and production standards.

Veritext Legal Solutions is committed to maintaining
the confidentiality of client and witness information,
in accordance with the regulations promulgated under
the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability
Act (HIPAA), as amended with respect to protected
health information and the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, as
amended, with respect to Personally Identifiable
Information (PII). Physical transcripts and exhibits
are managed under strict facility and personnel access

controls. Electronic files of documents are stored




in encrypted form and are transmitted in an encrypted
fashion to authenticated parties who are permitted to
access the material. Our data is hosted in a Tier 4

SSAE 16 certified facility.

Veritext Legal Solutions complies with all federal and
State regulations with respect to the provision of
court reporting services, and maintains its neutrality
and independence regardless of relationship or the
financial outcome of any litigation. Veritext requires
adherence to the foregoing professional and ethical
standards from all of its subcontractors in their

independent contractor agreements.

Inquiries about Veritext Legal Solutions'
confidentiality and security policies and practices
should be directed to Veritext's Client Services
Assoclates indicated on the cover of this document or

at www.veritext.com.
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(1)
(a) The commission may conduct an investigation if the commission determines an investigation:
(i) is necessary to secure compliance with this title or with an order of the commission;
(ii) is in the public interest; or
(iii) should be made of any act or omission to act, or of anything accomplished or proposed, or
of any schedule, classification, rate, price, charge, fare, toll, rental, rule, regulation, service,
or facility of any public ufility.
(b) If the commission conducts an investigation under Subsection (1)(a), the commission may:
(i) establish a time and place for a hearing;
(i) provide notice to the public utility concerning the investigation; and
(iii) make findings and orders that are just and reasonable with respect to the investigation.
(2) This chapter does not apply to a schedule, classification, rate, price, charge, fare, toll, rental,
rule, service, facility, or contract of an entity described in Subsection 54-2-1(9)(b)(iii) or
(iv), (21), or (23)(i), or if the electricity is consumed by an eligible customer for the eligible
customer's own use or the use of the eligible customer's tenant or affiliate.

Amended by Chapter 314, 2022 General Session

54-4-4 Classification and fixing of rates after hearing.
(1)
(a) The commission shall take an action described in Subsection (1)(b), if the commission finds
after a hearing that:

(i) the rates, fares, tolls, rentals, charges, or classifications demanded, observed, charged,
or collected by any public utility for, or in connection with, any service, product, or
commodity, including the rates or fares for excursion or commutation tickets, or that the
rules, regulations, practices, or contracts affecting the rates, fares, tolls, rentals, charges, or
classifications are:

(A) unjust;

(B) unreasonable;

(C) discriminatory;

(D) preferential; or

(E) otherwise in violation of any provisions of law; or

(ii) the rates, fares, tolls, rentals, charges, or classifications described in Subsection (1)(a)(i) are
insufficient.

(b) If the commission makes a finding described in Subsection (1)(a), the commission shall:

(i) determine the just, reasonable, or sufficient rates, fares, tolls, rentals, charges,
classifications, rules, regulations, practices, or contracts to be thereafter observed and in
force; and

(i) fix the determination described in Subsection (1)(b)(i) by order as provided in this section.

(2) The commission may:
(a) investigate:

(i) one or more rates, fares, tolls, rentals, charges, classifications, rules, regulations, contracts,
or practices of any public utility; or

(if) one or more schedules of rates, fares, tolls, rentals, charges, classifications, rules,
regulations, contracts, or practices of any public utility; and

(b) establish, after hearing, new rates, fares, tolls, rentals, charges, classifications, rules,
regulations, contracts, practices, or schedules in lieu of them.

(3)

EXHIBIT
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(a) If in the commission's determination of just and reasonable rates the commission uses a
test period, the commission shall select a test period that, on the basis of evidence, the
commission finds best reflects the conditions that a public utility will encounter during the
period when the rates determined by the commission will be in effect.

(b) In establishing the test period determined in Subsection (3)(a), the commission may use:

(i) a future test period that is determined on the basis of projected data not exceeding 20

months from the date a proposed rate increase or decrease is filed with the commission
under Section 54-7-12;

(i) a test period that is:
(A) determined on the basis of historic data; and
(B) adjusted for known and measurable changes; or
(iii) a test period that is determined on the basis of a combination of:
(A) future projections; and
(B) historic data.

(c) If pursuant to this Subsection (3), the commission establishes a test period that is not
determined exclusively on the basis of future projections, in determining just and reasonable
rates the commission shall consider changes outside the test period that:

(i) occur during a time period that is close in time to the test period;

(i) are known in nature; and

(iii) are measurable in amount.

(4)

(a) If, in the commission's determination of just, reasonable, or sufficient rates, the commission
considers the prudence of an action taken by a public utility or an expense incurred by a
public utility, the commission shall apply the following standards in making its prudence
determination:

(i) ensure just and reasonable rates for the retail ratepayers of the public utility in this state;

(i) focus on the reasonableness of the expense resulting from the action of the public utility
judged as of the time the action was taken;

(iii) determine whether a reasonable utility, knowing what the utility knew or reasonably should
have known at the time of the action, would reasonably have incurred all or some portion of
the expense, in taking the same or some other prudent action; and

(iv) apply other factors determined by the commission to be relevant, consistent with the
standards specified in this section.

(b) The commission may find an expense fully or partially prudent, up to the level that a
reasonable utility would reasonably have incurred.

Amended by Chapter 11, 2005 General Session

54-4-4.1 Rules to govern rates.
(1) The commission may, by rule or order, adopt any method of rate regulation that is:
(a) consistent with this title;
(b) in the public interest; and
(c) just and reasonable.
(2) In accordance with Subsection (1), a method of rate regulation may include:
(a) rate designs utilizing:
(i) volumetric rate components;
(i) demand rate components;
(iii) fixed rate components; and
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